Pathogen Diversity and Biological Control of Verticillium Wilt of Tomato

Hazim Sabah Al-Hamadani

BSc (Agriculture - Plant Protection), University of Basra, Faculty of Agriculture, Iraq MSc (Plant Pathology - Biological Control), University of Basra, Faculty of Agriculture, Iraq

> School of Environmental and Rural Science, University of New England

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

2021

Declaration

I, Hazim Sabah Al-Hamadani, declare that the ideas, experimental work, results, analyses, and conclusion reported in this dissertation are entirely my own efforts, except where otherwise acknowledged. I also certify that the work is original and has not been previously submitted for any other award.



Signature of candidate

May 2021 Date

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to thank ALLAH for granting me health, strength to undertake this research task. Without him this research project would never have become a reality.

I would like to deeply thank my supervisor's Dr Oliver Knox and Paul Kristiansen for their guidance, suggestions, valuable advice, and continuous support during the doctoral study at University of New England, Armidale, NSW, Australia. Their vast knowledge of microbiology and plant pathology gave me the motivation to put all my effort on this research project.

I would like to thank the Higher Committee for Education Development in Iraq to grant me scholarship and financial support for undertaking PhD programs.

I would also like to acknowledge my friends and all technical and administrative team at the Agronomy and Soil Science Department especially Ms Roz Mortimer, they were extremely helpful with me.

Finally, many thanks to my parents and sibling whose love and guidance are with me in whatever I pursue. I wish to thank my loving and supportive wife, Nahidah and my wonderful children who provide unending inspiration.

Table of contents

Declaration	i
Acknowledgmentsi	i
Table of contentsii	i
Abstract	V
Chapter 1. Introduction	t
1.1 Overview of Verticillium wilt in tomatoes	l
1.2 Managing Verticillium wilt	l
1.3 Research questions	3
Chapter 2. Literature review	1
2.1 Tomato plant	1
2.2 Verticillium wilt	5
2.3 Management of Verticillium wilt)
Chapter 3. Isolation and identification of antagonistic fungi for biological control of tomate)
Verticillium wilt disease	5
3.1 Introduction	5
3.2 Materials and methods	7
3.3 Results	2
3.4 Discussion	2
Chapter 4. Effect of tomato root exudates on pathogen and antagonistic fungi4	7
4.1 Introduction	7
4.2 Materials and methods	3
4.3 Results	l
4.4 Discussion	5
Chapter 5. Trichoderma harzianum and Aspergillus sp. induced systemic resistance in tomate)
against V. dahliae DAR31890)
5.1 Introduction)
5.2 Materials and methods	l

5.3	Results
5.4	Discussion
Chapter	 Improvement of biocontrol of Verticillium wilt of tomato by addition of salicylic acid 70
6.1	Introduction
6.2	Materials and methods71
6.3	Results
6.4	Discussion
Chapter	7. General discussion
7.1	Key findings
7.2	Conclusion
7.3	Suggestions for future studies
Referen	ces

Abstract

Verticillium dahliae is an important soil-borne pathogen that attacks a wide range of hosts, resulting in economic crop losses worldwide. With mounting concerns over pesticide use within current consumer markets, there is a need to search for alternative control options. One such approach is the development of biocontrol agents. This was the purpose of this study, which explored the effect of biological control strategies for tomato Verticillium wilt caused by *V. dahliae* using antagonistic fungi, either alone or in combination with or without salicylic acid (SA).

Pathogenicity of four strains of *V. dahliae* included DAR 33757 from cotton, DAR 31890 from tomato, DAR 44537 from potato and DAR 81260 from olive, and these were assessed on the tomato Grosse Lisse cultivar. Among these strains, *V. dahliae* DAR31890 from tomato was significantly more virulent on tomato. Therefore, this strain was selected in all subsequent experiments.

Potential antagonistic fungi were isolated from cotton roots and soil that adhered to the roots (rhizosphere soil) and evaluated as potential biocontrol agents (BCAs) against *V. dahliae*. The greatest suppression of fungal activity towards the pathogen was recorded by isolates 2 and 7, which were isolated from rhizosphere soil and subsequently identified as *Trichoderma harzianum* and an *Aspergillus* sp.

In vitro, these antagonists inhibited microsclerotia (MS) germination and mycelial growth of *V*. *dahliae*, reduced disease severity and promoted tomato plant growth in the glasshouse experiments. Thus, these two fungi were chosen as BCAs for further experiments in the next experiments.

Hoagland nutrient solution plus tomato root exudates significantly stimulated MS germination compared to water agar only, and also increased the fungal weight of the pathogen and antagonistic fungi in liquid culture experiments. Of the root exudate compounds tested, amino acids, organic acids, and sugars significantly stimulated MS germination compared with the water agar treatments.

Dipping tomato seedling roots in spore suspensions of *T. harzianum* or *Aspergillus* sp. prior to inoculation of stems with *V. dahliae* significantly reduced disease severity and increased tomato growth parameters. The results also showed that soluble protein concentration was significantly increased in tomato leaves treated with BCAs.

SA at concentrations of 0.5, 1 and 2 mM *affected* mycelial growth of *V. dahliae*, *T. harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp. Tomato seed germination and seedling vigour were enhanced at 0.5 mM concentration of SA and significantly reduced at 2 mM concentration.

The combination of SA and BCAs enhanced activities of these fungi against *V. dahliae*. The combination of SA and BCAs significantly reduced disease severity and enhanced shoot dry weight of tomato plants more than using either antagonists or SA alone.

Overall, this study provides insight into the efficacy of *T. harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp. isolates for biological control of *V. dahliae*. Also, a combination of BCAs and SA can improve the consistency of biological control against plant pathogens more than using them individually.

Chapter 1. Introduction

1.1 Overview of Verticillium wilt in tomatoes

Tomato is a major vegetable crop widely consumed around the world. It is utilized in a diverse range of cuisines, whether enjoyed fresh or processed in sauces, pastes, soups, juices, concentrates, and other products (Bergougnoux 2014, Çolak et al. 2020). Tomatoes have considerable nutritional and health benefits for the body and are a good source of nutrients, vitamins, mineral, and antioxidants (Vélez-Terreros et al. 2021). Tomato plants are impacted by range of natural enemies including insects, mites, fungi, bacteria and viruses. Various pathogens infect tomatoes and cause serious diseases (Yuqing et al. 2018, Liu & Wang 2020, Prasad et al. 2020), including the *fungus Verticillium dahliae*, which causes Verticillium wilt. Verticillium wilt is one of the most important disease in tomatoes, causing wilt symptoms and potentially leading to the death of the entire plant during the advanced stages of infection (Kumar et al. 2018, Sheu et al. 2023).

Verticillium wilt has become a serious problem in many plant species in numerous countries around the world, being reported to affect over 400 plant species (Ziazia et al. 2021). Hosts include several economically important crops such as those in the Solanaceae (e.g. potato, tomato, eggplant), Cucurbitaceae (e.g. melons, cucumber), Brassicaceae (cabbage, Brussel sprouts), Rosaceae (e.g. strawberry), Asteraceae (e.g. sunflower) and Malvaceae (cotton) (Kong et al. 2022).

1.2 Managing Verticillium wilt

Several methods have been employed to mitigate the effect of Verticillium wilt, such as using resistant cultivars, fungicides, crop rotation, root exudates, biological control, and induced systemic resistance (Trapero et al. 2013, Benouzza et al. 2021, Ramírez-Gil & Morales-Osorio 2021, Zhao et al. 2023). Resistant cultivars are a favourable strategy for the control of plant pathogens, particularly Verticillium wilt, due to their efficiency, low cost (once developed) and limited environmental impact. integrating of resistant cultivars into a disease management approach is often the most promising strategy of controlling Verticillium wilt (Song et al. 2020, Devi et al. 2021, Valverde et al. 2023). The use of fungicides is challenging due to increasing concerns about health and environmental side effects. Additionally, the endophytic life cycle of the pathogen renders it largely inaccessible to fungicide applications (Wei et al. 2019). While crop rotations can be beneficial for some diseases, especially Verticillium wilt, they should be viewed as a preventative rather than a curative disease management option. This is because microsclerotia can survive in the soil for long periods, and the pathogen has a wide host range. Therefore, crop rotation is generally less effective compared to other

disease management methods (Wheeler et al. 2019). However, controlling Verticillium wilt in plants remains challenging using resistant cultivars, fungicides, and crop rotation due to the structure of microsclerotia and its long-term survival with host plants.

Root exudates are substances released into the soil by plant roots, including amino acids, sugars, organic acids, peptides, vitamins, enzymes, fungal stimulators, nucleotides, inhibitors and attractants and many miscellaneous compounds (Tan et al. 2013, Zhang et al. 2014, Vishwakarma et al. 2017a). These compounds serve as essential nutrients for soil organisms, including both pathogens and biological control agents. López-Moral et al. (2023) found that root exudates from olive plants significantly induced microsclerotia germination of *V. dahliae* compared to the control treatment (without exudates). Fernández et al. (2017) *discovered that media containing gluconic acid from tomato root exudates increased growth of Trichoderma asperellum strain T34*. Therefore, understanding the interactions between root exudates and biocontrol agents may help to identify improved control methods.

Biological control utilises living organisms such as fungi, bacteria and insects against plant pests (Fontana et al. 2021, Lahlali et al. 2022). These organisms have different mechanisms for affecting plant pathogens including competition, antagonism and mycoparasitism (Ghorbanpour et al. 2018, Köhl et al. 2019). Many studies have reported the use of biological control agents to inhibit *V. dahliae* either directly via mycoparasitism, or indirectly through competition for nutrients and space, or biochemical effects due to antibiotics promoting plant growth and stimulating plant defences. Results of Kong et al. (2022) showed that volatile organic compounds produced by *T. koningiopsis* T2 significantly inhibited mycelium growth of *V. dahliae* and reduced disease severity in cotton and tobacco. Results of Zhang et al. (2023) indicated that volatile compounds produced by *Bacillus* sp. T6 strain inhibited *V. dahliae* spore germination and mycelial growth. Azabou et al. (2020) demonstrated that *B. velezensis* OEE1 significantly decreased Verticillium wilt of olive *induced* by *V. dahliae*. Results of Li et al. (2014) showed that the non-volatile substances produced by *Penicillium simplicissimum* completely inhibited *V. dahliae* growth.

Trichoderma species are known to be excellent biological control agents against plant pathogens that cause significant losses to many economic crops. Studies indicated that a great number of fungal strains that used in biological control programs belong to the genus *Trichoderma* (Ghazanfar et al. 2018, Benouzza et al. 2021, Thakur 2021). This fungus has achieved remarkable success in reducing the infection of *V. dahliae* on different crops such as cotton (Kong et al. 2022), olive (Reghmit et al. 2021), tomato (Benouzza et al. 2021), and eggplant (Bilginturan & Karaca 2021).

In addition to these roles and functions that biological control agents are known to enact, they are also potentially involved in stimulating plant defence mechanisms. Induced resistance is one such plant defence reaction that either gives some plant varieties resistance to pathogens or *tolerance* to infection. This is because of chemical compounds that include proteins and phytoalexins that inhibit the growth of pathogens (Pagán & García-Arenal 2018, Ninkuu et al. 2022). These compounds increase within the plant due to the influence of biotic or abiotic agents, such as fungi, bacteria, on expression levels of salicylic acid and jasmonic acid (Deenamo et al. 2018, Stempien et al. 2020, Kaur et al. 2022).

Although, biological control is a promising alternative, it is not widely used in tomato production. Combining it with other non-conventional control methods may improve its effectiveness against Verticillium wilt in tomatoes. For example, induced resistance is a common mechanism of biocontrol (Romera et al. 2019), and resistance inducers like salicylic acid are effective against some diseases (Salwan et al. 2023).

1.3 Research questions

The objective of this study was to examine the research gaps related to the effects of biological control agents against Verticillium wilt in tomatoes, evaluate the relevant modes of action and to understand potential strategies for control. The aim was to answer the following research questions:

- 1. Do the isolated fungi have the ability to control *V. dahliae* and stimulate plant defences against Verticillium wilt in tomato?
- 2. Do root exudates affect the germination and growth of the pathogen *V. dahliae* and potential of fungal isolated (antagonist fungi)?
- 3. Does the combination of fungal isolates and salicylic acid improve the control of *V. dahliae* compared with individual treatments?

Chapter 2. Literature review

Scientists are looking for a new strategy for managing of tomato Verticillium wilt that is effective and not harmful to the environment or human health. Biological control is an alternative to chemical control, safer and ecologically acceptable in the management of plant diseases. Previous studies have demonstrated that interaction of biological control agents (BCA) with other chemical compounds has wide range of effectiveness against plant pathogen. However, there are no or few studies that speak of the role of chemical compounds in improving biological control in managing of tomato Verticillium wilt. This chapter will review previous work on Verticillium wilt, disease management, and the role of BCAs in controlling plant pathogens through various mechanisms such as inducing plant defence against pathogen attack.

2.1 Tomato plant

Tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum* L.) is one of the most important economic crops in the world and belongs to the Solanaceae family. It is believed that the original habitat of this crop is Central America, where it had great importance for the ancient Incas and Aztecs (Dorais et al. 2001). During the 16th century, tomato was introduced to Europe and later spread to the Mediterranean area. Breeding development has focused on four key areas: (1) high yielding varieties (2) resistant varieties (3) long shelf-life and (4) taste and nutritive quality (Alsamir 2019). Tomato is grown either in the field or under greenhouse conditions, and it is an essential source of phytochemicals and nutrients such as potassium, lycopene, iron, folate, and vitamin C (Bhowmik et al. 2012). Furthermore, tomato is produced for either fresh fruit or processed food industries while preserving its nutritional value (Bhatia et al. 2004, Heuvelink 2018). There are several health benefits for tomato and their products in a diet, this is attributed to their antioxidant content (Ali et al., 2020). According to Food and Agriculture Organization Statistics FAOSTAT (2021) The top three tomato-producing countries were China (67.5 Mt), India (21.1 Mt) and Turkey (13.1 Mt), and Asia was the largest tomato producing region (Figure 2.1).

Chapter 2. Literature review





It is known that different types of pathogens, including fungi, bacteria, viruses are capable of inducing disease in tomato plants. One of the major problems in tomato cultivation is Verticillium wilt disease caused by *V. dahliae* (Kleb.), that causes wilting disease in many important economic crops (Jabnoun-Khiareddine et al. 2009b).

2.2 Verticillium wilt

Verticillium wilt is an important vascular wilt disease that affects plants in many countries of the world (Zhou et al. 2013, Zhang et al. 2014, Xiu-hua et al. 2015). It is now known to infect many plant hosts including trees, shrubs, ornamentals, weeds, and other herbaceous plants. Also, it is a major factor in determining the production for many agricultural crops, including cabbage, chili pepper, cotton, eggplant, tomato, potato, and watermelon (Bhat & Subbarao 1999). This disease causes a significant loss in the quality and quantity of the crop. It sometimes leads to death of the entire plant or to severe damage before harvest date. In China, Verticillium wilt led to losses of 30% in cotton production between 1970 and 1980 (Bugbee & Sappenfield 1970). In 1961, about 580,000 bales of cotton were lost due to Verticillium wilt in the United States (Albers 2013). V. dahliae and V. albo*atrum* (in the broad sense) cause losses of billions of dollars annually to crops worldwide. The losses in potato yields rose to 50% measuring the natural situation 10 - 15%, while in lettuce crops, losses have reached 100% (Klosterman et al. 2009). Verticillium wilt of alfalfa is also very important, especially in North America, Europe, and Japan. In the United State and Canada Verticillium wilt causes losses in alfalfa yield of up to 60% (Calpas 1991). Many studies indicated that the members of the ascomycete genus Verticillium are the main cause of Verticillium wilts (Hanson 2000, Negahi 2013, Zhang et al. 2013, Inderbitzin & Subbarao 2014). The taxonomic history of Verticillium is long. In 1816, the first species of Verticillium was found and about 190 species have been described. The taxonomy of Verticillium has changed and nowadays we distinguish ten Verticillium species, V.

dahliae, V. albo-atrum, V. alfalfae, V. nonalfalfae, V. klebahnii, V. nubilum, V. tricorpus, and V. zaregamsianum V. isaacii. Five new Verticillium species are described as new species V. alfalfa, V. nonalfalfae, V. klebahnii, V. zaregamsianum and V. isaacii. In the new taxonomy, V. albo-atrum is split into three species: V. albo-atrum, V. alfalfae and V. non-alfalfae. Both V. dahliae and V. non-alfalfae (but not V. albo-atrum) are pathogenic on tomato (Inderbitzin et al. 2011, Inderbitzin & Subbarao 2014).

V. dahliae is a soil-borne pathogen that can lead to plant vascular disease and significant economic loss on over 400 plants species worldwide, including economically important crops (Song et al. 2020). The first isolation of V. dahliae was from dahlia plants and identified as a new species by Klebahn in 1913 (Vermeulen 2020). In tomato plants, isolates of V. dahliae were designated as race 1, and nonrace 1, using differential lines of tomato with and without the Ve gene responsible for resistance. However, the race 2 of V. dahliae broke the Ve resistance (Bubici & Cirulli 2008). In 2017, two tomato cultivars, Aibou and Ganbarune-Karis, were shown to be resistant to some non-race 1 strains of V. dahliae. Isolates of V. dahliae that were non-pathogenic for these cultivars were termed race 2, while isolates pathogenic to Aibou and Ganbarune-Karis cultivars were termed race 3 (Acharya et al. 2020). Bender and Shoemaker (1984) reported that in 1978, about 56% of 108 tomato fields in Western North Carolina affected by Verticillium wilt. The author also indicated that 89 of 96 V. dahliae isolates were race1, and 7 were race 2. According to Karagiannidis et al. (2002), V. dahliae reduced tomato fresh and dry weight (28 and 35%, respectively), and plant height by 14%. Results of (Ashworth Jr et al. 1979) demonstrated that increase of V. dahliae inoculum density caused increasing in tomato infection rate, and restriction of root growth. Plants infected by the fungus V. dahliae exhibited a reduction in the rate of photosynthesis, a smaller leaf area, and stomatal conductance (Buhtz et al. 2017). Bollig et al. (2013) found that leaf photosynthesis rates were impacted, and root length diminished in Verticillium-infected tomato plants. Tomato plants inoculated with V. dahliae showed vellowing at leaf margins, necrotic spots, followed by wilt and leaf drop (Mazzotta et al. 2022). V. dahliae is the most common species that causes damage to the tomato crop and will be the focus of this thesis.

2.2.1 Morphology of V. dahliae

In 1816, Nees von Esenbeckin erected the genus *Verticillium* based on morphological characters, and more than 190 species were described under the genus *Verticillium* (Zare et al. 2004). *Verticillium* belongs to the phylum Ascomycota and the sexual stage is unknown or yet to be discovered (Klosterman et al. 2009). Species of *Verticillium* can be differentiated morphologically by the types of resting structures they form. *V. albo-atrum*, *V. alfalfae* and *V. nonalfalfae* form resting mycelium.

V. dahliae form MS. *V. isaacii* form chlamydospore and microsclerotium. *V. klebahnii* form chlamydospore and MS. *V. longisporum* form microsclerotium. *V. nubilum* form chlamydospore (Inderbitzin et al. 2011). According to Yu et al. (2016) *Verticillium* isolates were divided into two groups depending on microsclerotial shape and conidial length. The first group is fit the description of *V. dahliae*, colony of *V. dahliae* originally *appears* white or a light cream colour, but eventually become black with the formation of MS (Figure 2.2). Mycelium is abundant fluffy and septate, multinucleate, hyaline, and branched. Conidia *are* cylindrical to oval hyaline, unicellular, and borne singly on whorl conidiophore, measuring < 6.0 µm in length. MS are spherical and compact, black or dark brown, and measuring 20 – 200 µm in diameter. Phialides are sharp at the apices, and the short branching is grouped in whorls. The second group fit the description of *V. longisporum*, colonies are whitish to grey. Mycelium is sparse aerial, hyaline, and cylindrical to ellipsoid, measuring < 6.5 µm in length. MS are elongate to irregularly spherical, measuring 30 – 250 µm in diameter.



Figure 2.2. Colony of *Verticillium dahliae* after 15-days on PDA (a), Conidia and phialides (40X) (b) and MS (40X) (c) (Leon-Ttacca et al. 2019).

2.2.2 Life cycle of V. dahliae

The life cycle of *V. dahliae* is usually similar in most plants. During the winter season, the fungus remains in plant debris and soil as MS (Chawla 2011). Soesanto and Termorshuizen (2001) indicated that MS could withstand the extreme temperatures, as *is* able to survive within a wide range of temperature from10 - 30 °C, although with low viability at 10 and 30 °C. MS can remain in the soil for up to 14 years, until MS are stimulated to germinate by the presence of root exudates (Klosterman et al. 2009, Aljawasim 2014). There are three major stages during the life cycle of Verticillium wilt fungi: infection, colonisation, and invasion.

During the infection stage, hyphae *begin* to grow toward the roots of plants because of the exudation of materials produced such as amino acids, organic acids and sugars that stimulate the germination of pathogenic fungi (Schroth & Hildebrand 1964). Following germination of MS, the hyphae begin to penetrate the plant through the ruptured epidermal root cells, root tips, lateral roots, or wounds.

After that, hyphae grow through the cortex of the plant intercellularly and intracellularly, eventually the fungus begins to produce conidia which colonise the xylem (Smith 1979, Hiemstra & Harris 1998, Albukhari 2015).

The second stage is colonisation; mycelium of the fungus begins to produce asexual conidia which remain within xylem tissue. Eventually, the fungus begins to attack the plant, and it secretes toxins and enzymes working on the decomposition of cellular walls of plant (Carder et al. 1987, Dobinson et al. 1997). The mycelia and conidia clog the vascular tissue, which prevents transport of nutrients to the vegetative part of the plant. Xylem tissues become congested with gums, gels and tyloses. These structures are produced in the plant as a response to the invading pathogens. At the end, inhibiting the transport of nutrients and water lead to closed stomata, yellowing and wilting of leaves, and plant death (El-Zik 1985).

Finally, the fungus begins to invade all plant tissues, and continues to infect other neighbouring plants through the formation of large numbers of fungal MS. By the end of the growing season or after the host dies, the fungus is able to survive as MS in the soil or on plant debris lasting for many years (Agrios 2005).

2.2.3 Symptoms

Wilt symptoms appear at different times. However, most shrubs and trees show wilt symptoms in summer. Symptoms in some of the Midwest areas of the USA may show in early March (spring) and in late November (autumn) (Smith 1979). Recognising external symptoms often is difficult because wilt symptoms are similar to those expressed by Fusarium wilt, early blight and bacterial canker so it is often confused with all these diseases. Verticillium affects the plant uniformly and wilt symptoms do not appear just on one side. Yellowish blotches and brown veins may appear on the lower leaves, and finally brown dead spots. The brown spots are light brown and not dark brown to blackish that caused by early blight (Horticulture Diagnostic Laboratory 2018). Wilt symptoms usually appear in a V- shape on lower leaves or leaflets with yellowing at leaf margins in a fan-shape. As symptoms progress, some brown necrotic spots appear on infected plants leaves and leaf veins become brown (McAvoy 2018). Verticillium wilt also has effects on growth traits in plants such as lateral branching, plant length, and concentration of substances in roots, stems, leaves (Xiao & Subbarao 2000). Crosssection of the stem in a Verticillium-infected plant shows a discoloration, which occurs due to increase in the rate of some toxic compounds such as melanin in the xylem vessel cell walls and vascular tissues which prevent water from reaching leaves and plant branches (Yadeta & Thomma 2013). While Fusarium attacks plant of all ages causing wilting and dying of lower leaves with loss of green colour in the leaf midrib, often on one side of the plant, and the plant often dies before reaching fruiting stage. When the lower portion of the stem is cut lengthwise, uniform brown discoloration appears in the woody tissue (Chitwood-Brown et al., 2021).

2.3 Management of Verticillium wilt

2.3.1 Chemical control

Chemical compounds such as pesticides are very important for control of plant pathogens through speed and direct impact (Miyake et al. 2005, Bruck 2009, Hirooka & Ishii 2013). On the other hand, their potential harmful influence on the environment and human health and misuse of agrochemicals led to a decline in use and the prohibition of many pesticides in agriculture (Rowe & Powelson 2002, Pal & Gardener 2006, Goicoechea 2009). Also, some chemicals are very expensive (Compant et al. 2005). For example, chloropicrin, methyl bromide and ethylene bromide have a high impact on *V. dahliae* population in the soil, but those chemicals were costly and can only be justified for control in high-value crops (Mapope 2005). In addition, methyl bromide and similar fumigants are no longer used because of their effects on the ozone layer (Taylor 1994). According to Sonmez et al. (2006) increase of using fungicides that have copper (Cu) caused decreased tomato yields, fruit number and dry weight of the root system. Although some fungicides like trifloxystrobin, azoxystrobin and prochloraz have a significant effect on Verticillium wilt, there are no recommended specific fungicides for Verticillium wilt on any crop (Kurt et al. 2003, Bubici et al. 2006). The overall challenges of managing soil borne disease has led to the need for integrated approaches that do not use chemical application, like biocontrol or systemic resistance for disease management.

2.3.2 Resistant cultivars

The use of resistant plants to control plant disease is a form of biological control. Over the last decades, selection methods were used to obtain resistant plants rather than breeding methods. *When* the disease occurs, the resistant plants survive until the end of season and produce seeds for planting in the following seasons. Plant breeding in order to obtain disease-resistant plants gave a scientific basis for subsequent studies. In the early 1900s, Rowland H. Biffin from Cambridge University in England showed that resistance in some wheat cultivars to rust diseases was inherited according to Mendel 's laws, which is controlled by Mendelian genes. These are sometimes known as resistance genes (*R* genes) or major genes because of *their* major role in plant resistance. After this finding, many breeding programs worked to incorporate resistance genes into many important economic crops (Keane & Brown 1997). It is possible to *explore* resistance-related genes from various perspectives such as the cell wall, transcription factors, pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), enzymes, and salicylic acid (SA), jasmonic acid (JA), and ethylene (ET) (Song et al. 2020).

Several plant diseases resistance (*R*) genes have been cloned and assigned to classes based on structural features. For example, *PRS2* and *RPM1* resistance genes of *Arabidopsis thaliana* against *Pseudomonas syringae* (Bent et al. 1994). *N* gene from tobacco against tobacco mosaic virus (Whitham et al. 1996). *L6* gene from flax against *Melamspora lini* (Lawrence et al. 2007). *RPP5* gene from *Arabidopsis* against *Peronospora parasitica* (Parker et al. 1993). *Xa21* gene from rice against *Xanthomonas* (Peng et al. 2008). In tomatoes, *Pto* genes *change by confer* resistance to *Pseudomonas syringae* (Thilmony et al. 1995). *LRR* gene against *Cladosporium fulvum on tomato* (Jones et al. 1994). The *Ve1* gene conferring resistance to race 1 isolates of *V. dahliae* and *V. albo-atrum* (Acharya et al. 2020).

Tomato *Ve* encodes surface receptors that called receptor-like protein (RLPs) class, which typically *consists* of an extracellular leucine-rich repeat domain. The RLPs class encompasses proteins that play an important role in disease resistance, such as *Ve1* and *Ve2* genes *confer* resistance against *V. dahliae* and *V. albo-atrum*. Cf resistance proteins that confer resistance against the leaf mould pathogen *C. fulvum* (Kruijt et al. 2005).

There have been many papers on testing of resistance of tomato varieties to *V. dahliae* (Acharya et al. 2020, Song et al. 2020, Chavarro-Carrero et al. 2021, Udriște et al. 2022). According to Fradin et al. (2009), *Ve1* provides resistance in tomato plants against race 1 of *V. dahliae* and *V. albo-atrum*. Usami et al. (2017) reported that although some tomato cultivars containing the *V2* locus such as Aibou and Ganbarune-Karis were resistant to *V. dahliae* race 2, some other isolates of *V. dahliae* race 2 can overcome this resistance and these are referred to as race 3. This type of breakdown of resistance is likely to be a continuing problem with the use of single gene resistance. The *Ve1* gene codes for a cell surface-like receptor which gives resistance to race 1 isolates of *V. dahliae* by recognising the Ave1 effector of the pathogen and that this resistance can be overcome by non-race 1 strains of *V. dahliae* (Acharya et al. 2020).

Although there are ongoing research projects into *Verticillium* resistance, the development of new tomato varieties and the current varieties do not provide a substantial increase in resistance. Also, some tomato varieties were resistant to *V. dahliae*. However, other isolates of *V. dahliae* overcame this resistance. This type of breakdown in the resistance leads to continuation of the problem.

2.3.3 Biological control

Biological control means using living organisms such as fungi, bacteria, and insects against plant pests and diseases (Prajapati et al. 2020). These natural enemies achieved great successes in this area and have created a kind of natural balance (Hajieghrari et al. 2010). It is believed that the first reference in the scientific literature to the term biological control dates to the article published by the

German plant pathologist Carl von Tubeuf in 1914 entitled "Biologische Bekampfung von Pilzkrankheiten der Pflanzen". Since then, many biocontrol products have been found to be effective against plant diseases (Prajapati et al. 2020). The terms "biological control" or its synonym name "biocontrol" have been used in different fields of biology such as entomology and plant pathology. In the entomology field, the term biological control or biocontrol refers to the use of predatory insects, microbial pathogens and entomopathogenic nematodes to suppress the different populations of insects. As for plant pathology, it refers to suppressing the diseases by microbial antagonists in addition to control of weed populations by use of host-specific pathogens (Pal & Gardener 2006).

A biological control agent is an organism, such as an animal (e.g., beneficial nematodes), insect (e.g., arthropod predators), microorganisms (e.g., bacteria, fungi, and viruses) (Van Lenteren et al. 2020) that is used to control a pest species including plant pathogens.

Beneficial bacteria such as *Pseudomonas* and *Bacillus* use a large variety of mechanisms to protect plants from pathogens. According to Manikandan et al. (2010) the combination of seed treatment, seedling dip and soil drenching of *P. fluorescens* liquid formulation recorded the minimum disease incidence of Fusarium wilt on tomato, and increased fruit yield compared to untreated control under glasshouse and field conditions. Previous studies conducted by Mavrodi et al. (2012) revealed that *Pseudomonas* strains significantly reduced disease symptoms of both *Rhizoctonia solani* AG-8 and *Pythium ultimum* on wheat crop. Zhang et al. (2020) found that volatile organic compounds (VOCs) from *Bacillus* significantly reduced the colony size and mycelial penetration of *Aspergillus solani in vitro*, and inhibited the conidia germination, and the lesion areas, *in vivo*. Results of Khedher et al. (2015) showed that *B. subtilis* V26 significantly inhibited *R. solani* growth in vitro, and suppressed of potato root canker and black scurf tuber colonisation compared to control treatments under greenhouse conditions.

Fungal biological control agents play a significant role in controlling plant diseases throughout the world. According to Hassine et al. (2022), *culture* filtrates of *Penicillium* sp. and *Gliocladium* spp. significantly reduced mycelial growth and spore germination of *Colletotrichum coccodes* that causes anthracnose disease on tomato. Results of Ehrlich (1987) revealed that co-inoculation of non-aflatoxigenic strains of *A. parasiticus* with aflatoxigenic strains substantially reduced the production of aflatoxins in corn under in vitro conditions. A study conducted by Abbas et al. (2011) demonstrated that soil inoculation of non-aflatoxigenic strain of *A. flavus* with aflatoxigenic strain mixture significantly reduced aflatoxins contamination in corn.

Trichoderma species are widely used in agriculture to control various plant diseases affecting crops. Integrated use of both *T. harzianum* and Carbendazim significantly reduced wilt incidence in eggplant caused by *F. oxysporum* f. sp. *melongenae* (Jamil & Kumar 2022). Six *Trichoderma* isolates strongly inhibited mycelial growth of *Alternaria solani* in dual culture tests, and reduced early blight symptoms in greenhouse conditions (Metz & Hausladen 2022). Nofal et al. (2021) demonstrated that *T. atrovirde* had a significant inhibition against *F. oxysporum* and improved tomato growth, as well as the increase in phenol content in the plants. Similarly, the dual culture technique showed that *T. asperelloides* Ta41 had a high antagonistic activity against *R. solani* Rs33, and lowest disease index under greenhouse conditions (Heflish et al. 2021).

Biological control is usually environmentally safe and has been considered a viable alternative method to manage plant disease (Heydari & Pessarakli 2010). Because the conventional methods are not enough for controlling Verticillium wilt, there is great potential for BCAs to manage this disease (Deketelaere et al. 2017). BCAs can protect plants against Verticillium wilt through different mechanisms include mycoparasitism, antibiosis, competition for nutrients and infection sites, plant growth promotion, and induced resistance (Deketelaere et al. 2017, Prajapati et al. 2020). The modes of action for the different antagonists against Verticillium wilt are shown in Table 2.1.

Genus antagonist	Reduced germination of inoculum	Plant growth promotion	Competition for infection sites/space/nutrients	Induced resistance	Antibiosis in vitro	Mycoparasitism in vitro
BACTERIA			•			
Bacillus	X (iturins)	х	Х	X (iturins)	Х	Х
Paenibacillus	Х	х		х	х	х
Streptomyces	х	х	Х	х	х	х
	(prodiginines)					
Pseudomonas		х	Х	х	Х	х
Serratia	Х	х				Х
FUNGI						
Pythium	х	х				Х
Fusarium	X (VOCs) ¹	х	Х	X (DAMP	х	Х
				release) ²		
Trichoderma	х	х			х	х
Verticillium		х	Х	X (DAMP		
				release)		
Talaromyces	х				х	х
Penicillium		х		X (DAMP	х	Х
				release)		
Muscodor	X (VOCs)					
Gliocladium	х	х			х	Х
Mycorrhizae		х		х		

Table 2.1. Mode of action of selected biological agent	s against Verticillium wilt. 1VOCs: volatile compounds.
2DAMP: damage associated molecular pattern. Source	e (Deketelaere et al. 2017).

Mycoparasitism

Mycoparasitism is the ability of fungal antagonistic agents to parasitise other fungi for utilising them as food. Mycoparasitism has been widely used for the biological control of plant pathogens.

Mycoparasitism depends upon the following events: Direct growth of the antagonists toward the hosts usually occurred by a chemical gradient of sugars and/ or amino acids, mutual recognition between antagonist and pathogen, lytic enzyme secretion by antagonist, antagonistic hyphae attack and coil around the host hyphae, penetration, and growth of antagonist into the host (Steyaert et al. 2003, Alizadeh et al. 2020). Various chemical compounds and enzymes can be included in these processes such as lectins, during the direct contact and recognition and cell wall-degrading enzymes, such as chitinases, proteinases, β -1,3-glucanases, and lipases, during the penetration process (Alizadeh et al. 2020). After recognition of the pathogen by antagonist, hyphae of the antagonist coils around the pathogen's hyphae and penetrate the pathogen cell and break down chitin by glucanase and chitinase. Subsequently, antagonistic hyphae release antibiotic compounds which penetrate the affected pathogen's hyphae and resynthesise the cell wall of the host inhibited by these compounds (Ghorbanpour et al. 2018). Results of Pachenari and Dix (1980) indicated that the disintegration of hyphal walls of Botrytis allii during parasitic Gliocladium roseum attack was probably due to increase β-1,3-glucanase activity. Results of Li et al. (2020b) showed that the endophytic fungus Albifimbaria verrucaria from wild grape significantly inhibited growth of Botrytis cinerea in dual culture assay and has the ability to produce chitinase.

Trichoderma spp. are widely used as biofertilisers and BCAs for plant disease. Mycoparasitism is one of the most important *Trichoderma* mechanisms to suppression plant diseases and reducing the pathogen inocula (Mukherjee et al. 2022). Microscopic observations of Benouzza et al. (2021) showed that hyphae of *T. harzianum* formed a hook or bunch around the hyphae of *V. dahliae* from where penetration took place. The author also noted that *T. atroviride* (T2) coiled around the pathogen and formed appressorium-like structures suggesting mechanical activity before penetration in the host. Results of Reghmit et al. (2021) showed that hyphae of *T. interviride* (T2) showed that hyphae of *V. dahliae* were observed coiled around mycelium of *V. dahliae* by direct confrontation, and the majority of these isolates were able to produce extracellular enzymes such as chitinases, proteases, and cellulases that demonstrated an effective potential in reducing mycelium growth of *V. dahliae in vitro*. Mycoparasitism of *Verticillium* by *Trichoderma* has been shown *in vitro*, but it is unclear how important this is *in vivo*.

Antibiosis

Antibiotics are microbial toxins or a secreted secondary metabolites with low molecular weight that is deleterious to other microorganisms at low concentrations, *are* found more in bacteria such as *Bacillus* spp. and *Pseudomonas* spp. than yeasts and fungi (Di Francesco et al. 2016, Alizadeh et al. 2020). In general, antibiosis is considered a biological process by which antagonists produce either antibiotics or another inhibitory secondary metabolite, such as one of a suite of volatiles. In both

cases, the result is inhibition of another member of the soil or plant microbial community (Gajera et al. 2013). In bacteria, particularly Bacillus and Pseudomonas numerous antibiotic metabolites, such as iturin, surfactin and fengycin, diacetylphloroglucinol (DAPG), pyrrolnitrin and phenazine, have been researched. In Fungi, particularly Trichoderma spp. are able to produce numerous antibiotic metabolites, such as hydrogen cyanide, ethylene, ketones, alcohols, and aldehydes (Tariq et al. 2020). The results of Fotoohiyan et al. (2017) suggested that metabolites produced by T. harzianum isolates were toxic and fungistatic against V. dahliae that causes Verticillium wilt on pistachio. El-Rafai et al. (2003) indicated that culture filtrate of T. harzianum, T. hamatum, P. fluorescens and B. subtilis isolates significantly decreased spore germination and germ tube length of V. dahliae. According to Zargar et al. (2019) two isolates of Penicillium hordei and P. polonicum were able to reduce the growth of Colletotrichum nymphaeae due to certain volatile and non-volatile compounds produced by these isolates. In another study, biocontrol potential of F. oxysporum and other isolated fungi in vitro was assessed against V. dahliae through activities of fungal cell wall degrading enzymes including chitinase, cellulase, and protease (Zheng et al. 2011). Kim et al. (1988) demonstrated that glucose oxidase extracted from culture filtrate of *Talaromyces flavus* reduced the radial growth of V. dahliae and MS germination Marois et al. (1984) observed that applying T. flavus to soil planted to cotton, tomato or eggplant caused increase in T. flavus populations and inhibited germination of MS of V. dahliae. In the same context, glucose oxidase secreted by T. flavus had played a major role in inhibition of V. dahliae hyphae and MS (Stosz et al. 1996, Murray et al. 1997). Naraghi et al. (2008) found that non-volatile extracts of T. flavus caused a significant inhibition in growth of V. dahliae. Antibiosis against Verticillium species has been demonstrated for several antagonists and is a common screening tool for selecting biocontrol agents using dual culture or the effect of culture filtrates on germination and growth.

Competition for nutrients and infection sites

Competition can be defined as microorganisms' challenge for available resources. For *Verticillium*, this could be particularly important, where a resource is in limited supply, competition for resources such as nitrogen, carbon, potassium, or iron, and/or infection sites in the soil and in/on the roots may be an efficient mode of action in controlling the disease (Deketelaere et al. 2017, Alshimaysawe 2018). It is expected that biocontrol agents compete for nutrients and infection sites in the rhizosphere and cortex, while some non-pathogenic strains of fungi such as *Verticillium* and *Fusarium* can also colonise the xylem and occupy the same niche as pathogenic *Verticillium* (Deketelaere et al. 2017). *Results of* Pantelides et al. (2009) showed that the competition for nutrients or space on the root surface in eggplant are the main mechanism of action of Fusarium oxysporum against V. dahliae. A commonly cited example of competition between BCAs and Verticillium is that for iron (Deketelaere

et al., 2017). Mulero-Aparicio et al. (2019) showed that non-pathogenic *F. oxysporum* strain FO12 is an efficient root coloniser, which could compete with *V. dahliae* in the same ecological niche on oil seed rape (*Brassica napus* L.). *Results of* Miranda-Fuentes et al. (2020) showed that the protection conferred by *B. bassiana and M. brunneum against verticillium wilt is probably the consequence of their competition with V. dahliae in the soil.* Another study included the role of *T. asperellum* T34 to control Fusarium wilt by competition for iron, Segarra et al. (2010) reported that adding iron Fe in the nutrient solution in different concentrations 1, 10, 100, and 1000 μ M provided as EDTA/Fe (III), significantly reduced *Fusarium*-infected shoot by *T. asperellum* T34 at 10 μ M Fe and improved plant growth promotion. Results of Gao et al. (2007) indicated that the inhibitory effects of *T. harzianum* isolate TH-1 against the pathogens of Verticillium wilt and Fusarium wilt of cotton were produced most by nutrition, space competition, and mycoparasitism. Most evidence for the role of competition has been gained for other pathogens, but it is likely to be a common component of antagonism of Verticillium wilt.

Plant growth promotion

Microorganisms in the rhizosphere play a pivotal role in promoting plant growth and protecting plants from pathogen attack by a range of mechanisms. These involve stimulation of root growth, enhancing nutrient uptake, biofertilisation, rhizoremediation, control of abiotic stress, and disease control (Mendes et al. 2013). Many saprophytic fungi, particularly isolates of *Trichoderma* species can not only protect developing roots from microbial attack in soil, but also produce a plant growth-stimulating factor (Baker 1989).

Altomare et al. (1999) found that biocontrol fungus *T. harzianum* Rifai 1295-22 was able to solubilise micronutrients and phosphate that were made available to provide plant growth. (Stewart & Hill 2014) Results of Bader et al. (2020) suggested that *Trichoderma* strains stimulated tomato plant growth through the production of phytohormones, which promoted increased leaf area, photosynthesis and uptake of phosphorus. Azarmi et al. (2011) found that three *Trichoderma* isolates including *T. harzianum* T969, *T. harzianum* T447, and *Trichoderma* sp. isolate T increased chlorophyll content, leaf area and number in tomato seedlings. According to Li et al. (2018) *T. asperellum* strain CHF78 significantly increased tomato dry weight and plant height when inoculated with or without *F. oxysporum* f.sp. *lycopersici* (FOL) compared to pathogen treatment only. The author also indicated that pre-inoculation with *T. asperellum* strain CHF78 significantly promoted nutrient uptake of K, Mg, P, and Zn as a result of reducing disease severity of Fusarium wilt. Jabnoun-Khiareddine et al. (2009b) found that fresh weights of tomato root and stem after 90 days of culture were increased more than 50% in plants treated with *Trichoderma* spp. in comparison to the untreated control. Growth

promotion of tomato by applied microbes could therefore be an important part of the improvement in plant health, due to antagonists stimulating positive responses in the associated plant.

Induced systemic resistance

Induced resistance is an enhanced level of protection in plants triggered by biological or chemical inducers against a broad range of pathogens and insect herbivores. Systemic acquired resistance (SAR) and induced systemic resistance (ISR) are two forms of induced resistance (Pieterse et al. 2014). SAR is triggered by local pathogen attack interacting with leaves, depend on two parallel pathways, one on SA, the other dependent on pipecolic acid (Pip) or N-hydroxy-pipecolic acid (Figure 2.3) (Vlot et al. 2021). The SA is the first chemical signal inducing the production of pathogenesis-related (PR) proteins. For example, PR genes code for β -1, 3-glucanases and chitinases plays an important role in preventing or reducing pathogen colonisation (Verma et al. 2019).



Figure 2.3. Reciprocal interactions between systemic immunity and the plant microbiome. (a) Pathogens on leaves can induce systemic acquired resistance (SAR). (b) Commensal microbes on leaves have been shown to trigger immunity. (c) Plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) can elicit induced systemic resistance (ISR). (d) Certain pathogenic bacteria on leaves can induce the release of compounds from plant roots into

the rhizosphere. (e) Some of these compounds selectively attract ISR-inducing microbes, which can protect successive plant generations growing on the same soil from disease. Source (Vlot et al. 2021).

Many studies have indicated that SA plays an important role in plant defence response against attack of pathogens (Ryals et al. 1996, Zhang et al. 2002, Yu et al. 2022, Kim & Lim 2023). Results of Briache et al. (2023) showed that seed pretreatment or foliar spray by SA at 1 mM and *indole acetic* acid (IAA) at 0.09 mM concentration gave the best control of Orobanche crenata parasitism on lentil. According to Feng et al. (2022) total phenolics content increased following foliar application of 0.5 mM SA and produced strong chemical defence responses in maize. Results of Mufti et al. (2023) revealed that SA in combination with PGPR play an important role in controlling Fusarium wilt by ISR in chickpea. Results of Saengchan et al. (2022) showed that SA at 500 μ l. L⁻¹ concentration significantly induced H₂O₂, peroxidase, polyphenol oxidase, and catalase activities in cassava plant. On first encounter, plants can recognise microbial-associated molecular patterns or pathogenassociated molecular patterns (PAMPs), such as bacterial flagellin and fungal chitin through PRRs localised on the plant cell surface. This leads to PAMP-triggered immunity (PTI). It is a form of basal resistance restricting growth of pathogen. However, pathogens have evolved to bypass this first line of defence. Therefore, plants acquired a second line of defence called effector-triggered immunity (ETI) through death of the infected and surrounding tissue fully restricting spread of the pathogen (Yu et al. 2022). Whereas ISR can be triggered by beneficial soil-borne microbes including plant growth-promoting fungi (PGPF), and plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR), interacting with roots. and is often regulated by the hormones JA and ET (Pieterse et al. 2014).

The rhizosphere supports the activity and development of microbial community, including microorganisms capable to promote plant growth. Among the latter, PGPR and PGPF colonise roots and enhance plant growth by direct and indirect mechanisms. The *interaction of plant* with phytopathogens leads to activation plant defence mechanisms such as SAR and ISR pathways (Vacheron et al. 2013).

Many bacterial and fungal species that serve as BCAs by eliciting ISR include *Pseudomonas* spp., *Bacillus* spp., *Trichoderma* spp., *Penicillium* spp., non-pathogenic *Fusarium* and symbiotic arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (Kloepper et al. 2004, Murthy et al. 2014, Fotoohiyan et al. 2015, Zehra et al. 2017b). The antagonist activity of these microbial species has been investigated and available as registered plant protection products for many economic crops such as tomato, potato, cotton, rice, sunflower, etc. (Zehra et al. 2021). BCAs can stimulate defence responses of plants through different pathways include the following mechanisms.

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are key signalling molecules *that* play a crucial role control of various processes that enable the plant cells to rapidly respond to biotic and abiotic stimuli, thus contributing

to the establishment of defence mechanisms (Mittler et al. 2022). Plants under biotic or abiotic stress can produce many of ROS, including hydroxyl radical (OH), superoxide anion (O^{2-}), hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2), etc. However, plant cell tissues are also exposed to damage because of the accumulation of ROS. Therefore, it is necessary to do an efficient scavenging of ROS by enzymatic and nonenzymatic reactions. In plants, mechanisms of enzymatic ROS scavenging dependent on peroxidase (POX), superoxide dismutase (SOD), polyphenol oxidase (PPO), glutathione peroxidase (GPX), catalase (CAT), and ascorbate peroxidase (APX), which are reducing superoxide to H_2O (Yu et al. 2022).

Bacillus cereus AR156 induced systemic resistance in *Arabidopsis thaliana* to *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. tomato DC3000 (*Pst* DC3000) through the accumulation of callose and hydrogen peroxide and activation of SOD and POD enzymes by SA and MAPK signalling pathways (Jiang et al. 2016). The application of *Trichoderma* sp. plus plant growth regulator BR enhanced resistance to tomato grey mould caused by *B. cinerea*, through increase of peroxidase, superoxide dismutase, phenylalanine ammonia-lyase, and catalase (Li et al. 2020a). The accumulation of ROS, like H₂O₂, in tomato seedlings treated with *T. harzianum* was correlated with Fe-SOD gene (Elkelish et al. 2020). In another study, the protective activities of *T. harzianum* strain23 against tobacco mosaic virus (TMV) were associated with a significant increase in SOR scavenging enzymes PPO, CAT, and SOD, whereas nonenzymatic oxidative stress markers H₂O₂ and MDA were decreased compared to the control treatments (Abdelkhalek et al. 2022). *Aspergillus niger* boosted heat stress tolerance in sunflower through increase of the ROS-scavenging activities, like AAO, CAT, GR, SOD, and POD (Ismail et al. 2020).

Callose is a β -(1,3)-D-glucan polysaccharide that plays an important role in plant defence, normal growth, and development. At the site of pathogen attack, Callose is transiently deposited between the pre-existing cell wall and plasma membrane to slow pathogen spread (Wang et al. 2021b). Accumulation of callose, active oxygen, and phenylalanine lyase increased in the leaves of tobacco plants transgenic VvVe more than wild types under *V. dahliae* infection (Tang et al. 2016). *T. harzianum* triggered plant systemic defence responses by increasing of callose deposition in grapevine plants that were inoculated with *Plasmopara viticola* that causes downy mildew (Kamble et al. 2021). Beckman et al. (1982) found that Callose deposition was increased in paravascular parenchyma cells of tomato resistant cultivars than in the susceptible cultivars that were inoculated with *F. oxysporum*. Results of Hindumathy et al. (2006) showed that the elicitors derived from the cell wall of the fungus *A. niger* stimulated plant defence in pearl millet against downy mildew pathogen *Sclerospora graminicola* (Sacc.) through localised deposition of callose and lignin in the cell wall of pearl millet.

The calcium Ca^{2+} ion plays a significant role in cell development and plant immunity as well as its role of a second signal transportation for many cellular processes and diverse physiological changes. The application of *the* beneficial root-colonising fungus *Mortierella hyalina has* enhanced the aerial growth of *Arabidopsis* and activates of Ca^{2+} to resist and restrict *Alternaria brassicae* development in roots (Johnson et al. 2019). The calcium Ca^{2+} increased in *Arabidopsis* in response to bacterial flg22, NaCl, and Pep1 treatments (Cao et al. 2017). Inoculation of tomato leaf tissue with the fungus *C. fulvum* increased activation of tomato plasma membrane Ca^{2+} permeable channels and induce plant resistance that would limit or prevent cell death (Gelli et al. 1997). The elicitor EFOL-2 from the fungus *F. oxysporum* f. sp. *lycopersici* increased Ca^{2+} concentration in tomato cell and *did not* cause cell death in resistant tomato cells (Dey et al. 2010). Some studies have indicated that a *exists* between callose and Ca^{2+} (Him et al. 2001, Shikanai et al. 2022). The results of Shikanai et al. (2020) showed that the expression of genes related to cell wall and defence responses was altered, and callose concentration increased significantly in wild-type plants under low-Ca conditions, which indicated that callose is necessary to reduced cell wall damage and defence responses caused by low Ca levels.

Transcription factors are one of the major constituents of plant signalling pathways that determine the plant's response against biotic and abiotic stimuli besides their contribution to various plant processes, such as embryogenesis, nutrient deprivation, and hormone-regulated processes. Transcription factors also play a significant role in the regulation of genes associated to plant and microbe response (Sáenz-Mata et al. 2014). WRKY are proteins that regulate many processes in plants and microbe. The WRKY are denoted by 60 amino acids composed of a conserved WRKYGQK, and zinc finger-region (Rushton et al. 2010). Several transcriptional factors were involved in ISR network through SA, JA, and ET signalling *pathways* (Yu et al. 2022). According to Jiang et al. (2016) transcription factors WRKY11 and WRKY70 were involved in the regulation of rhizobacterium *B. cereus* AR156-induced systemic resistance in *Arabidopsis*, through activating the JA and SA signalling pathways. *Trichoderma* root colonisation triggered enhancement in the expression of WRKY18 and WRKY40, which activate JA-pathway responses in *Arabidopsis* (Brotman et al. 2013).

The induction of plant defence genes begins when specific receptors recognise the presence of biotic and abiotic stress. A complex regulatory network is formed as a results of the interactions that occur between genes and their products (Yu et al. 2022). The combined application of *T. harzianum* along with SA and methyl jasmonate (MeJA) increased of defence-related proteins and phenolics in tomato plants against Fusarium wilt disease (Zehra et al. 2017a). The expression of genes related to sulphur uptake and assimilation are increased in *V. dahliae* infected tomatoes during companion cropping with potato onions (*Allium cepa var. aggregatum*) (Fu et al. 2016). Results of Deng-wei et al. (2014) revealed that *StoNPR1*, a *Solanum torvum NPR1* gene increased the resistance of the transgenic potato

lines to *V. dahliae* infection, which was previously expressed in *V. dahliae*-sensitive potato. In cotton plants, *GhMLP28* gene was induced by *V. dahliae* inoculation and was responsive to defence signalling molecules, including JA, SA, and ET (Yang et al. 2015). Inoculation of *T. harzianum* TM increased the concentration of phenols, flavonoids, and lignin in tomato leave, and caused biphasic peaks as an expression of defence-related genes and secondary metabolism (Geng et al. 2022).

Secondary metabolites are compounds that play a variety of roles in the interaction of plant with its environment. Secondary metabolites are present in high concentrations in the skin of fruits and plant leaves and are involved in plants defences against biotic and/or abiotic stresses such as disease resistance, UV resistance, and pigmentation (Pusztahelyi et al. 2015, Yu et al. 2022). Antimicrobials compounds such as zealaxin A2, thymol, resveratrol, carvacrol, caulilexin C, and wyerone acid are also secondary metabolites that restrict the growth of pathogens in the apoplast (Pusztahelyi et al. 2015). High levels of zealexins were accumulated in maize stems in response to *F. graminearum* infection. Zealexin accumulation increased expression of the genes encoding *Tps6* and *Tps11*, which were among the most highly up-regulated genes (Huffaker et al. 2011).

Stomata are specialised structures surrounded by pairs of guard cells. A stoma is essential for plant survival and productivity, and *it plays* an important role in transpiration, respiration, mainly O₂ and CO₂ gas exchange, which is necessary for optimal photosynthesis. To restrict microbial invasion, there are so-called microbe-associated molecular patterns (MAMPs) such as flagellin for bacteria and chitin oligosaccharides (CTOSs) for fungi that are conserved in the whole class of microbes. Recognition of these patterns by the plant leads to stomatal defence or stomatal immunity, this reaction is a part of a plant immune response to restrict microbe's invasion (Ye et al. 2020). *T. harzianum* TM alleviated stomatal closure in tomato plants and enhanced the rate of photosynthesis and the activity of fructose 1,6-bisphosphatase (FBPase) and ribulose-1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase-oxygenase (RuBisCO) compared with only *B. cinerea* inoculation (Geng et al. 2022). Application of mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) with compost *has* significantly improved stomatal conductance, chlorophyll fluorescence, CO₂ uptake, photosynthetic activity, and the resistance of xylem vessels of tomato plants to colonisation by *V. dahliae* in soil (Ait Rahou et al. 2021).

2.3.4 Field application of biological control agents

Field application of BCAs could prevent the development of Verticillium wilt, when applied as presowing treatments. These treatments can also increase plant growth parameters. Deketelaere et al. (2020) found that dripping cauliflower seeds with different MS concentrations of *V. isaacii* Vt305 led to a satisfying biocontrol level of Verticillium wilt in the field trials. Hanson (2000) noted that inoculation of cotton seedlings at six true leaves *stage* with *V. dahliae* by stem puncture after seeds treatment with dried preparations of *T. virens* and planting of seeds in field soil significantly reduced disease severity and improved plant length. Kaur and Vyas (2021) found that antagonistic fungal strains *Aspergillus terreus* and *T. harzianum* in combination with liquid material (biochemical formulation) significantly reduced Verticillium wilt disease and increased height and cotton yield under natural field conditions. Larena et al. (2003) found that apply *Penicillium oxalicum* at a rate of approximately 10^{6} – 10^{7} CFU/g in rhizosphere and seedbed substrate before transplanting *is* necessary for effective control of Verticillium and Fusarium wilt of tomato.

Although there has been a lot of work on selecting BCAs and examining the mechanisms of biocontrol, there have been few examples of successful application in the field and currently biocontrol is not yet used on a large scale in agriculture. As mentioned, biological control is a promising method for managing disease like *Verticillium wilt*, but there is still much that needs to be discovered about how to make it work better through improving their effectiveness of BCAs, possibly by combining with other alternative control methods such as either root exudates or amendment with abiotic factors (inducers) to stimulating microorganism population and systemic resistance in the plant.

2.3.5 Root exudates

Plant roots are an important part of the plant that grow underground and have many functions including anchoring the plant, storing food, absorbing water and minerals (Flores et al. 1999). Plant roots also secrete some chemical compounds called root exudates, which play an important role in regulation of root-microbe interactions and plant communication to the neighbouring plants (Bais et al. 2001, Canarini et al. 2019, Suarez-Fernandez et al. 2020). Root exudates are chemical compounds that have biological activity and are secreted from plant roots into the rhizosphere. The production and release of these compounds may be induced by biotic or abiotic stress. During diffusion, which depends on pH and membrane permeability, uncharged molecules and small polar molecules are transported through lipid membranes. Other compounds like amino acids, sugars, and carboxylate anions are transported through membranes from the cytoplasm of intact root cells to the soil by the aid of proteins (Badri & Vivanco 2009).

In general, these compounds are divided into two groups, organic compounds with low molecular weight such as amino acids, sugars, phenolics and organic anions, and organic compounds with high molecular weight such as pigments, proteins, mucilage and other substances (Bais et al. 2001, More et al. 2020) (Figure 2.4).

Chapter 2. Literature review



Figure 2.4. Chemical structure of some amino acids, organic acids, and sugars. Source (Xie et al. 2008, Cowsill 2012, van Laar et al. 2022).

Root exudates can have both positive and negative effects. For example, root exudates can play a major role in regulating plant growth and interaction with the other plants and microbes. According to Wu et al. (2008) the cotton root exudates can improve the growth and development of Verticillium dahliae. López-Moral et al. (2023) found that root exudates from oil plants (Arbequina and Picual) significantly induced conidia and microsclerotia germination of V. dahliae. Rahman et al. (2021) found that root exudates of the intercropping of tomato and potato onion (Allium cepa var. aggregatum) increased bioavailability of soil phosphorus (P). In particular, some plants secreted volatile compounds that have the ability to stimulate ISR in neighbouring plants (Bais et al. 2006). According to Glinwood et al. (2003) exposure of barley plants to carboline and root exudates of couch-grass (Elytrigia repens) caused a significant reduction in aphid infection. One of the defence methods in the Arabidopsis plants is by attracting the beneficial rhizobacteria B. subtilis by secretion of malic acid and tricarboxylic acid and recruiting these bacteria against the pathogen P. syringae pv. tomato (Rudrappa et al. 2008). Roots can regulate microbial community in rhizosphere soil through beneficial symbioses, change of soil properties chemically and physically and inhibition of growth of other plants as a type of competition (Walker et al. 2003). In contrast, microbial communities associated with roots confer specific functions to their hosts, thereby modulating plant productivity, health, and growth (Korenblum et al. 2020).

On the other hand, the negative effect of root exudates is the ability of some plants to produce phytotoxic compounds. These compounds affect seed germination, shoot growth, root growth, photosynthesis and respiration (Weir et al. 2004). Perry et al. (2005) demonstrated that using

Chapter 2. Literature review

phytotoxin and (\pm)-catechin in high concentrations caused inhibition of *Centaurea maculosa* seedlings. In a study on the effect of root exudates of *Conocarpus erectus* trees against some ornamental plants, results of Abdul Ameer and Al-Rekaby (2017) showed that root exudates of *Conocarpus erectus* caused inhibition of seed germination of ornamental plants. Wu et al. (2017) found that application of organic acids in the soil caused increase of hydrogen peroxide and toxins in the pathogenic fungi. Results of other experiments revealed that three organic acids citric acid, oxalic acid, and malic acid from cucumber roots stimulated mycelium growth of *T. harzianum*, which resulted in improved biomass of the plant. Naqvi and Chauhan (1980) found that 7 sugars and 12 amino acids were detected in root exudates from resistant cultivars of chilli plants. These compounds stimulated spore germination of the antagonistic fungi *T. viride* and *A. sydowii*. Furthermore, *P. fluorescens* and *T. asperellum* caused increased phenolic content in the root exudates of maize enhanced growth of *T. harzianum*. In contrast, they inhibited sclerotia growth of the pathogen *R. solani* (Vishwakarma et al. 2017b).

Many previous studies have indicated the importance of root exudates of tomato (Steinkellner et al. 2005, Steinkellner et al. 2009, Fernández et al. 2017). Results of Tan et al. (2013) suggested that organic acid, citric acid, malic acid, fumaric acid, and succinic acid from tomato roots caused increase in root colonisation by *B. amyloliquefaciens*. In another study to evaluate the effects of the root exudates of six tomato genotypes against *Orobanche aegyptiaca*, they showed most resistance to the plant and inhibited seed germination (El-Halmouch et al. 2006). Gamliel and Katan (1992) found that bacteria and fungi showed less preference for tomato seeds and root exudates in the solarised soils that have higher rates of amino acids and amino compounds and have lower rates of sugars. Laboratory analysis revealed that citric acid increased 50% in the tomato root exudates in presence of *P. fluorescens*, whereas the rate of succinic acid decreased (Kamilova et al. 2006). Results of Tahat et al. (2010) indicated that spore germination of the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus *Glomus mosseae* was increased with increase of root exudates of tomato plant. Root exudates from tomato that were challenged with the pathogens *F. oxysporum* f.sp. *radicis-lycopersici* (*Forl*101587), and *F. oxysporum* f.sp. *lycopersici* (*Fol* 007) resulted in enhanced potential of antagonists against pathogen (Steinkellner et al. 2008).

Root exudates are important in regulating plant-microbial interactions. Over the last several years, *researches* have provided a better understanding of how root exudates mediate communication between plants and other organisms. Yet, some questions remain unresolved including how the microorganisms present in the rhizosphere modulates exudation and root metabolism, role of root exudates in plant defence, interaction between the antagonists and plant root exudates, and how plants encourage beneficial microorganisms, and the responses that can be triggered.

2.3.6 Conclusion

Vascular wilt caused by *V. dahliae* remains a major problem in annual agricultural and horticultural plants, including economically important tomato crop. The pathogen invades the plant from the roots and spreads along the xylem vessel to other parts of the plant. The development and use of BCAs against *V. dahliae* are an appealing management strategy. So, more work is needed to discover potential BCAs for the control of Verticillium wilt based on *in vitro* assessments of antagonistic activity and potential for plant growth promotion. To utilise this kind of biological control there is a need for improvement of BCAs performance by combining it with some chemical triggers such as SA. Although there are many studies that show the significant role of SA in induction of plant defence against various pathogens, through morphological, physiological, and biochemical mechanisms, SA has not been tested with BCAs to diminish the activity of *V. dahliae* in tomato plants.

Chapter 3. Isolation and identification of antagonistic fungi for biological control of tomato Verticillium wilt disease

3.1 Introduction

Tomatoes play an important role in trade and agricultural production worldwide because of their high contents of essential nutrients, unique taste, health effects, and antioxidant-rich phytochemicals (Ali et al. 2020, Collins et al. 2022). The fungus *V. dahliae* is a *soil-borne* pathogen that causes Verticillium wilt disease on a wide range of plant species including vegetables, field crops and forest trees (Agrios 2005, Atallah et al. 2010, Angelopoulou et al. 2014).

V. dahliae produces structures called microsclerotia (MS), which comprise a microscopic, dense shell with thick and darkly pigmented cells, and irregular shape and size (Fradin & Thomma 2006, Vermeulen 2020). MS play an important role in the disease cycle as they are a major inoculum source and, under certain conditions, can survive in the soil for several years (Kowalska 2021). Therefore, *V. dahliae* remains a challenge to control due to its wide host range and ability to survive in soil for many years (Vermeulen 2020). Symptoms of the disease include stunted growth, wilting, yellowing, necrosis of leaves, and chlorosis of tissues. Verticillium wilt seriously affects tomato quality and yield, since heavy infection by *V. dahliae* or *V. non-alfalfae* can lead to either small fruits or zero fruit production (Pei et al. 2023). The *Ve* gene confers resistance against Verticillium wilt and, whilst widespread in tomato varieties, it does not provide complete resistance working against some races, but not others (Fradin et al. 2009). Currently, there are no commercial varieties that have complete resistance to Verticillium wilt (Pei et al. 2023).

Although chemical pesticides are commonly used to control plant diseases, their use can pose potential risks to both human health and the environment (Masi et al. 2021). In addition, most fungicides are ineffective because *V. dahliae* is a vascular pathogen and resides inside the plant for most of the disease cycle. Therefore, once the fungus enters the plant, it is very difficult to control (Vermeulen 2020).

Biological control is one of several methods that have been used to control Verticillium wilt as an alternative strategy and has received considerable attention from many researchers in recent decades (Lo 1998, Mercado-Blanco 2012, Pei et al. 2023). Fungal species have an effective role in biological control applications through mechanisms which primarily act upon plants or pathogens, including nutrient competition, mycoparasitism, the synthesis of antibiotic and hydrolytic enzymes, plant growth promotion, and the stimulation of plant defence responses (Howell 2003, Asad 2022, Manzar et al. 2022). For example, *Trichoderma* suppresses pathogen growth through competition; mycoparasitism, secreting cell wall-degrading enzymes such as β-glucanases, chitinases, and

glucanases (Mukherjee et al. 2022); and producing antibiotics and toxins such as trichodermin, trichothecene, and a sesquiterpene (Benítez et al. 2004) which have a direct effect on the pathogens. Induced plant defence mechanisms, involving the reduction of reactive oxygen species, modifications of cell walls and cuticles, the elevation pathogenesis-related proteins, and phenolic compounds, which have indirect effect on the pathogens (Osei et al. 2021).

While biocontrol offers a potential solution with regard to controlling *Verticillium wilt*, finding suitable biological control agents (BCAs) is not always straightforward. Screening of soil, as a potentially large reservoir of different microorganisms, has potential due to the range of different microbial relationships exhibited within the soil rhizosphere or on the root surface. For example, the different types of relationships that can exist between organisms are commensalism, mutualism, neutralism, competition, parasitism, and predation (Bull et al. 2002, Nazli et al. 2020, Bahram & Netherway 2022, Baslam 2023). The number and diversity of microorganisms, both beneficial and deleterious, depends on the physical and chemical properties of the soil, as well as on the quantity and quality of root exudates, which gives shape to the structure of the root microbial community (Nazli et al. 2020). Hence, taking advantage of these fungi in biological control is considered an important step toward the use of these microorganisms to manage plant diseases as an alternative to chemical compounds.

The rhizosphere is a part of the soil surrounding a plant root that is directly influenced by root exudates and associated soil microorganisms (Ali et al. 2017b). Various compounds such as amino acids, organic acids, inorganic ions, aromatic acids, amides, aliphatic acids, sugars, volatile *compounds*, ethylene, peptides, vitamins and enzymes are exuded by plant roots and can act as chemical signals in the soil, able to attract or stimulate the growth of the beneficial microorganisms (Canarini et al. 2019, Rebolledo-Prudencio et al. 2020). Rhizosphere fungi are microorganisms found in the rhizosphere that can provide defence for roots against pathogenic attacks (Larekeng et al. 2019). For example, *Trichoderma* isolates *recovered* from rhizosphere gave excellent biocontrol and growth promotion *abilities* in *Syringa oblata* against *Syringa* powdery mildew (Liu et al. 2020). Karunasinghe et al. (2020) showed that 19 rhizosphere fungi include five isolates of *Aspergillus* species *A. insulicola* A435, *A. insulicola* A419, *A. melleus* A412, *A. terreus* A213, and *A. luchuensis* A116 gave a significant antagonistic activity against *Pythium* damping *in* cucumber.

Given that antagonistic fungi can be present in the rhizosphere and plant roots, the work reported in this chapter sought to select microbial isolates with antagonistic effects against *V. dahliae* and use them in further experiments such as root exudates or as inducers of resistance. The original intention was to use cotton as the host plant, so that BCAs were isolated from rhizosphere and cotton roots.

However, the method of pathogenicity testing on cotton was difficult to integrate with methods for testing antagonism, so tomato was used as the host crop in all experiments. The objectives were to:

- 1. Evaluation of the effect of four *V. dahliae* strains on the tomato cultivar Grosse Lisse by the root dipping method,
- 2. Determine the antagonistic activity of the isolated fungi against *V. dahliae* in dual culture screening and using an *in vitro* culture filtrate assay, and
- 3. Evaluation of the efficiency of the most active isolates in promoting tomato growth and reducing Verticillium wilt disease severity under glasshouse conditions.

The *V. dahliae* strains were obtained from the freeze-dried culture collection of the NSW Plant Pathology and Mycology Herbarium, Orange Agricultural Institute, NSW Department of Primary Industries.

3.2 Materials and methods

3.2.1 Isolates of pathogens

Four strains of *V. dahliae* (DAR 33757 from cotton, DAR 31890 from tomato, DAR 44537 from potato and DAR 81260 from olive) were obtained from the freeze-dried culture collection of the NSW Plant Pathology and Mycology Herbarium, Orange Agricultural Institute, NSW Department of Primary Industries (Table 3.1). These strains were maintained on plugs of potato dextrose agar (PDA) in sterile distilled water (SDW) inside small glass bottles and stored refrigerated at 4°C before use.

Table 5.1. Four strains of verticinium dumide and their origins.						
Isolate	Host	Location	Year isolated			
DAR 33757	Cotton	Bourke, NSW	1979			
DAR 31890	Tomato	Mount View, NSW	1978			
DAR 44537	Potato	Albany, WA	1983			
DAR 81260	Olive	Unknown, SA	2011			

Table 3.1. Four strains of Verticillium dahliae and their origins

3.2.2 Pathogenicity test of V. dahliae strains

Preparation of microconidial inoculum

Pathogenicity was tested to select a strain that was most suitable (based on its virulence on tomato plants) for further experiments. Microconidial inoculum of the four strains was prepared by transferring six agar plugs (~ 0.5 cm^3) from an active colony into 250 ml potato dextrose broth (PDB) in 500 ml flasks. All flasks were incubated at 25 °C on a shaker at 120 rpm for 15 days. The resultant culture for each strain was filtered through a Whatman No.1 filter paper to remove the mycelial mass. The concentration of microconidia was determined with a haemocytometer, and then adjust to 10^6 conidia /ml in SDW.

Conducting the root dipping method

Four *strains* were tested on the tomato cultivar Grosse Lisse by the root dipping method of Melouk and Horner (1974), to allow the fungal spores to directly reach the plant root surface and infect the elongation zone. In summary, tomato seeds were sown in small pots (5 cm diameter x 12.5 cm height) containing non-sterile soil mixture (Premium Potting Mix, Searles Ltd, Kilcoy QLD, and river sand at 2:1 v/v). Pots were put on benches inside a glasshouse at 25 ± 1 °C. Tomato seedlings at 3–4 true leaves were removed from pots and their roots were washed gently under tap water to remove soil and soaked in 500 ml flasks containing 250 ml of the *Verticillium* conidial suspension (10⁶ conidia/ml) for 1 hour (Ali et al., 2018). For control treatments, seedlings were soaked in SDW only. Then, seedlings were transplanted to large pots (20 x 20 cm) containing a soil mixture as outlined above. One seedling was put in each pot and four replications were used. After 6 weeks, disease severity and percent disease index (PDI) were recorded. A scale of 0 to 4 was used: 0 = leaf of healthy aspect; 1 = epinasty or wilted leaf without chlorosis; 2 = one or several slightly chlorotic bands on the leaf; 3 = chlorotic bands over the entire surface of the leaf or chlorotic bands with a necrotic centre and 4 = complete necrosis or death of the leaf (Jabnoun-Khiareddine et al. 2007). *The percent disease index (PDI) was calculated following formula* (Sultana et al. 2018),

PDI =
$$\frac{\text{Sum of all disease ratings}}{\text{Total number of ratings} \times \text{Maximum grade}} \times 100$$

Stem vascular discoloration was determined by cutting the plant stem lengthwise and measuring the internal browning length (cm) inside the vascular tissue from the tap root (Rowe 1980). Growth parameters including plant height and dry weight for shoot and root systems were also determined.

3.2.3 Isolation of potential antagonistic fungi

Samples of cotton roots and soil that *adhere* to the roots were taken below the soil line 0 - 15 cm depth with the aid of a spade from different locations in fields at Boggabri in north-eastern New South Wales, Australia to obtain isolates of potential antagonists against Verticillium wilt (Zheng et al. 2011). The samples were then taken to the laboratory using cellophane bags.

Ten gram of soil samples taken from rhizosphere (soil adhering to the roots) were *suspended* in 90 ml of SDW. *One* ml of this *suspension* was transferred to tubes containing 9 ml of SDW and then a series of dilutions 10^{-3} and 10^{-4} were made. *One* ml of these dilutions *was* added to Petri dishes with 3 replicates at each dilution. Cooled autoclaved PDA containing chloramphenicol was aseptically added over the top of the diluted soil suspensions and *dishes* were incubated at 25 ± 1 °C for 5 days (Yusnawan et al. 2019). After a 5-day period, isolates were purified, and three mycelial plugs (~ 0.5

cm³) were placed into vials 40 ml containing 20 ml of SDW and stored at 4 °C before use. A minimum of 4 vials were prepared for each isolate.

Cotton roots were thoroughly washed under tap water and cut into 0.5-1 cm long pieces. Segments were surface sterilised with 0.5% sodium hypochlorite for 3 min then rinsed in SDW several times. Five segments were distributed on PDA enriched with chloramphenicol (Abo-Elyousr et al. 2014) inside Petri dishes and incubated at 25 ± 1 °C in darkness for 5 days (Yusnawan et al. 2019).

3.2.4 Determination of isolates with in-vitro antagonistic activity against tomato V. dahliae DAR 31890 strain

In a previous experiment of this chapter, the pathogenicity of four strains of *V. dahliae* was tested on tomato cultivar Grosse Lisse to select the most suitable strain (*based on its virulence on tomato plants*) *for further experiments.* Among these strains, the tomato strain DAR31890 was more virulent on tomatoes than the other strains examined. Therefore, this strain was chosen as the pathogen in the following experiments.

Effect of fungal isolates on mycelial growth of tomato V. dahliae DAR31890 strain

Fifteen isolates *recovered* from cotton roots and rhizosphere soil were evaluated for antagonism of *V. dahliae* utilising the dual culture method described by Arriagada et al. (2012). Discs (8 mm) of PDA *colonized* with *V. dahliae* were transferred to Petri dishes and incubated 3 days before treatment with *fungal isolates tested* obtained from cotton fields. *Discs* 8 mm *in* diameter from different fungal isolates *removed* from 5-day old cultures were placed opposite to *V. dahliae* on the PDA *dishes*. In controls, only *V. dahliae* was placed on one side of the Petri dish. The distance between the discs was 6.5 cm. All inoculated plates were incubated in triplicate at 25 ± 1 °C for 7–13 days. The suppression effect for the isolates of fungi was evaluated applying the following formula: (Ma – Mb)/Ma ×100, where Ma = free mycelial growth of *V. dahliae* (control) and Mb = mycelial growth of *V. dahliae* towards the antagonist (Singh et al., 2019).

Effect of culture filtrate of fungal isolates on tomato V. dahliae DAR31890 strain

Six of the fungi examined in *above section* were selected for the next experiments in this chapter based on their efficiency against *V. dahliae* DAR31890 strain. These were designated as isolates 2, 5, 7, 10, 14 and 15.

Preparation of culture filtrate

The pathogenic strain of *V. dahliae* DAR31890, and six isolates of antagonistic fungi were grown separately in PDB by inoculating 100 ml of PDB in sterilised conical flasks (250 ml) to which 1ml of 10^6 conidia/ml suspension of either the pathogen or each of the antagonist isolates was added to separate flasks. All cultures were prepared in triplicate and placed on a shaker at 25 °C at 120 rpm for
14 days. Following incubation, the culture medium was filtered through Whatman No1 filter paper then passed through 0.45 μ m membrane filters to avoid any contamination and be ready for the next experiments (Raut et al. 2014). Extracts from individual culture flasks were treated as a replicate to investigate the effect of culture filtrate on MS germination and mycelial growth of *V. dahliae* DAR31890 strain.

Effect of culture filtrate on mycelial growth of tomato V. dahliae DAR31890 strain

Fungal isolates were tested for *their* antagonistic activity against *V. dahliae* DAR31890 strain using a culture filtrate assay as described by (Sharfuddin & Mohanka 2012). A 25 % concentration of fungal culture filtrates were prepared by placing 5 ml of sterilised filtrate into a Petri dish and then adding 15 ml of PDA, with control treatments used PDB instead of fungal filtrate. Discs (8 mm) from 7-day old *V. dahliae* colony grown on PDA were inoculated at the centre of Petri dishes. All Petri dishes in triplicates were incubated at $25 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C for 7-13 days. Radial growth rate of the pathogen was measured and compared with the control treatments using the following formula (C1–C2)/C1 ×100, where C1 = radial growth of pathogen in control *dishes* and C2 = radial growth of pathogen in treated *dishes* (Singh et al., 2019).

3.2.5 Effect of culture filtrate on MS germination of tomato V. dahliae DAR31890 strain **Preparation of MS inoculum**

The pathogen *V. dahliae* DAR31890 strain was grown on PDA covered with sterile cellophane. After 10 days of incubation at 25 ± 1 °C, cellophane fragments with *Verticillium* (hypha, conidia, and MS) were peeled off with a spatula and transferred to a blender containing 250 ml deionised water and blended for 2–3 min. The mixture was poured through 106 µm and 45 µm sieves. This process was used to retain MS and remove other materials. MS left in the 45 µm sieve were collected in a sterile beaker containing 0.5% ethanol, which was used to surface sterilise MS for 3 min (Grunden et al. 2001). Then, MS were dropped onto sterilised filter paper until the ethanol evaporated and then transferred to a sterile beaker containing 100 ml of SDW. Finally, the suspension of MS inoculum was used in culture filtrate experiment.

Effect of culture filtrate on MS germination

Culture filtrates were tested on MS germination. Culture filtrates were prepared to a concentration of 25 % with PDA as above (3.2.4) and distributed into Petri dishes. Then, 1ml of the prepared MS suspension was distributed onto a PDA Petri dish, with three replicates established that were kept in the incubator at 25 ± 1 °C for 7 days. Germination percentage of MS was calculated by counting approximately 250–350 in each Petri dish using a stereo microscope at x40 and determining the proportion of MS with visible germ tubes.

3.2.6 Effect of antagonists on Verticillium wilt development under glasshouse conditions **Preparation of inoculum**

Inoculum of the pathogen and potential antagonists was prepared by transferring four discs of PDA with fungal cultures to flasks containing 120 ml of PDB. All flasks were shaken at 120 rpm at 25 °C for 7–14 days. Conidial suspensions of tomato *V. dahliae* DAR31890 strain and potential antagonist isolates were prepared by filtering through sterilised Miracloth. The concentration was adjusted to 10^6 conidia/ml by using SDW and determined with a hemocytometer (Jegathambigai et al. 2009).

Seedling emergence

In order to evaluate the effect of antagonistic fungi on seedling emergence, tomato seeds (Grosse Lisse) were surface-sterilised for 1 minute with 1% sodium hypochlorite and washed two times with sterile water and then soaked in the spore suspensions of each antagonistic fungus (10^6 conidia/ml) for 60 min (Newman et al. 2002). Seeds were then transplanted to pots (16 cm diameter x 18.5 cm height) containing non-sterile soil mixture (Premium Potting Mix, Searles Ltd, Kilcoy QLD, and river sand at 2:1 v/v). Ten seeds were sown in each pot with each treatment represented by four replicates. After 7 to 14 days percent seedling emergence was recorded.

Seedling treatments

Sterilised tomato seeds (Grosse Lisse) were sown in pots (20 x 20 cm) filled with soil mixture (as above). After emergence and at 3-4 true leaves, seedlings were thinned to one per pot and treated with fungal isolates (2, 5, 7, 10, 14 and 15) by adding 200 ml of conidial suspensions at 10^6 conidia/ml to the soil around the plant (Wani & Mir 2009). After four days, 10^6 /ml conidial suspensions 200 ml of the pathogen *V. dahliae* were added to the soil in the same method as above. As a control, seedlings inoculated with *V. dahliae* only (not treated with fungal isolates), and seedlings with neither fungal isolates nor pathogen were used. The fungus-free PDB, which modified with the same concentration of SDW that was added to adjust the conidial suspension of the tested fungi was added to the control treatments. Disease severity was recorded after one month of inoculation as described previously (3.2.2). Plant length and dry weight of shoot and root system were determined.

3.2.7 Identification of fungal isolates by PCR

Two fungal isolates (2 and 7) which performed well in all tests were chosen for use in further experiments. They were identified by internal transcribed spacer (ITS) sequencing (Shahid et al. 2014). The isolates were grown on PDA for 3 to 4 days then about 100 mg of fungal mycelium was scraped off with sterile surgical blades and placed into microcentrifuge tubes containing small glass beads (0.5 mm). To extract DNA, Isolate II Plant DNA Kit (Bioline) Lysis buffer PA1 was added to

Chapter 3. Isolation and identification of antagonistic fungi

the tubes which were then shaken for 30 sec at 30 Hz in a Retsch MM300 mill. DNA was then extracted following the Isolate II Plant DNA Kit manufacturer's protocol. Next, ITS sequences were amplified by PCR using master mix MyTaq (Bioline) with ITS 1, and ITS 4 primers (White et al. 1990). For the amplification process, cycling conditions included an initial denaturation at 95 °C for 60 sec, followed by 30 cycles consisting of denaturation at 95 °C for 15 s, then at 55 °C for 15 s, 72 °C for 10 s, and extension step at 72 °C for 5 min. Purified PCR products were sequenced by the Australian Genome Research Facility using the forward primer. These two fungal isolates were identified by their ITS sequence similarity to sequences in the GenBank database using BLAST search (https://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/).

3.2.8 Statistical analysis

Data were analysed by one-way or multi-factorial ANOVA, depending on the experimental design, using IBM SPSS version 25. Homogeneity of variance was checked using Levene's test, and the data for stem browning and disease severity in the glasshouse trial were log-transformed before analysis. The criterion for significance of a treatment effect was P < 0.05, unless otherwise stated. Tukey's HSD test was used for mean separations when treatment effects were significant.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Pathogenicity of V. dahliae strains

Tomato root dip inoculation with four strains of *V. dahliae* was undertaken to investigate the *effect* of each strain on wilt disease severity and tomato plant parameters (plant height, dry weight of shoot and root system). *Six weeks after inoculation*, all strains caused a significant increase in disease severity compared with the control ($F_{4,15} = 19.99$, P < 0.001) (Figure 3.1). The highest severity of disease on tomato plants was *induced* by *V. dahliae* strain DAR 31890, initially isolated from tomato. Also, this original tomato isolate (*V. dahliae* DAR 31890) gave a significantly higher level of stem vascular discoloration compared with other tested isolates, which did not differ significantly from the control ($F_{4,15} = 8.44$, P < 0.001) (Figure 3.2 and Figure 3.3).





Figure 3.1. Effect of four strains of *Verticillium dahliae* (DAR33757 from cotton, DAR81260 from olive, DAR44537 from potato and DAR31890 from tomato) on % of leaves showing symptoms of wilt and expressed as disease severity (%) in tomato cultivar Grosse Lisse. Error bars show standard errors of the mean (n=4, control=uninoculated plants).



Figure 3.2. Effect of four strains of *Verticillium dahliae* (DAR33757 from cotton, DAR81260 from olive, DAR44537 from potato and DAR31890 from tomato) on stem vascular discoloration extent in tomato cultivar Grosse Lisse. Error bars show standard errors of the mean (n=4, control=uninoculated plants).

Chapter 3. Isolation and identification of antagonistic fungi



Figure 3.3. Wilt symptoms of tomato *Verticillium dahliae* DAR31890 strain in tomato cultivar Grosse Lisse. (A) yellowing of leaves. (B) Brown discoloration of the vascular tissue of the stem caused by Verticillium wilt.

The *V. dahliae* strains were significantly different from each other on plant height, with strain DAR 44537 from potato giving shorter plants than DAR 31890 from tomato ($F_{4,15} = 4.04$, P = 0.02) (Figure 3.4). However, none of the *V. dahliae* strains were significantly different from the control. None of the isolates showed a significant difference to the uninoculated control with regard to shoot dry weight. However, differences were observed between the potato and olive *V. dahliae* strains ($F_{4,15} = 3.46$, P = 0.034, Figure 3.5). There was no significant effect of *V. dahliae* strains on root dry weight ($F_{4,15} = 1.22$, P = 0.28) (Figure 3.6).





Figure 3.4. Effect of inoculation with four strains of *Verticillium dahliae* (DAR33757 from cotton, DAR81260 from olive, DAR44537 from potato and DAR31890 from tomato) on tomato cultivar Grosse Lisse height. Error bars show standard errors of the mean (n=4, control=uninoculated plants).



Figure 3.5. Effect of four strains of *Verticillium dahliae* (DAR33757 from cotton, DAR81260 from olive, DAR44537 from potato and DAR31890 from tomato) in tomato cultivar Grosse Lisse shoot dry weight. Error bars show standard errors of the mean (n=4, control=uninoculated plants).



Figure 3.6. Effect of four strains of *Verticillium dahliae* (DAR33757 from cotton, DAR81260 from olive, DAR44537 from potato and DAR31890 from tomato) in tomato cultivar Grosse Lisse root dry weight. Error bars show standard errors of the mean (n=4, control=uninoculated plants).

3.3.2 Isolation of potential antagonistic fungi

A total of 15 fungi were isolated from cotton roots and rhizosphere soil (soil adhering to the roots) of heathy plants from locations in cotton fields at Boggabri in north-eastern New South Wales, Australia (Table 3.2). All the isolated fungi were serially numbered (From 1 to 15) and maintained into test tubes containing PDA and vials containing SDW. Isolates 4, 9, 11, 12, 13, and 15 were isolated from cotton roots, and 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 10, and 14 were isolated from soil adhering to the roots.

Isolate number	Cotton roots	Rhizosphere soil
1		+
2		+
3		+
4	+	
5		+
6		+
7		+
8		+
9	+	
10		+
11	+	
12	+	
13	+	
14		+
15	+	

Table 3.2. Fungi isolated recovered from cotton roots and rhizosphere soil of different healthy plants.

3.3.3 Effect of fungal isolates on mycelial growth of tomato V. dahliae DAR31890 strain In a dual culture method using the rhizosphere and soil fungal *isolates* in proximity to V. dahliae DAR31890 strain showed, differences *in their ability to inhibit* the pathogen mycelial growth. The difference between isolates was significant ($F_{14,30} = 8.80$, P < 0.001) (Figure 3.7). Most of the fungal isolates reduced mycelial growth of the pathogen V. dahliae markedly on PDA plates. Most isolates were not significantly different from each other, except for isolates 6 and 8, which gave significantly lower inhibition than all isolates except for 9 and 11. A representative of each morphological type of isolates, which gave high inhibition of growth, was selected for further experiments.



Figure 3.7. Effect of fungal isolates on mycelial growth of *Verticillium dahliae* in dual culture method. Error bars show standard errors (n=3).

3.3.4 Effect of culture filtrate of fungal isolates on mycelial growth of tomato V. dahliae DAR31890 strain

The tested culture *filtrates* of fungal isolates 2, 7, and 15 significantly decreased growth of *V. dahliae* ($F_{7,16} = 108.86$, P < 0.001) (Figure 3.8 and Figure 3.9). The culture filtrate of isolate 7 was the most effective compared with the control, with no growth of *V. dahliae* on the Petri dish medium.





Figure 3.8. Effect of culture filtrate of fungal isolates (2, 5, 7, 10, 14 and 15) on mycelial growth of *Verticillium dahliae*. (Control=PDB only). Error bars show standard errors (n=3).



Figure 3.9. Effect of culture filtrate of fungal isolates (2, 5, 7, 10, 14 and 15) on mycelial growth of *Verticillium dahliae*.

3.3.5 Effect of culture filtrate on MS germination

MS germination was significantly decreased in all treatments that were treated with culture *filtrates* of fungal isolates, except for isolate 10 ($F_{6,14} = 39.48$, P < 0.001) (Figure 3.10). Culture filtrate of isolates 2, 5, and 7 had significantly higher level of growth inhibition than all isolates.



Figure 3.10. Effect of culture filtrates of fungal isolates on germination rate of *Verticllium dahliae* microsclerotia. Error bars show standard errors (n=3). (Control=PDA only).

3.3.6 Effect of fungal isolates on Verticillium wilt development under glasshouse conditions The effect of conidial suspensions of fungal isolates on tomato percent seedling emergence is shown in Figure 3.11. There was no significant effect of fungal treatment on seedling emergence (F6,21 = 0.62, P = 0.71).



Figure 3.11. Effect of fungal isolates on tomato cultivar Grosse Lisse seedling emergence. Error bars show standard errors (n=4). Control=Tomato plant only.

Treatment with fungal isolates had a significant effect on the disease severity caused by the pathogen *V. dahliae* on tomato plants ($F_{6,21} = 2.80$, P = 0.037) (Figure 3.12). The severity of Verticillium wilt in plants treated with Vert + 2 and Vert + 7 was significantly less than in the control treatment

(pathogen only), although there were no significant differences between the antagonist isolates, or between isolates 5, 10, 14 or 15 and the control. Treatments 2, 5, 7, 10, 14, and 15 that had not been inoculated with pathogen were excluded from statistical analysis because no symptoms were seen in plants.



Figure 3.12. Effect of fungal isolates (2, 5, 7, 10, 14 and 15) on % of leaves showing symptoms of wilt and expressed as disease severity (%) in tomato cultivar Grosse Lisse. Error bars show standard errors (n=4). Control=Pathogen only, Vert=Verticillium dahliae.

There were significant effects of *V. dahliae* ($F_{1,42} = 45.57$, P < 0.001), antagonists ($F_{6,42} = 34.84$, P < 0.001), and their interaction ($F_{6,42} = 4.32$, P = 0.002) on plant height (Figure 3.13). Inoculation with *V. dahliae* reduced the height of control plants by 23%. Antagonist isolates 2 and 7 significantly increased height in both *V. dahliae*-inoculated and uninoculated plants. There were no significant differences between the heights of *V. dahliae*-inoculated and uninoculated plants for any antagonist except isolate 5.



Figure 3.13. Effect of fungal isolates (2, 5, 7, 10, 14 and 15) in tomato cultivar Grosse Lisse height. Error bars show standard errors (n=4). Control=Plant only, Vert=*Verticillium dahliae*.

There were significant effects of *V. dahliae* ($F_{1,42} = 19.71$, P < 0.001), antagonists ($F_{6,42} = 23.51$, P < 0.001), and their interaction ($F_{6,42} = 4.02$, P = 0.003) on shoot dry weight (Figure 3.14). Inoculation with *V. dahliae* reduced the dry weight of control plants by 36%. Antagonist isolates 2 and 7 significantly increased dry weight in both *V. dahliae*-inoculated and uninoculated plants.



Figure 3.14. Effect of fungal isolates (2, 5, 7, 10, 14 and 15) in tomato cultivar Grosse Lisse shoot dry weight. Error bars show standard errors (n=4). Control=Plant only, Vert=*Verticillium dahlae*.

3.3.7 Identification of the most active fungal isolates

Isolates 2 and 7 consistently gave the greatest inhibition of growth and MS germination, reduction in disease severity and promotion of growth of tomato plants. These two fungal isolates were identified by their ITS sequence similarity to sequences in the GenBank database using BLAST search (Table

3.3). Isolate 2 was identified as *T. harzianum*, while isolate 7 shared approximately 97% similarity to *A. tubingensis* and a close similarity to a number of other black-spored *Aspergillus* species, including *A. niger* and *A. welwitschiae*. Isolate 7 will therefore be referred to as *Aspergillus* sp.

Table 3.3. Most similar sequence in GenBank using BLASTn search of ITS sequences of two antagonist isolates.

Isolate	Most similar accession	Similarity	Putative identification
2	KP263659	99%	Trichoderma harzianum
7	KP764873	97%	Aspergillus tubingensis

3.4 Discussion

In this chapter, the pathogenicity of four strains of *V. dahliae* - DAR 33757 from cotton, DAR 31890 from tomato, DAR 44537 from potato and DAR 81260 from olive were examined for their impact on the host plant, tomato cultivar Grosse Lisse. Further to this, some fungi from soil and cotton roots were studied for their antagonistic activity towards *V. dahliae* for their consideration as potential BCAs for Verticillium wilt on tomato.

The results indicated that all strains of V. dahliae caused a vascular wilt and an increase of tomato disease severity compared to the control. These results are consistent with previous studies that indicated the ability of the pathogen to infect a second host (Pantelides et al. 2009, Arslan & Dervis 2010, Bilodeau et al. 2012). This result also conformed with Jabnoun-Khiareddine et al. (2006a) who found that isolates of V. dahliae from potato were highly pathogenic and attacked tomato and eggplant. Yildiz et al. (2009) reported that the virulence of V. dahliae isolates from weed hosts in cotton fields was greater on cotton plants than on weeds. The ability of V. dahliae to colonise numerous host plants could be because it has a large number of genes encoding carbohydrate-activeenzymes (CWDE), phytotoxins, and cell wall degrading enzymes (Fradin & Thomma 2006, Yalin et al. 2022). Among the strains of V. dahliae, the strain DAR31890 from tomato was significantly more virulent on tomato than the other strains examined in this research. In the same way, brown vascular discoloration was highest in tomato stems, which were treated with the tomato isolated strain of Verticillium DAR31890. Although this is consistent with some level of host preference, the main aim of this experiment was to select an isolate that would be sufficiently pathogenic for further experiments. Based on the disease and pathology observed in the host plant, tomato cultivar Grosse Lisse, all subsequent experiments which investigated potential BCAs used the tomato isolated V. dahliae DAR31890.

Out of the 15 isolated fungi, six fungal isolates (4, 9, 11, 12, 13, and 15) were collected from cotton roots, while the other nine (1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 10, and 14) were collected from rhizosphere soils. Interestingly, isolates 2 and 7, which were later identified as *T. harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp., and

performed best against tomato *V. dahliae* isolate DAR31890, were taken from the same environment (soil adhering to the roots). Similar results for isolation of antagonistic fungi from rhizosphere soil were reported by several other researchers (Jain et al. 2012, Ru & Di 2012, Kale et al. 2018, Yoo et al. 2018, Liu et al. 2020). High levels of compounds exuded by roots in the rhizosphere attract much greater numbers of microorganisms such as beneficial rhizosphere microbes than elsewhere in the soil. These microbes protect plants against pathogens mainly by means of a wide variety of mechanisms including antagonism or resource competition (Barea et al. 2005, Nihorimbere et al. 2011, Meena et al. 2017, Yin et al. 2021).

A total of 15 isolated fungi were screened for their ability to inhibit mycelial growth and the production of MS in dual culture investigation. The results demonstrated that some of the isolated fungi were able to affect the pathogen and inhibit mycelial growth and the production of MS in Petri dishes. The highest inhibition occurred in respect of isolate 2, later identified as *T. harzianum*, compared with the other isolates. These results align with Jabnoun-Khiareddine et al. (2009b) who found that three endogenous *Trichoderma* species reduced mycelial growth of *V. dahliae*. Reghmit et al. (2021) demonstrated that *Trichoderma* species significantly reduced mycelium growth of *V. dahliae*. Reghmit et al. (2016) who observed that all three strains of *T. asperellum* were able to overgrow and reduce the colony size of *V. dahliae* isolates in dual culture tests. According to Benouzza et al. (2021), *Trichoderma* isolate 15 significantly inhibited the mycelial growth of *V. dahliae in vitro* dual culture tests. Similarly, Morán-Diez et al. (2019) found that *T. atroviride* T11 was able to inhibit growth and overgrown colonies of *V. dahliae* on agar plates.

The inhibition shown by the antagonists may be due to the ability of antagonists to grow rapidly as a way of competing for space, nutrients, essential elements (Janisiewicz et al. 2000, Di Francesco et al. 2016), and mycoparasitic activity (Sharma et al. 2009, Abo-Elyousr et al. 2014). *Trichoderma* has the ability to parasitise other fungi since mycoparasitism is an ancestral trait of *Trichoderma* (Mukherjee et al. 2022). The mechanisms of mycoparasitism, which include directed growth of *Trichoderma* toward other fungi, attachment and coiling, and the production of a range of antifungal extracellular enzymes such as chitinolytic or glucanolytic enzymes (Howell 2003, Harman et al. 2004, Harman 2006, Rai et al. 2019). According to Benouzza et al. (2021) microscopic observation of *Trichoderma* hyphae showed parasitic behaviour against *V. dahliae*. Regragui and Lahlou (2005) referred to the ability of *T. harzianum* to release some antibiotics and enzymes like chitinase and cellulase that play a role in the degradation of cell walls of the pathogen *V. dahliae*. Microscopic observation carried out by Reghmit et al. (2021) demonstrated that hyphae of *Trichoderma* were coiled around mycelium of *V. dahliae*. The authors also reported that when the pathogen was

encircled, cell walls were observed to degrade due to the release of several lytic enzymes involved in the parasite reaction.

Moreover, *Trichoderma* isolates had the ability to produce the volatile organic compounds (VOCs) such as Octadecane, 13-Docosenamide, Undecane, Eicosane, Tetradecanoic acid, 9-Octadecenamide, and n-Hexadecanoic acid, which may affect the mycelial growth of *V. dahliae* (Reghmit et al. 2021). The detrimental effect of *Trichoderma* species may be associated with some release of inhibitory substances, such as antibiotics (Lewis & Papavizas 1987, Xiaojun et al. 2014, Fotoohiyan et al. 2017, Asad 2022).

The culture filtrate test of the antagonistic fungi 2 and 7 showed the highest effect on mycelial growth and MS germination of *V. dahliae*. The culture filtrate of isolate 7 was the most effective compared with the control. Similar results were reported by Reghmit et al. (2021) who found that *Trichoderma* filtrate at 20 % concentration was more inhibitive to *V. dahliae* than a 10 % concentration. Benouzza et al. (2021) showed that all *Trichoderma* culture filtrates significantly inhibited mycelial growth of *V. dahliae* strains V1 and V2. According to Fotoohiyan et al. (2017), culture filtrates of *T. harzianum* Tr4 and Tr12 isolates were the most effective in the growth inhibition of *V. dahliae*.

Previous studies also mentioned the potential of culture filtrates of some *Aspergillus* isolates on mycelial growth of plant pathogens. Hosen and Shamsi (2019) reported that culture filtrates of *A. flavus*, *A. niger*, and *A. fumigatus* showed 40.91, 34.09, and 54.55 %, growth inhibition of *F. merismoides* at 5, 10, and 15 % concentrations, respectively. Halo et al. (2018) showed that culture filtrates of *A. terreus* significantly reduced radial growth of *P. aphanidermatum*. Zhao et al. (2018b) showed that culture filtrate of *A. tubingensis* strain QF05 reduced grey mould on tomato fruits and plants caused by *B. cinerea*. Attia et al. (2022a) found that the extracts of *A. fumigatus* exhibited significant antifungal activity against *F. oxysporum* that causes Fusarium wilt disease in tomato.

The suppression of *V. dahliae* by culture filtrates on PDA is an indication that the antifungal property of 2 and 7 isolates may depend on different kinds of lytic enzymes and antibiotics produced by antagonists (Ghisalberti & Sivasithamparam 1991, Howell 2003, Raza et al. 2013, Nagamani et al. 2017, Reghmit et al. 2021). Elad and Kapat (1999) demonstrated that two isolates of *T. harzianum* were effective producers of chitinase, β -1,3-glucanase, and protease in a liquid culture medium. Halo et al. (2018) showed that glucan in the cell walls of *P. aphanidermatum* was affected by the glucanase enzyme produced by *A. terreus*. Furthermore, the inhibition shown by the antagonists may be due to secondary metabolites present in the fungal filtrates. Many *Trichoderma* species are the most prominent producers of secondary metabolites (Vinale et al. 2014, Zeilinger et al. 2016, Khan et al. 2020, Asad 2022). *Aspergillus* genera also produce an abundance of beneficial antimicrobial bioactive secondary metabolites (Siddiqui et al. 2004, Abdallah et al. 2014, Yu et al. 2021a, Choi &

Ahsan 2022). Attia et al. (2022a) showed that PD broth medium treated with ethyl acetate fungal extracts of *A. fumigatus* inhibited fungal growth *F. oxysporum*.

In glasshouse experiments, the results demonstrated that soil treated with suspensions of BCAs promoted tomato plant growth and decreased disease severity caused by infection with *V. dahliae*. These results agreed with those of previous studies that indicated the role of *BCAs* in control of tomato Verticillium wilt (Larena et al. 2003, Sabuquillo et al. 2006, Giotis et al. 2009, Jabnoun-Khiareddine et al. 2009b). Dutta (1981) found that some fungi isolated from tomato rhizosphere including *T. viride*, *Penicillium* spp. and *Gliocladium* spp., were most effective in controlling Verticillium wilt on tomato plants. Similar results for the potential of antagonistic fungi as biocontrol agents against Verticillium wilt were reported by Yuan et al. (2017) who found that the endophytic fungi *P. simplicissimum* and *T. flavus* significantly reduced Verticillium wilt disease in cotton. Patil et al. (2017) reported using a soluble powder formulation from the fungus *A. niger* (10g per kg of seed) to reduced eggplant wilt caused by *F. oxysporum* f. sp. *melongenae*. Marois et al. (1982) found that six isolates of 34 *soil-borne* fungi examined including *T. harzianum*, *A. alutaceus*, *P. lilacinus*, *G. virens* and *T. flavus* reduced Verticillium wilt on eggplant in glasshouse experiments.

The significant effect of antagonists may be due to their ability to rapidly colonise the rhizosphere, compete for nutrients, and secrete some antibiotics and enzymes that affect pathogens (Whipps 2001, Asad 2022). Antifungal chitinase isolated from *A. niger* inhibited the growth of *R. solani*, *F. culmorum*, and *F. solani* (Brzezinska & Jankiewicz 2012). Soil amendment with antagonistic fungi may provide protection to the plant by enhancing its resistance against pathogens (Nawrocka & Małolepsza 2013, Khoshmanzar et al. 2020, Yeon et al. 2022).

Moreover, the present study revealed that antagonistic fungi improved plant growth parameters (plant height and shoot dry weight) with or without the pathogen. These results aligned with Jabnoun-Khiareddine et al. (2009b) who found that fresh weights of tomato root and stem were increased *by* more than 50% in plants treated with *Trichoderma* spp. compared with control. Khoshmanzar et al. (2020) found that inoculation with *Trichoderma* isolates increased tomato shoot dry weight and root volume compared to the control treatment. These authors reported that one *T. harzianum* strain enhanced shoot potassium uptake, while Bader et al. (2020) showed that native *T. harzianum* strains from Argentina increased tomato shoot length, fresh and dry weight of shoot and roots. Kaur and Vyas (2022) indicated that the antagonistic strains of *A. terreus* and *T. harzianum* significantly reduced the symptoms of Verticillium wilt disease and promoted the growth of cotton plants. Attia et al. (2022a) demonstrated that *A. fumigatus* and *R. oryzae* significantly improved growth parameters (shoot length, root length, and number of leaves) in tomato plants.

Chapter 3. Isolation and identification of antagonistic fungi

Biological activity of secondary metabolites produced by *Trichoderma* species such as koninginin and 6-pentyl-apyrone may *act* as plant growth regulators (Vinale et al. 2008). *Trichoderma* spp. also produce organic acids, such as citric, gluconic acids that permit the solubilisation of phosphate Ion, micronutrients and mineral cations such as iron, Mn, and Mg, useful for plant metabolism (Benítez et al. 2004, Harman et al. 2004). Plants treated with *Aspergillus* may increase total phenols, free proline, POD, and PPO enzymes that play a key role in plant growth (Attia et al. 2022a). According to Dulf et al. (2015) solid-state fermentation by *A. niger* significantly increased antioxidant activity and phenolic contents in *Sambucus nigra*. Hussain et al. (2022) showed that *A. welwitschiae* significantly improved the plant growth of *Glycine max* L. by enhancing the activity of antioxidant enzymes. Abdelaziz et al. (2022) demonstrated that the endophytic *A. fumigatus* increased phenols, proline, POD, PPO, SOD and CAT enzymes activity in *Zea mays* plants.

Finally, through the results mentioned in this chapter, isolates 2 and 7 *in vitro* gave the greatest inhibition in fungal growth and MS germination, and also reduced Verticillium wilt disease incidence and promoted tomato growth under glasshouse conditions compared with the other isolates tested. These two fungal isolates were identified by ITS sequence similarity, compared to sequences in the GenBank database using a BLAST search. Isolate 2 has been identified as *T. harzianum*, while isolate 7 was identified as *Aspergillus* sp. Therefore, these two fungi were chosen as BCAs against the pathogen *V. dahliae* DAR31890 from tomato for further experiments described in the following chapters.

Chapter 4. Effect of tomato root exudates on pathogen and antagonistic fungi

4.1 Introduction

In recent decades, the use of biological control agents (BCAs) to control plant pathogens has increased because of increasing public concern about the potential harmful effects of chemical pesticides on human health and the environment (Pal & Gardener 2006, Fernández et al. 2017, Roca-Couso et al. 2021). There are several mechanisms that BCAs use against plant pathogens including competition, parasitism, predation, and antibiosis (Deketelaere et al. 2017, Liu et al. 2021, Manzar et al. 2022). These mechanisms can be successful if the BCAs successfully establish in the rhizosphere. The rhizosphere is a different environment from bulk soil because of the accumulation of plant root exudates in this area (Singh & Mukerji 2006). Root exudates refer to a complex mixture of organic substances that are released from living plant roots in the rhizosphere. They may contain amino acids, organic acids, inorganic ions, aromatic acids, amides, aliphatic acids, sugars and volatile compounds in addition to ethylene, peptides, vitamins and enzymes (Lugtenberg et al. 1999, Uren 2000, Kamilova et al. 2006, Canarini et al. 2019, Vives-Peris et al. 2020).

In addition to being used as nutrient source for rhizosphere colonisation and microorganisms in the soil, rhizosphere compounds may play a significant role in plant-plant and plant-microbe interactions. The interactions between plant and their microbial communities in the rhizosphere can have beneficial impacts on plants, including disease suppression (Aulakh et al. 2001, Lugtenberg & Kamilova 2009, Huang et al. 2014). For example, root exudates such as long-chain fatty acids and amino acids stimulated by foliar pathogen infection can recruit some beneficial rhizosphere microbes such as Pseudomonas strains to help host plants to resist foliar pathogen infection (Wen et al. 2021). Shi et al. (2021) found that wheat root exudates led to an increase in the density of total bacteria and of Pseudomonas, Bacillus and Streptomyces spp., and significantly affected the bacterial community composition. In vitro, Vishwakarma et al. (2017a) showed that root exudates of sorghum and maize inhibited growth and sclerotia germination of the pathogen R. solani and enhanced growth of T. harzianum. Liu et al. (2009) reported that root exudates of grafted eggplants inhibited mycelium growth of Verticillium dahliae. Mol and Riessen (1995) found that potato root exudates stimulated MS germination of V. dahliae. According to Farley et al. (1971), soil moistened with sucrose solution increased MS germination of V. dahliae. Olsson and Nordbring-Hertz (1985) found that percentage of MS germination was higher in a mineral salts solution plus sucrose compared with water or mineral salts solution alone.

Chapter 4. Effect of tomato root exudates on pathogen and antagonistic fungi

In tomato plants, Mazzotta et al. (2022) demonstrated that a green extract of olive leaf loaded in chitosan nanoparticles diminished the symptoms of *Verticillium wilt*, and significantly enhanced tomato plant growth. Fernández et al. (2017) noted that an increase of gluconic acid levels in the root exudates of tomato caused enhanced populations and efficiency of *T. asperellum* to control grey mould disease caused by *B. cinerea*. Steinkellner et al. (2009) observed that tomato root exudates increased microconidia germination for antagonistic *F. oxysporum* strains.

Numerous studies have demonstrated the importance of interactions between tomato plants and rhizosphere microbes through plant root secretions (Tahat et al. 2010, Tan et al. 2013, Panichikkal & Krishnankutty 2021, Raza et al. 2022), but there is little information available about the interaction between *V. dahliae*, *Trichoderma* spp., *Aspergillus* spp., and tomato root exudates. Therefore, the aim of this study was to determine the effect of tomato root exudates and some of the multiple components such as amino acids, organic acid, and sugars on the pathogen *V. dahliae* and the antagonistic fungi *T. harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp. The study also sought to determine whether adding sugars could stimulate MS to germinate, making them more susceptible to antagonisms. The research therefore sought to identify whether adding germination stimulants could possibly increase the effect of biocontrol.

4.2 Materials and methods

4.2.1 Preparation of root exudates

Root exudates were prepared by surface-sterilising tomato seeds of cultivar Grosse Lisse with 1 % sodium hypochlorite for 1 min then washing with sterilised water three consecutive times. Sterilisation of cheesecloth, beakers, and Hoagland nutrient solution was achieved by autoclaving at 121°C for 20 minutes. Ten seeds of tomato were placed on a double layer of cheesecloth installed inside the beaker 500 ml at a level that touches the surface of Hoagland nutrient solution (200 ml), and tightly covered by sterile aluminium foil to prevent contamination. All beakers were placed in the growth chamber at 25°C with 16 h light (traditional fluorescent light) and 8 h of darkness. After 21 days, Hoagland nutrient solution with root exudates was collected and kept in the freezer for the next trials. To check microbial contamination, 1ml of root exudates and distributing it into Petri dishes containing PDA and then incubation at 25°C for 5 days to verify whether there was any contamination or not (Ali et al. 2018). The samples were stored inside the freezer until used in trials.

4.2.2 Effect of root exudates on MS germination

To evaluate the effect of root exudates on MS germination of *V. dahliae* DAR31890 strain, sterile water agar (4.5 g/50 ml water) that had been held in a water bath at 60 °C was mixed with 225 ml of

each of the root exudates (RE), Hoagland nutrient solution (HS) and Hoagland nutrient solution plus 1 g/L sucrose (HSS) to get the final concentration 20 g/L water (Alshimaysawe 2018). Then, 20 ml from each were poured into sterilised Petri dishes. Water agar was used as a control treatment. A 1 ml of MS suspension (described previously in Section 3.2.5) was added to the Petri dishes, and they were kept inside the incubator at 25°C for 7 days. Germination percentage of MS was calculated by counting approximately 250–350 in each Petri dish using a stereo microscope at x40 by counting the proportion of MS with visible germ tubes.

4.2.3 Effect of root exudates on pathogen in dual culture

The effect of root exudates on *T. harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp. activity against the pathogen *V. dahliae* DAR31890 strain was studied in dual culture method. *Twenty* ml from each of the root exudates (RE), Hoagland nutrient solution (HS) and Hoagland nutrient solution plus sucrose (HSS) were added to the Petri dishes after amending them with agar (as above). Discs of 8 mm diameter from 5-day old cultures of the antagonistic fungi *T. harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp. were placed on the opposite side from discs of *V. dahliae*. The distance between the discs was 6.5 cm. In control, only the pathogen *V. dahliae* was placed on one side of the Petri dishes. All inoculated plates (three replications) were incubated at $25\pm1^{\circ}$ C for 6 days. The suppression effect of antagonistic fungi was evaluated with the following formula (Ng et al. 2015),

$$Inhibition = \frac{R1 - R2}{R1} \times 100$$

R1 = Radial growth of V. dahliae in the absence of the antagonists (control) R2 = Radial growth of V. dahliae in the presence of the antagonists (treatments).

4.2.4 Effect of root exudates on growth of fungi

Root exudates (RE), Hoagland nutrient solution (HS) and Hoagland nutrient solution plus sucrose (HSS) were used to study their effect on dry weight of fungal mass for the pathogen *V. dahliae* DAR31890 strain and antagonists. *Twenty* ml from all liquid mediums were poured into sterilised tubes (150 ml) then 1ml of an approximately 10⁶ conidia/ml spore suspension of the pathogen and antagonists were added to the tubes. All tubes in three replicates were placed at 25 °C on a rotary shaker at 120 rpm for two weeks. After that, the fungal mass of all the fungi were harvested by filtering through the sterilised Whatman No1 filter paper then dried at 60 °C in the oven for two days and weighed.

4.2.5 Effect of amino acids, organic acid, and sugars on MS germination

In this experiment, the effect of amino acids (alanine, aspartic acid and glutamic acid), organic acids (citric, malic and succinic acids) and sugars (fructose, glucose, maltose and xylose) was studied on MS germination. These compounds were chosen because they are the most abundant components of tomato root exudates (Lugtenberg et al. 1999, Kamilova et al. 2006). To get a 1 g/L concentration, 1g from each of these components was dissolved into 100 ml SDW and sterilised through Millipore filtration (0.22 μ m filter) (Pedrotti et al. 1994, Hassan et al. 2015). The solutions were poured into 1000 ml flakks *containing* slightly cooled sterile water agar (20/900 ml water) and mixed gently to make a final concentration 1 g/L (Kravchenko et al. 2003). Water agar was used as a control treatment. *Twenty* ml of these concentrations individually were placed inside the Petri dishes then 1 ml of MS suspension was spread on top of the agar with gentle mixing. All plates were incubated at 25 °C for 5 days. The results were determined by calculating the percentage of MS germination as above (4.2.2) in each of the Petri dishes.

4.2.6 Interaction between fructose and BCAs for controlling Verticillium wilt under glasshouse conditions

The addition of an MS germination stimulant combined with antagonists was tested in pots. Fructose was used because it is the most abundant sugar in tomato root exudates (Kamilova et al. 2006). Sterilised tomato seeds were planted in small pots (5 cm diameter x 12.5 cm height) filled with nonsterilised soil mixture (Premium Potting Mix, Searles Ltd, Kilcoy QLD, and river sand at: 2:1 v/v). Tomato seedlings (cv. Grosse Lisse) at 3-4 true leaves were transplanted into large pots (20 x 20 cm) containing the same soil as above (one plant per pot). After 1week conidial a suspension of 10^6 conidia/ml of bioagents *T. harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp. were added to the pots by adding 200 ml of the suspension to each pot around the seedlings. Then, 200 ml of conidial suspension (10^6 conidia/ml) of the pathogen *V. dahliae* DAR31890 strain was added to the pots 3 days later. Fructose sugar was prepared in three concentrations 0.5, 1, and 2 g/L. Then, 300 ml of each concentration was added to the pots weekly. All pots in three replicates were put in the glasshouse at $25\pm1^{\circ}$ C and under natural light. After six weeks from transplanting, disease severity was recorded as described previously (Section 3.2.2).

Tomato plant growth parameters (plant height, dry weight of the shoot and root system) were determined.

4.2.7 Statistical analysis

Data were analysed by ANOVA in IBM SPSS 25, using P < 0.05 as the criterion for significance. When appropriate, Tukey's test was used for mean separation.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Effect of root exudates on pathogen MS germination

All treatments had significantly higher germination of MS than the water agar control ($F_{3,8} = 34.03$, P < 0.001, Figure 4.1). *The root exudate treatment was not significantly different from Hoagland nutrient solution.* The germination of MS in Hoagland nutrient solution plus sucrose was significantly greater than in Hoagland nutrient solution alone, showing that sucrose stimulated germination.



Figure 4.1. Effect of Hoagland solution (HS), Hoagland solution plus sucrose (HSS) and root exudates (RE) and water agar (WA) on MS germination of *Verticillium dahliae* DAR31890 strain. Error bars show standard errors (n=3).

4.3.2 Effect of root exudates on inhibition of pathogen growth in dual culture

There was a significant ($F_{2,12} = 26.53$, P < 0.001) effect of the interaction between antagonist species and treatment in inhibition of *V. dahliae* DAR31890 strain in dual culture (Figure 4.2). Results showed that there was no significant difference between the effect of root exudates and Hoagland nutrient solution on the inhibition percentage for the pathogen by either *Trichoderma* or *Aspergillus*. However, adding sucrose to HS significantly reduced the inhibition of *V. dahliae* by *T. harzianum* treatments.



Figure 4.2. Effect of Hoagland solution (HS), Hoagland solution plus sucrose (HSS) and root exudates (RE) on the pathogen *Verticillium dahliae* DAR31890 strain in dual culture method with *Aspergillus* sp. (Asp) and *T. harzianum* (Tri). Error bars show standard errors (n=3).

4.3.3 Effect of root exudates on growth of fungi

There was a significant ($F_{4,18} = 6.72$, P = 0.002) effect of the interaction between fungal species and treatment on growth in liquid culture. The biomass of *Aspergillus* sp. and *V. dahliae* DAR31890 strain was significantly greater in Hoagland nutrient solution plus sucrose (Figure 4.3) than in either root exudates or Hoagland nutrient solution. The biomass of *T. harzianum* did not differ significantly between treatments.



Figure 4.3. Effect of Hoagland solution (HS), Hoagland solution plus sucrose (HSS) and root exudates (RE) on the antagonists and pathogen biomass. Antagonists: *Aspergillus* sp. (Asp), *T. harzianum* (Tri) and *Verticillium dahliae* (Vert). Error bars show standard errors (n=3).

4.3.4 Effect of amino acids, organic acids, and sugars on MS germination

Data for all amino acids, organic acids and sugars were analysed together, but are presented separately in the figures for clarity. There was a significant ($F_{10, 22} = 19.64$, P < 0.001) effect of supplement on

Chapter 4. Effect of tomato root exudates on pathogen and antagonistic fungi

germination of MS. Each individual amino acid significantly stimulated MS germination compared with water agar treatment (Figure 4.4). Similarly, organic acids and sugars also significantly stimulated MS germination, except for malic acid and xylose, which were not significantly different from the water agar treatment (Figure 4.5 and Figure 4.6). Apart from xylose and malic acid, there were no significant differences between the other tested sugars, amino acids, or organic acids when they were analysed together.



Figure 4.4 Effect of amino acids compounds (alanine, aspartic acid and glutamic acid) and water agar (WA) on MS germination of *Verticillium dahliae* DAR31890 strain. Error bars show standard errors (n=3).



Figure 4.5. Effect of organic acids compounds (citric, malic and succinic acids) and water agar (WA) on MS germination of *Verticillium dahliae* DAR31890 strain. Error bars show standard errors (n=3).



Figure 4.6. Effect of sugars (fructose, glucose, maltose, and xylose) and water agar (WA) on MS germination of *Verticillium dahliae* DAR31890 strain. Error bars show standard errors (n=3).

4.3.5 Interaction between fructose and BCAs for controlling Verticillium wilt under glasshouse condition

There was a significant ($F_{9,20} = 22.04$, F < 0.001) effect of treatment on disease severity. The results showed that all biocontrol treatments in the presence or absence of fructose significantly reduced disease severity, compared with the pathogen only treatment, except for *Aspergillus* at 0.5 g/L fructose (Figure 4.7). None of the treatments that included fructose resulted in significantly lower disease severity than either *Aspergillus* or *Trichoderma* alone.



Figure 4.7. Effect of antagonists and fructose (0, 0.5, 1, and 2 g/L) on Verticillium wilt disease severity on tomato Grosse Lisse cultivar whole plants. Antagonists: *Aspergillus* sp. (Asp), *T. harzianum* (Tri) and *Verticillium dahliae* (Vert). Error bars show standard errors (n=3).

There was a significant ($F_{9,20} = 3.88$, F = 0.006) effect of treatment on plant height (Figure 4.8). Infection with *V. dahliae* DAR31890 strain significantly reduced height relative to the uninoculated

control. However, only the treatment with *Trichoderma* plus 2 g/L fructose significantly increased height relative to the *V. dahliae* only treatment.



Figure 4.8. Effect of antagonists and fructose (0, 0.5, 1, and 2 g/L) on tomato Grosse Lisse cultivar height. Antagonists: *Aspergillus* sp. (Asp), *T. harzianum* (Tri) and *Verticillium dahliae* (Vert). Error bars show standard errors (n=3).

There was a significant (F9,20 = 8.57, F < 0.001) effect of treatment on shoot dry weight (Figure 4.9). Infection with *V. dahliae* DAR31890 strain reduced shoot dry weight by half compared with the uninoculated control. Both treatments of antagonistic fungi *T. harzianum* with 2 g/L fructose and *Aspergillus* sp. without fructose significantly increased shoot dry weight of tomato plants compared with the *Verticillium* only treatment (Figure 4.9). All other treatments were not significantly different from the *Verticillium* only treatment. However, none of the antagonist treatments had a significant effect on root dry weight (F_{9.20} = 1.90, F = 0.112, Figure 4.10).





Figure 4.9. Effect of antagonists and fructose (0, 0.5, 1, and 2 g/L) on shoot dry weight of tomato Grosse Lisse cultivar. Antagonists: *Aspergillus* sp. (Asp), *T. harzianum* (Tri) and *Verticillium dahliae* (Vert). Error bars show standard errors (n=3).



Figure 4.10. Effect of antagonists and fructose (0, 0.5, 1, and 2 g/L) on root dry weight of tomato Grosse Lisse cultivar. Antagonists: *Aspergillus* sp. (Asp), *T. harzianum* (Tri) and *Verticillium dahliae* (Vert). Error bars show standard errors (n=3).

4.4 Discussion

In this experiment, we explored the effect of tomato root exudates on the pathogen and on the efficiency of BCAs in controlling tomato Verticillium wilt. The *in vitro* results indicated that there was a significant effect of root exudates on MS germination of the *V. dahliae* DAR31890 strain compared with water agar only. These findings were similar to research completed by Olsson and Nordbring-Hertz (1985) who found that the microsclerotial germination percentage of *V. dahliae* was

Chapter 4. Effect of tomato root exudates on pathogen and antagonistic fungi

higher in a mineral salt solution plus sucrose than in mineral salts solution alone, or water. López-Moral et al. (2022) demonstrated that root exudates from olive cultivars induced MS germination of *V. dahliae* compared with the control treatment (without exudates). Ali et al. (2017a) reported that the addition of root exudates to the Hoagland nutrient solution significantly increased spore germination of the fungus *F. oxysporum* compared to water only. The positive effect of root exudates on MS germination could be due to its nutrient composition, or as an important source of carbon and energy (Vančura et al. 1977, Carvalhais et al. 2011, Alvarez et al. 2012, Mavrodi et al. 2021). If the sources of carbon differ by host genotype, this could explain some of the differences in the characteristics of the pathogen populations (Baergen et al. 1993, Mol & Riessen 1995). The results also showed that MS could well germinate in SDW. This aligns with Sarenqimuge et al. (2022) who found no significant differences solution.

The results showed that adding sucrose to the Hoagland solution reduced inhibition of *V. dahliae* by *T. harzianum* in dual culture experiments. This result could be because the sucrose did not affect the growth of *T. harzianum* but gave an advantage to and stimulated mycelial growth of the pathogen. This is what occurred when adding sucrose to the Hoagland solution, which led to an increase in the fungal weight of the pathogen and antagonistic fungi. These results could be due to the fact that sucrose was the best carbon source for the pathogen and antagonistic fungi (Kravchenko et al. 2003, Grahovac et al. 2021). This was confirmed *in vitro*, when exploring the effect of some root exudate components including amino acids, organic acids and sugars on MS germination of *V. dahliae*.

There was no significant effect of root exudates on the fungal weight of the pathogen and antagonistic fungi compared with the Hoagland nutrient solution. These results could be because the concentration of root exudate in the Hoagland solution was either too high or low. This result aligned with Wang et al. (2015) who observed that high concentrations of root exudates at 400 ml/L reduced spore germination of the fungus *R. intraradices*. Hassan et al. (2015) found that high concentrations of acetic acid (at 10%) inhibited the fungal growth of *A. flavus* and *P. purpurogenum*. Furthermore, it could be that some of the compounds secreted from the roots may have a negative effect on fungal growth, despite potentially being stimulatory for MS germination, as with some organic acid components.

All of the root exudates compounds except malic acid and xylose significantly stimulated MS germination compared with the water agar treatments. These results are consistent with many studies that indicated the role of some root exudate compounds in stimulation of *Verticillium* MS germination (Olsson & Nordbring-Hertz 1985, Vidauri 1998, López-Moral et al. 2022). According to Vidauri (1998), the greatest MS germination of *V. dahliae* was recorded at 7.5 and 11.25 µg/ml amino acid

Chapter 4. Effect of tomato root exudates on pathogen and antagonistic fungi

concentration. Yuxiang et al. (2008) found that alanine was the most active among amino acids compounds in stimulation of spore germination of *V. dahliae*. Congly and Hall (1976) demonstrated that the germination percentage of *V. dahliae* was higher in an aqueous sucrose solution than in salt solutions. The reason for an improvement in germination after adding root exudates compounds, including amino acids, organic acids and sugars to the culture medium, may be that these compounds were considered as an energy source, or due to the carbon content and nutrient requirements for MS germination (Singh & Mukerji 2006, Canarini et al. 2019).

The low germination of MS in malic acid and xylose could be due to the fact that some compounds, when used separately, may not be sufficient to enhance germination of MS. Therefore, MS requires another carbon source for germination. In addition, some compounds may have antifungal activities against pathogens. Barbero-López et al. (2020) demonstrated that propionic acid 1 g/L concentration significantly inhibited growth of all decay fungi.

In glasshouse experiments, it was expected that treatment with fructose might reduce disease, since MS would germinate and interact with BCAs before plant roots grew near them. However, this hypothesis was not supported by the experimental work. The results showed that adding fructose to the soil markedly reduced the effect of the antagonistic fungi against the pathogen, with similar or higher disease severity being observed. This may be due to either competition or preferential utilisation differences between the pathogen and antagonists for carbon source in rhizosphere. Sugars, including fructose, glucose, galactose, and sucrose, are all major sources of carbon and energy in the soil (Lugtenberg et al. 1999, Costa et al. 2002, Pegg & Brady 2002), though their ability to promote growth and their preferences for use by different soil organisms appears largely unexplored.

Therefore, because of the positive effect of root exudate compounds on MS germination, it appears valuable to undertake further work using these compounds to simulate MS germination and to examine their interaction with BCAs before crop planting. Also, all of the BCAs, with and without sugar, showed significantly reduced disease severity and promoted plant growth compared with the pathogen only treatment. This is possibly because protection of the plant by *Trichoderma* and *Aspergillus* depends on mechanisms other than the inhibition of pathogen growth, such as induced resistance or mycoparasitism.

Chapter 5. *Trichoderma harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp. induced systemic resistance in tomato against *V. dahliae* DAR31890

5.1 Introduction

Tomato is ranked as the second most consumed *vegetable* crop in the world, after potato (Behiry et al. 2023). Many pathogens such as fungi, nematodes, bacteria, and viruses attack tomato plants *leading* to serious diseases and yield loss. Among these pathogens, *V. dahliae* is one of the most serious tomato *pathogen*, and causes Verticillium wilt *disease* (Jabnoun-Khiareddine et al. 2009b).

Plants under various pathogens stress can produce many of reactive oxygen species (ROS), including OH, O²⁻, and hydrogen peroxide. Therefore, accumulation of ROS in plant tissues can lead to cellular damage and ultimately cell death (Małolepsza & Różalska 2005, Torres et al. 2006, Zehra et al. 2017b, Rodrigues & Furlong 2022). Hydrogen peroxide accumulation in leaf tissues may increase the activity of several antioxidant enzymes such as peroxidase (PO), catalase (CAT), ascorbate peroxidase (APx), guaiacol peroxidase (GPx), and superoxide dismutase (SOD), which are a major defence mechanism of plants (Xia et al. 2009, Nikraftar et al. 2013, Zehra et al. 2023).

Peroxidase enzyme is a key enzyme of the phenyl propanoic pathway, and its activity increases many times in plant tissues infected by pathogens (Ojha & Chatterjee 2012). It is widespread in plant tissues and important contributor to the defence mechanism of the host by playing an essential role in the biosynthesis of plant cell wall components, which are well known in plant defence responses to pathogens (Kalra et al. 1995). Peroxidase is a ROS source in plants; it is also linked to cell walls. This enzyme regulates and participates in ROS production during the protection of plants against external attacks, and programmed cell death (da Silva et al. 2016).

Biological control agents (BCAs) can protect plants by way of specialised mechanisms such as antagonism, mycoparasitism and secretion of enzymes (Alizadeh et al. 2020, Reghmit et al. 2021), by competition, and by stimulating plant resistance through production of some biochemical compounds by the plant that are active against pathogens (Gajera et al. 2013, Alshimaysawe 2018). During plant-microbe interactions, many metabolites including, but not limited to, low molecular weight compounds, proteins with enzymatic activity, and other secondary metabolites, such as β -1, 3 glucanase, chalcone synthase, PO, polyphenol oxidase (PPO), chitinase, and phenylalanine ammonialyase (PAL), trigger defence mechanisms in the plants against pathogens by increased expression of pathogenesis-related (PR) genes that reduce plant pathogen infection (Hage-Ahmed 2007, Verma et al. 2019, Yu et al. 2022). For example, when the *Trichoderma* spp. come into contact with plant roots, they produce at least three types of elicitors such as peptides, proteins and low-molecular weight compounds that elicit plant defence responses against plant pathogens (Harman et al. 2004).

Nemafree and oxalic acid formulation derived from *A. niger* increase the amount of secondary metabolites, such as total phenolics, lignin, and flavonoids in tomato plants (Yeon et al. 2021).

In the last decade, induced systemic resistance (ISR) has become a widely recognised phenomenon. Many plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR), such as *Pseudomonas* spp., *Bacillus* spp., and *Streptomyces* spp., serve as BCAs by inducing resistance responses in associated plants against a broad range of pathogens (Chowdappa et al. 2013, Fotoohiyan et al. 2015, Suresh et al. 2022). For example, Nithya et al. (2019) reported that *Pseudomonas* sp. VSMKU2 significantly increased total phenol contents activity in crop plants, and that it could be used as a bioinoculant for the management of rice sheath blight. The antagonistic *Bacillus* spp. has been found to enhance antioxidant defence activities in rice leaves and roots (Rais et al. 2017). In addition to PGPR, there are also plant growth promoting fungi (PGPF), such as members of fungal genera *Trichoderma*, *Aspergillus*, *Fusarium*, *Penicillium*, *Piriformospora*, and *Phoma* (Hossain et al. 2017). These fungi can be used as biocontrol *agents* for several pathogens and as PGPF, because they do not harm humans and animals, and are eco-friendly. Their activity is proposed to be due to the production of a series of metabolites inhibiting fungal and bacterial activities, with the advantages of fast growth, strong resistance, and simple nutrition requirements.

The antagonistic properties of *Trichoderma* strains are based on the activation of multiple mechanisms, and act as biocontrol agents against numerous classes of plant pathogens, either directly or indirectly. Recent research indicates that *Trichoderma* spp. can also induce systemic and localised resistance to a wide spectrum of plant pathogens (Harman et al. 2004, Yan et al. 2021). Zehra et al. (2023) demonstrated that the fungus *T. harzianum* enhanced tomato defence-related genes against the pathogen *F. oxysporum* f. sp. *lycopersici* by increasing PAL and PO activities. The fungus *T. harzianum* improved tomato systemic resistance against root-knot nematodes through the accumulation of flavonoids, lignin, phenols, and cellulose as well as via the activity of chitinases, amylase, β -1,3-glucanase, and proteases (Yan et al. 2021). Total phenol and flavonoid contents increased in tomato plants treated with the *T. harzianum* strain KABOFT4 compared to untreated plants (Abo-Elyousr & Marei Almasaudi 2022). According to Fotoohiyan et al. (2015) five isolates of *T. harzianum* stimulated the defence enzymes PO and PAL in pistachio seedlings against *V. dahliae*. The activities of SOD, POD, PAL, and PPO were significantly higher in eggplant leaves treated with *T. harzianum* T23 compared with a *V. dahliae* only treatment (Liu et al. 2014).

Zhao et al. (2018b) found that the fungus *A. tubingensis* had the ability to produce some chemical compounds, such as indole acetic acid, phosphate solubilisation and siderophore production that have positive effects on reducing grey mould disease of tomato while also improving plant *growth* parameters. Salas-Marina et al. (2011) demonstrated that *A. ustus* stimulated systemic resistance in

Arabidopsis thaliana against *P. syringae* and *B. cinerea* through induction of jasmonic and salicylic acid (JA and SA) and defence-related genes in the plant.

However, few studies have reported a biocontrol effect and prevention mechanism of *T. harzianum* on Verticillium wilt in tomato plants (Jabnoun-Khiareddine et al. 2009b, Naraghi et al. 2010), while there appear to be no studies regarding *Aspergillus* sp. Therefore, the aim of this study was to find out whether biocontrol agents could induce tomato plant resistance against *V. dahliae* and promote plant growth.

5.2 Materials and methods

5.2.1 Induction of systemic resistance to V. dahliae DAR31890 strain by the antagonistic fungi

To determine if BCAs T. harzianum and an Aspergillus sp. induced resistance to V. dahliae DAR31890 strain, stem inoculation of tomato with the pathogen V. dahliae was done after BCAs were applied to roots. The experimental design had two factors: roots inoculated with T. harzianum, Aspergillus sp. or uninoculated; and stems inoculated with V. dahliae or uninoculated. There were four replicates of each treatment.

Tomato seeds of Grosse Lisse cultivar were sown in small pots (5 x 12.5 cm), filled with soil mixture as described previously (Chapter 3, 3.2.2). Pots were put on benches inside the glasshouse at 25 ± 1 °C. Tomato seedlings at 3-4 true leaves were removed from the pots and their roots were washed under tap water gently to remove the soil then tomato roots were dipped in the spore suspensions of 10^6 conidia/ml of *T. harzianum* or *Aspergillus* sp. for 60 min. For control treatment, roots of tomato seedlings were dipped in sterile distilled water only. Seedlings were transplanted to larger pots (20 x 20 cm) filled with a soil mixture. Tomato seedlings were inoculated with the pathogen *V. dahliae* after 7 days from transplanting (De Cal et al. 1997). *A wound approximately 0.5 cm long was made with scalpel in the stem, 2-3 cm above the soil surface.* A disc of PDA with 7-day old culture of *V. dahliae* (0.5 cm diameter) was placed on each wound. Each wound was wrapped by cotton and Parafilm. *The treatments included*

- 1. Control (without pathogen and antagonists)
- 2. V. dahliae only (pathogen)
- *3. T. harzianum* only
- 4. Aspergillus sp. only
- 5. T. harzianum + V. dahliae
- 6. Aspergillus sp. + V. dahliae

Cotton and Parafilm were removed 7 days after inoculation of the pathogen. Disease severity, brown discoloration (as described at the end of Section 3.2.2, page 28) and plant growth parameters (leaves

length, plant height, and dry weight) were determined. Leaf length was measured with ruler from the beginning of petiole to the end of the terminal leaflet for the lower leaves.

5.2.2 Determination of enzymatic activity

After three days of treatment with antagonistic fungi *T. harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp. in the above experiment, two or three leaflets were harvested from all tomato seedlings and collected individually inside resealable pouches and brought to the laboratory. Then, a small amount of Polyvinylpolypyrrolidone PVPP and sand were added to labelled microcentrifuge tubes 1ml with 1ml 50 mM potassium acetate buffer (pH 5.0) containing 5 mM glutathione and 1mM of EDTA. Leaflets 0.2 - 0.3 g fresh weight were added to the microcentrifuge tubes and ground well with a micro pestle then all tubes were put inside ice tubes racks then centrifuged at 9,000 g for 5 min (Eppendorf Minispin Plus Centrifuge) (Dann & Deverall 2000). Supernatants were poured into new tubes and stored in the freezer until assay of enzyme activities.

Peroxidase activity was identified by the appearance of pink colour because of guaiacol oxidation with hydrogen peroxide. Guaiacol (Sigma, 50 μ l, 0.02 M), 2.0 ml 0.2 M sodium phosphate buffer pH 5.8, and 0.5 ml 0.38 M were added to the disposable cuvettes 3.0 ml then 100 μ l of plant extract was added. The cuvettes were inverted to mix the ingredients together before being read in the spectrophotometer (Biochrom Libra S11) for optical density at 470 nm for 5 min. Concentration of protein in crude extracts was determined by Bradford Assay with bovine serum albumin (BSA) as standard. Results of peroxidase were calculated as Λ OD ₄₇₀ mg protein ⁻¹ min ⁻¹ (Dann & Deverall 2000).

5.2.3 Statistical analysis

The pot trial was analysed by two-way ANOVA in IBM SPSS 25. One-way ANOVA was used for the enzyme assays. Homogeneity of variance was checked using Levene's test. As a result, the data for stem browning (Figure 5.2) were log-transformed before analysis.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Induction of systemic resistance to V. dahliae DAR31890 strain by the antagonistic fungi.

There were significant main effects of pathogen ($F_{1,18} = 134.85$, P < 0.001) and antagonist ($F_{2,18} = 32.87$, P < 0.001) treatment, *and their interactions* ($F_{2,18} = 38.11$, P < 0.001), on disease severity. The pathogen-only treatment caused wilt symptoms on 66 % of tomato leaves and 7.5 cm *extent of vascular browning* (Figure 5.1 and Figure 5.2). Pre-inoculation with BCAs *T. harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp. significantly reduced disease severity compared with the pathogen only treatments.

The best reduction of disease severity was recorded by *T. harzianum* (Tri + Vert), which was not significantly different from the treatments that had not been inoculated with the pathogen (Figure 5.1). There were significant effects of pathogen ($F_{1,18} = 13.60$, P < 0.002) and of the interaction between pathogen and antagonist ($F_{2,18} = 8.93$, P < 0.002), on the logarithm of the length of browning in the stem. The treatments of *T. harzianum* (Tri + Vert) and *Aspergillus* sp. (Asp + Vert) significantly reduced brown discoloration inside the plant tissue compared with the pathogen only treatment. There was no significant difference between antagonist only treatments and the treatment that had not been inoculated with either antagonists or *Verticillium* (Figure 5.2, $F_{2,18} = 1.24$, P = 0.31).



Figure 5.1. Effect of antagonistic fungi *Trichoderma harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp. (Tri and Asp) on disease severity of tomato (Grosse Lisse) plants inoculated with the pathogen *Verticillium dahliae* DAR31890 strain (Vert). Error bars show standard errors (n=4).



Figure 5.2. Effect of antagonistic fungi *Trichoderma harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp. (Tri and Asp) on stem vascular discoloration extent on tomato (Grosse Lisse) plants inoculated with the pathogen *Verticillium dahliae* DAR31890 strain (Vert). Error bars show standard errors (n=4).

Inoculating tomato seedlings with *V. dahliae* significantly reduced leaf length ($F_{1,18} = 8.33$, P = 0.01). Leaf length of tomato plant was significantly increased by inoculation with *T. harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp. ($F_{2,18} = 16.11$, P < 0.001). However, the interaction between the pathogen and antagonist treatments was not significant ($F_{2,18} = 3.25$, P = 0.06) (Figure 5.3).



Figure 5.3. Effect of antagonistic fungi *Trichoderma harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp. (Tri and Asp) on leaf length of tomato (Grosse Lisse) plants inoculated with the pathogen *Verticillium dahliae* DAR31890 strain (Vert). Error bars show standard errors (n=4).

The main effect of pathogen on plant height was not significant ($F_{1,18} = 0.48$, P = 0.50). However, the effects of antagonist $F_{2,18} = 3.81$, P = 0.04) and the interaction between pathogen and antagonist ($F_{2,18} = 5.25$, P = 0.016) were significant. Plant height was significantly increased in the *T. harzianum* (Tri + Vert) treatment compared with pathogen only (Figure 5.4).



Figure 5.4. Effect of antagonistic fungi *Trichoderma harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp. (Tri and Asp) on plant height of tomato (Grosse Lisse) plants inoculated with the pathogen *Verticillium dahliae* DAR31890 strain (Vert). Error bars show standard errors (n=4).

There was a significant effect of antagonist on shoot dry weight ($F_{2,18} = 17.83$, P = 0.008). Dry weight of the shoots system increased significantly with *T. harzianum* treatments (Tri + Vert) compared with the pathogen only (Figure 5.5) However, the effects of pathogen ($F_{2,18} = 0.02$, P = 0.89) and the interaction between pathogen and antagonist ($F_{2,18} = 2.34$, P = 0.125) were not significant.

There were no significant effects of the pathogen ($F_{1,18} = 1.15$, P = 0.30), antagonists ($F_{2,18} = 2.94$, P = 0.08) or their interaction ($F_{2,18} = 1.01$, P = 0.40) on root dry weight because of the greater variability of root weight measurements (Figure 5.6).



Figure 5.5. Effect of antagonistic fungi *Trichoderma harzianum*, and *Aspergillus* sp. (Tri and Asp) on shoot dry of tomato (Grosse Lisse) plants inoculated with the pathogen *Verticillium dahliae* DAR31890 strain (Vert). Error bars show standard errors (n=4).



Figure 5.6. Effect of antagonistic fungi *Trichoderma harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp. (Tri and Asp) on root dry weight of tomato (Grosse Lisse) plants inoculated with the pathogen *Verticillium dahliae* DAR31890 strain (Vert). Error bars show standard errors (n=4).
5.3.2 Determination of enzymatic activity.

The results showed that peroxidase activity in leaves of tomato plants was not significantly different ($F_{2,21} = 0.71$, P = 0.50) in plants treated with *T. harzianum* or *Aspergillus* sp. compared with untreated control plants (Figure 5.7), but the soluble protein concentration was significantly ($F_{2,21} = 19.07$, P < 0.001) increased in the induced plants compared with the untreated control plants (Figure 5.8).



Figure 5.7. Activity of peroxidase in leaves of tomato plants (Grosse Lisse) after treatment with antagonistic fungi *Trichoderma harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp. (Tri and Asp). Error bars show standard errors (n=8).



Figure 5.8. Soluble protein concentration in leaves of tomato plants (Grosse Lisse) after treatment with antagonistic fungi *Trichoderma harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp. (Tri and Asp). Error bars show standard errors (n=8).

5.4 Discussion

While most studies have focused on direct antagonistic mechanisms between BCAs and plant pathogens, in this chapter the ability of *T. harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp. to induce defence response

in the plant was studied, as well as determination of peroxidase activity in tomato leaves after treatment with a biocontrol agent on plant parts spatially separated from the site of *V. dahliae* inoculation.

Pre-inoculation with BCAs significantly reduced disease severity and brown discoloration of Verticillium wilt. These results are consistent with Jabnoun-Khiareddine et al. (2009b) who found that treatment of tomato seeds with Trichoderma species for three weeks before infection with MS of V. dahliae reduced Verticillium wilt severity and brown discoloration index on tomato plants. These results were also supported by Fotoohiyan et al. (2015) who found that the occurrence of wilt disease in pistachio plants inoculated with Trichoderma isolates seven days before infection with MS of V. dahliae were lower in comparison with plants inoculated with the pathogen V. dahliae alone. Zehra et al. (2017b) reported tomato seedlings treated with F. oxysporum f. sp. lycopersici 3 days after inoculation with T. harzianum and sprayed with SA and JA were protected against Fusarium wilt. Hafiz et al. (2022) demonstrated that pre-treatment of rapeseed roots with both T. harzianum OMG16 and Bacillus velezensis FZB42 restricted V. longisporum infection in roots, and induce the JA and ET hormone signal transduction pathways in rapeseed, which are very important for activating ISR. De Cal et al. (1997) found that applying the fungus P. oxalicum to the tomato roots before stem inoculation with the pathogen F. oxysporum reduced Fusarium wilt severity. Application of elicitors A. fumigatus and R. oryzae one week before infection with F. oxysporum significantly reduced Fusarium wilt disease in tomato plants (Attia et al. 2022a). In another study, Attia et al. (2022b) found that soil treatment or foliar spraying by A. tubingensis, both reduced the severity of F. oxysporum infection in pepper plants.

On the other hand, in our research pre-inoculation with BCAs enhanced tomato plant growth parameters (including plant height, leaf length, and dry weight for shoot system). The results aligned with Zehra et al. (2017b) who found that inoculation of tomato plants with *T. harzianum* and chemical inducers SA and MeJA three days before infection with *F. oxysporum* f. sp. *lycopersici* increased tomato shoot length, root length, and stem diameter compared to a control treatment. These results also align with Nzanza (2012) who found that *T. harzianum* and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) enhanced plant growth and increased tomato root and shoot length. Carrero-Carrón et al. (2016) reported that strains of *T. asperellum* significantly increased olive plant height compared with *V. dahliae* infected plants. Bilginturan and Karaca (2021) showed that *T. atroviride* in combination with the bacteria *P. koreensis* and *B. subtilis* stimulated plant growth and yield values of eggplant compared to plants treated with the pathogen *V. dahliae*. The results are also consistent with Chowdappa et al. (2013) who found that inoculation of tomato seeds with *T. harzianum* and *B. subtilis* led to significant increases in leaf area, fresh weight and length for shoots and roots system. Javed et al. (2020) showed that *A. terreus* significantly enhanced tomato plant growth. Inoculation of tomato

plants with *A. flavus* enhanced their fresh weight and plant length in comparison to untreated plants (Abdel-Motaal et al. 2020).

Contact of BCAs with roots may stimulate plant defences, resulting in reduced disease severity and brown discoloration as a result of delayed pathogen movement within BCAs treated plants (De Cal et al. 1997). This may be due to increased activity of enzymes such as PO, PAL and CHS by BCAs in tomato seedlings infected with *V. dahliae*, which are involved in the polymerisation of proteins and precursors of lignin or suberin in plant cell walls, thus building a physical barrier that can prevent penetration of pathogens in cell walls or movement through vessels (Fotoohiyan et al. 2015, Patel & Saraf 2017, Kumar et al. 2021). Brotman et al. (2013) showed that genes responsible for plant defence are up-regulated during *Trichoderma* colonisation such as ATPSK2, involved in organ morphogenesis and cell proliferation, and ANAC081, known to be associated with increased leaf size and biomass traits.

The results also showed that enzyme activity of peroxidase in leaves of tomato plants was markedly increased in tomato leaf extracts treated with T. harzianum but was not significant compared with untreated control treatments. This may be because the data was only from a single point in time. However, soluble protein concentration was significantly increased in tomato leaves treated with BCAs. These results are consistent with Elkelish et al. (2020) who found that pre-treatment with T. harzianum increased accumulation of soluble protein and other compounds such as proline, flavonoids, anthocyanin, and sugars in tomato seedlings. Our results are also supported by Houssien et al. (2010) who found that combining T. harzianum with salicylic acid (SA) increased soluble protein concentrations in tomato plants. Yu et al. (2021b) demonstrated the tomato seedlings treated by T. asperellum TaspHu1 significantly increased the soluble protein content and soluble sugar content in tomato. Hussein et al. (2021) reported that soluble proteins significantly increased in tomato plants treated with different concentrations of T. harzianum (10^5 and 10^7 spores/mL). It is worth noting that application of A. ochraceus individually or under saline stress conditions led to enhancement in the soluble protein contents of barley plants (Badawy et al. 2021). The inoculation of A. japonicus increased the nutritional quality of phenolic, flavonoids, soluble sugars, proteins, and lipids in soybean and sunflower plants in comparison to endophyte-free plants (Hamayun et al. 2018). Several studies indicate that the activation of peroxidase and other enzymes by biocontrol agents plays a crucial role in the resistance of plants to pathogenic attack (Yedidia et al. 1999, Sreedevi et al. 2011, Madhavi et al. 2018). Chowdappa et al. (2013) have showed that systemic resistance in tomato seedlings against early and late blight infection was significantly enhanced through induction of growth hormones and defence enzymes including PO, PPO, and superoxide by B. subtilis OTPB1 and T. harzianum OTPB3. Yadav et al. (2021) reported that enhancing the activity of defence-related enzymes such as PO, POX, PPO, CAT, and PAL by *T. harzianum*, *T. asperellum* and *Paenibacillus dendritiformis* increased plant resistance against anthracnose caused by *Colletotrichum truncatum*.

The enhanced peroxidase activity by BCAs may contribute to induced resistance by increasing the concentration of free radicals and by helping to generate hydrogen peroxide, which is considered toxic to diverse microbial pathogens (Hammerschmidt et al. 1982).

Based on the present study, it can be concluded that the pre-application of antagonists *T. harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp. before *V. dahliae* infection significantly decreased subsequent disease severity, improved growth and development of host plants, and enhanced total soluble proteins. This enhancement of peroxidase enzymatic activity suggests that application of BCAs may enhance tomato plant capacity to protect themselves against subsequent pathogen infection through the stimulation of plant defences. Consequently, this study provided further knowledge of biological control management of Verticillium wilt disease of tomato plants, based on activation of plant defence (systemic resistance).

6.1 Introduction

V. dahliae is a soil-borne fungus that can contribute to vascular disease of several plants, including tomato, and result in significant economic loss. Therefore, various methods have been used to control this pathogen including biocontrol which offers a potential non-chemical means of controlling plant diseases. In this context, antagonistic fungi are an exciting and rapidly evolving field of research (Moosavi & Zare 2020), and there is increasing interest in exploiting fungal BCAs against plant pathogens due to well-known biological control mechanism such as fungal parasitism, antibiosis, competition for nutrients and space, as well as the induction of defensive responses in plants (Harman 2006). Fungal BCAs have gained wide acceptance due to their relatively broad spectrum in terms of disease control (Verma et al. 2007). However, the practical application of BCAs often fails to provide complete disease control in the field or under greenhouse conditions (Alabouvette et al. 2006). To address this issue, researchers have attempted to use BCAs in combination with other additives such as chemical products e.g., fungicides; in combination with physical methods e.g., solarization or steam sterilization; and alongside agronomical practices such as the enhancement of suppressive soils (Spadaro & Gullino 2005). Several studies carried out on a large scale showed that combining BCAs with fungicides resulted in higher efficacy and persistence against plant pathogens (Bhai & Thomas 2010, Widmer 2019, Sánchez-Montesinos et al. 2021, Zhang et al. 2021). However, fungicide use has been gradually reduced, due to its negative impacts on human health and on the environment (Zhang et al. 2021). There is no specific fungicide available to control Verticillium wilt (Fradin & Thomma 2006). There are also alternative methods of disease control such as host resistance (Bakade et al. 2022). Therefore, it is necessary to identify alternatives to fungicides to improve efficiency of BCAs.

One of the modern alternatives to fungicides to improve the efficiency of BCAs is to use plant growth elicitors. Elicitors are chemical compounds from biotic sources including carbohydrates, *fungi*, plant growth promoting rhizobacteria, hormones such as salicylic acid (SA), jasmonic acid, gibberellic acid, ethylene, abscisic acid, auxin, and peptide hormones, and abiotic sources include drought, salt, light, and temperature (Bari & Jones 2009, Thakur et al. 2019). The combination of BCAs with elicitors may provide more consistent control levels against plant pathogens than of BCAs or any the components used alone (Giotis et al. 2012).

Among of these elicitors, SA has been found to be active as an antimicrobial agent in several trials as inducers of plant disease resistance (Abdel-Monaim 2013). *SA is a hormone present in plants in the form of free phenolic acid, associated with various functions in the plants and acts as an inducer of defence responses against pathogens* (Raskin 1992, Tian et al. 2007, Hayat et al. 2013). Jabnoun-Khiareddine et al. (2015) found that SA and chitosan could be used as potential inducers of systemic acquired resistance to successfully control tomato phytopathogenic fungi, including *V. dahliae*. Mahesh et al. (2017) found that priming of seeds with SA pre-sowing led to a significant increase in eggplant growth and inducing resistance against *V. dahliae*. Taheri et al. (2021) demonstrated that *SA improved growth and resistance of olive plants through increased phenol and superoxide dismutase activity in plant roots*. Seed treatment with SA significantly induced systemic resistance in chickpea against Fusarium wilt caused by *F. oxysporum f. sp. ciceri* (Sarwar et al. 2005).

SA is among the additives widely used with antagonists for the control of plant diseases (Qin et al. 2003, Rajkumar et al. 2008, Zehra et al. 2017b, Lyousfi et al. 2021). Abdel-Monaim (2013) reported that biocontrol agents *Trichoderma viride* and *Bacillus megaterium* combined with SA were more effective than use of them individually for controlling *F. oxysporum*, *F. solani*, *Rhizoctonia solani* and *Macrophomina phaseolina* that caused root rot and damping off of faba bean plants. According to Ojha and Chatterjee (2012), *T. harzianum* in combination with SA enhanced the activities of peroxidase and polyphenol oxidase in tomato plants against *F. oxysporum*. In addition, Houssien et al. (2010) reported that the combination of *T. harzianum* with SA enhanced tomato defences against *F. oxysporum* f.sp. *lycopersici*.

Thus, the aim of this study was to: (i) evaluate the *in vitro* activity of SA against the pathogen *V*. *dahliae* DAR31890 strain and antagonistic fungi *T. harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp.; and (ii) determine SA efficiency alone or in combination with BCAs against Verticillium wilt, and to elucidate their impacts on tomato growth, under glasshouse conditions.

6.2 Materials and methods

6.2.1 Effect of SA on mycelial growth of the pathogen and antagonistic fungi

The effect of SA on mycelial growth of *V. dahliae* DAR31890 strain, *T. harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp. was studied in culture. Three aqueous solutions of SA were prepared at concentrations 0.5, 1.0 and 2.0 mM, *based on* 0.5 mM = 0.069 g/L, 1 mM = 0.138 g/L, and 2 mM = 0.276 g/L of potato dextrose agar (PDA). About 20 ml of PDA medium amended with three concentrations of SA was poured into each Petri dish. Discs (8 mm diameter) from 5 day old cultures of either the antagonistic fungi or the pathogen were placed in the centre of the Petri dishes. All Petri dishes in three replicates were incubated at $25\pm1^{\circ}$ C with each treatment removed once the control plates had reached full growth (9

Inhibition =
$$\frac{R1 - R2}{R1} \times 100$$

where RI = radial growth of the pathogen or antagonistic fungi in the control plate, and R2 = radial growth of the pathogen or antagonistic fungi in the treatment plates.

6.2.2 Effect of SA on tomato seed germination and seedling vigour

determined by following formula (Gaigole et al. 2011),

Surface sterilized tomato seeds Grosse Lisse cultivar (3.2.6) were soaked in three concentrations of SA 0.5, 1.0 and 2.0 mM by placing 250 seeds in 50 ml of each SA concentration in the sterilized tubes. In control treatments, tomato seeds were soaked in sterile distilled water. All tubes were placed on a rotary shaker at 25°C for 3 hours. Ten seeds were placed on moistened filter paper discs in Petri dishes (Mahesh et al. 2017). Three replicates were used for each concentration. The Petri dishes were put in the incubator at 25°C for 12 days. Seed germination percentage was calculated by following formula,

$$G = \frac{Sgerm}{Stotal} \times 100$$

G = seed germination (%), Sgerm = number of seeds germinated, and Stotal = total number of seeds used. A germination test was used to estimate seedling vigour, which is the extent of damage to seeds (Zhao et al. 2016),

$$VI = G \times (Rt + Sht)$$

where VI = the vigour index, G = seed germination (%), Rt = mean root length, and Sht =mean shoot length.

6.2.3 Effect of SA on Verticillium wilt in glasshouse experiments

Tomato seeds which had been treated with three concentrations of SA (0.5, 1.0 and 2.0 mM) for 3 hours were sown in small pots (5 x 12.5 cm) filled with soil mixture (Premium Potting Mix, Searles Ltd, Kilcoy QLD, and river sand at: 2:1 v/v). The seedlings at 3-4 true leaves were transplanted into large pots (20 x 20 cm) filled with the same soil (single plant/pot). *After five days from transplanting into large pots*, all pots were inoculated with 200 ml of conidial suspension 10⁶ conidia/ml of the pathogen *V. dahliae* DAR31890 strain except control treatments, which used water instead of the inoculum (Mahesh et al. 2017). *Conidial suspension was added to the soil around the plant*. Four replicates were used for each treatment. Disease severity was measured as described previously in

3.2.2. Seed germination and tomato plant *growth* parameters (plant height, dry weight of the shoot and root system) were determined.

6.2.4 Efficacy of combination between SA and biocontrol agents on Verticillium wilt

Effect of biocontrol agents *T. harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp. in combination with SA on tomato Verticillium wilt was studied under glasshouse conditions. *Tomato seeds, which had been soaked at* 0.5 mM SA concentration for 3 hours (Mahesh et al. 2017), were sown in pots (5 x 12.5 cm) filled with non-sterilised soil (as 6.2.3). Seedling at 3-4 true leaves were transplanted in large pots containing 2 kg of soil (single plant/pot). A 200 ml volume of conidial suspension (10^6 conidia/ml) of *T. harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp. were added to the pots three days *after transplanting in large pots*. Inoculum with the pathogen *V. dahliae* (200 ml of conidial suspension 10^6 conidia/ml) occurred 4 days after the treatment with antagonists. *The treatments included*

- 1. Control (without pathogen, antagonists and SA)
- 2. V. dahliae only
- 3. T. harzianum + V. dahliae
- 4. Aspergillus sp. + V. dahliae
- 5. SA + V. dahliae
- 6. T. harzianum + SA + V. dahliae
- 7. Aspergillus sp. + SA + V. dahliae

Four replicates were used for each treatment. As described above, disease severity and plant parameters were determined after six weeks following the application of the pathogen.

6.2.5 Statistical analysis

Data were analysed by ANOVA in IBM SPSS 25. Homogeneity of variance was tested with Levene's test. Data for the effect of concentration of SA on inhibition of mycelial growth (Figure 6.1) were log-transformed before analysis. Tukey's test was used for mean separation in ANOVA tests. The effect of SA on germination was analysed using the Kruskal-Wallis test.

6.3 Results

6.3.1 Effect of SA on mycelial growth of the pathogen and antagonists

There were significant effects of concentration of SA ($F_{2,18} = 10.0$, P = 0.001) and fungus ($F_{2,18} = 24.11$, P < 0.001) on inhibition of growth, but the interaction between these factors was not significant ($F_{4,18} = 1.34$, P = 0.29). The results showed that SA significantly reduced mycelial growth of the fungi, and the degree of inhibition increased with an increase in the concentration (Figure 6.1 and

Figure 6.2). Among the SA concentrations, 2 mM concentration of SA showed the highest percentage of mycelial growth inhibition. Also, significantly higher inhibition percentage of mycelial growth was recorded in *V. dahliae* DAR31890 strain treatment compared with *T. harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp. treatments.



Figure 6.1. Effect of salicylic acid concentrations (0.5, 1.0 and 2.0 mM) on inhibition of mycelial growth of the pathogen and antagonists. Error bars show standard errors (n=3).



Figure 6.2. Effect of salicylic acid concentrations (0.5, 1.0 and 2.0 mM) on inhibition of mycelial growth of the pathogen and antagonists.

6.3.2 Effect of SA on tomato seed germination and seedling vigour

The effect of SA at different concentrations (0.5, 1 and 2 mM) on seed germination was represented in Figure 6.3. Based on the Kruskal-Wallis test, SA concentration had a significant effect on germination (H = 9.67, P = 0.022). Germination was significantly lower at 2 mM SA than for the control or other SA treatments, which did not differ from the control.



Figure 6.3. Effect of salicylic acid concentrations (0.5, 1.0 and 2.0 mM) on tomato (Grosse Lisse) seeds germination. Error bars show standard errors (n=3).

Seedling vigour was also significantly ($F_{3,8} = 36.55$, P < 0.001) affected by SA concentrations (Figure 6.4 and Figure 6.5). The seedling vigour was significantly increased at 0.5 mM concentration of SA compared with the control treatment. However, seedling vigour at 2 mM was significantly reduced compared with the control treatment.



Figure 6.4. Effect of salicylic acid concentrations (0.5, 1.0 and 2.0 mM) on tomato (Grosse Lisse) seedling vigour. Error bars show standard errors (n=3).



Figure 6.5. Effect of salicylic acid concentrations (0.5, 1.0 and 2.0 mM) on tomato seedling vigour.

6.3.3 Effect of SA on Verticillium wilt in glasshouse experiments

The effect of soaking tomato seeds with 0.5, 1, and 2 mM concentrations of SA for 3h before planting was evaluated on disease severity and plant parameters. The effect of treatment was significant ($F_{4,15}$ = 10.48, P < 0.001). The results showed that the severity of disease was significantly reduced at 2 mM concentration of SA compared with the pathogen only treatment (Figure 6.6).



Figure 6.6. Effect of salicylic acid concentrations (0.5, 1.0 and 2.0 mM) on tomato (Grosse Lisse) disease severity. Error bars show standard errors (n=4).

The treatments significantly affected plant height ($F_{4,15} = 9.13$, P = 0.001) and shoot dry weight ($F_{4,15} = 5.00$, P = 0.009). Tomato seeds primed with 0.5 mM concentration of SA showed a significant increase in plant height compared with the pathogen only treatment (Figure 6.7). Also, shoot dry weight was significantly increased at 0.5 mM compared with 2 mM concentration of SA (Figure 6.8), but there was no significant difference between all treatments in their effect on root dry weight ($F_{4,15} = 1.57$, P = 0.23) (Figure 6.9).



Figure 6.7. Effect of salicylic acid concentrations (0.5, 1.0 and 2.0 mM) on tomato (Grosse Lisse) plant height. Error bars show standard errors (n=4).



Figure 6.8. Effect of salicylic acid concentrations (0.5, 1.0 and 2.0 mM) on tomato (Grosse Lisse) shoot dry weight. Error bars show standard errors (n=4).



Figure 6.9. Effect of salicylic acid concentrations (0.5, 1.0 and 2.0 mM) on tomato (Grosse Lisse) root dry weight. Error bars show standard errors (n=4).

6.3.4 Efficacy of combination between SA and biocontrol agents on Verticillium wilt There was a significant effect of treatment on disease severity (F6,21 = 14.11, P < 0.001). The results in Figure 6.10 showed that the combination between 0.5 mM SA and each antagonistic fungus significantly reduced disease severity compared with the control (pathogen only), antagonists by themselves or SA by itself.



Figure 6.10. Effect of the combination between salicylic acid (0.5 mM) and antagonists on tomato (Grosse Lisse) disease severity. Error bars show standard errors (n=4).

The results showed that there was no significant difference between all treatments on plant height compared with the pathogen only treatments ($F_{6,21} = 0.97$, P = 0.47; Figure 6.11).



Figure 6.11. Effect of the combination between salicylic acid (0.5 mM) and antagonists on tomato (Grosse Lisse) height. Error bars show standard errors (n=4).

Treatments significantly affected shoot dry weight ($F_{6,21} = 19.36$, P < 0.001) and root dry weight ($F_{6,21} = 7.38$, P < 0.001). Shoot and root dry weight were significantly increased in treatments that included SA and antagonistic fungi compared with the pathogen only treatment (Figure 6.12 and Figure 6.13). The combination of *Trichoderma* and SA had significantly greater shoot and root dry weight than

either the *Trichoderma* or SA treatments alone. Combining *Aspergillus* with SA gave significantly higher shoot and root dry weight than SA alone, but the increase compared with *Aspergillus* alone was not significant.



Figure 6.12. Effect of the combination between salicylic acid (0.5 mM) and antagonists on tomato (Grosse Lisse) shoot dry weight. Error bars show standard errors (n=4).



Figure 6.13. Effect of the combination between salicylic acid (0.5 mM) and antagonists on tomato (Grosse Lisse) root dry weight. Error bars show standard errors (n=4).

6.4 Discussion

In this chapter, the possibility of improvement of biological control against *V. dahliae* DAR31890 strain through using BCAs and SA in combination was investigated. The effect of three concentrations of SA including 0.5, 1 and 2 mM were studied on mycelial growth of the pathogen *V. dahliae* DAR31890 strain and the antagonistic fungi *T. harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp. and effect of these concentrations on tomato Verticillium wilt under glasshouse conditions.

In vitro data revealed that mycelial growth of the pathogen and antagonists was significantly reduced with increased SA concentration. These results are consistent with previous studies indicating that the inhibitory effect of SA on mycelial growth increased linearly with increasing SA concentrations

(Ozgonen et al. 2001, Qin et al. 2003, Yu et al. 2007, Singh & Singh 2017, Kumar & Bains 2018, Lyousfi et al. 2021). Previous studies have shown that phenolic compounds demonstrate strong antifungal activity (McCue et al. 2000, Medina et al. 2006, Hussin et al. 2009, Arslan & Dervis 2010, Berne et al. 2020), and SA was classified as a hormone present in plants in the form of a free phenolic acid. Therefore, it can be said that the effect of SA on mycelial growth of the pathogen and antagonists may be due to phenolic compounds (Wu et al. 2008, Dong et al. 2010, Panahirad et al. 2014). The inhibitory effect of phenolic compounds may lead to inactivation of intracellular and extracellular enzymes, cytoplasmic membrane damage, and granulation of cytoplasm (Dambolena et al. 2012, Xu et al. 2018). Neto et al. (2015) showed that SA at 2.5 mM caused damage to the conidia plasma membrane of *P. expansum* after 30 minutes of contact with the phenolic compound. Moreover, fungal growth of pathogens and antagonists appears to be pH dependent. Therefore, raising SA concentration may increase the pH value, and thus negatively affect fungal growth (Wheeler et al. 1991, Kredics et al. 2004, Xing et al. 2017, Li et al. 2021).

The results also showed that seed germination and seedling vigour were enhanced at 0.5 mM concentration of SA, and significantly reduced at 2 mM concentration. The results of this study were consistent with several other studies where seed priming with low SA concentrations improved germination rates and seedling vigour (Dolatabadian et al. 2009, Yang et al. 2016, Zanganeh et al. 2020). Mahesh et al. (2017) found that 0.5 mM concentration of SA significantly enhanced eggplant (*Solanum melongena*) seed germination and seedling vigour compared with a control treatment. Similarly, Ghoohestani et al. (2012) found that pre-treatment of tomato seeds by SA at 150 mg/L improved germination and vigour indices in saline conditions, while Rajjou et al. (2006) showed that SA at 0.5 mM concentration. These authors also noted that seed germination was significantly inhibited above 1 mM SA concentration. Anaya et al. (2018) showed that the maximum rate of seed germination of *Vicia faba* of 70% was reached with 0.25 mM and 0.5 mM SA after 5 days under control treatment.

Seed priming with SA may regulate different physiological pathways in plants, which in turn may aid plant growth and development (Rajjou et al. 2006, Ashraf et al. 2010, Singh & Gautam 2013). The improvement in seed germination and seedling vigour may be due to the significant modulation of SA in uptake and metabolism of mineral elements (Gunes et al. 2007, Yusuf et al. 2013, Es-sbihi et al. 2020). For example, pre-sowing seed treatment with 0.5 mM SA significantly increased Fe, cysteine, and chlorophyll content in maize, and conferred tolerance to Pb toxicity in plants (Zanganeh et al. 2020). In research conducted by Chakraborty (2021) on the effect of SA on induction of growth vigour of tomato plant, the author found that trichome density and chlorophyll content in tomato seedlings improved with SA treatment. The enhancement of plant growth at low SA concentrations

could be because SA caused increased cell division at the apical meristem of seedling roots (Ghoohestani et al. 2012). On the other hand, the negative effect of high SA concentrations on seed germination and plant growth is potentially due to oxidative stress, which is either induced by SA or increased superoxide dismutase activity and H_2O_2 accumulation as a result of increased Cu and Zn activities (Rao et al. 1997, Yusuf et al. 2013, Galviz-Fajardo et al. 2020), or it may be that high concentrations of SA inhibit α -amylases in the aleurone layers thought to be essential for seed germination, which are tightly regulated by gibberellic acid and abscisic acid (Xie et al. 2007, Carrera-Castaño et al. 2020)

In the glasshouse experiments, the results demonstrated that 2 mM concentration of SA had reduced Verticillium wilt disease severity, as observed in other studies that have indicated a role for SA in inhibiting plant diseases (Spletzer & Enyedi 1999, Edgar et al. 2006, Mandal et al. 2009, Panahirad et al. 2014). Jabnoun-Khiareddine et al. (2015) found that SA applied as a soil drench at 10 mM concentration had reduced tomato Verticillium wilt and improved plant height and fresh weight for the shoot and root system. Similar effects were reported by Mahesh et al. (2017) who showed that seed priming with SA for 3 hours significantly reduced eggplant Verticillium wilt incidence under greenhouse conditions. Sorahinobar et al. (2022) found that seed priming with 1 mM and 2 mM SA showed a higher level of resistance against *F. graminearum* that causes wheat seedling blight. Gao and Zhang (2013) reported that SA at 0.2 mM induced SAR to *Physalospora piricola* that causes pear ring rot disease.

However, plant height, shoot and root dry weight were significantly increased at 0.5 mM concentration of SA compared with a pathogen only treatment. These results aligned with Madany et al. (2020) who found that seed priming with SA significantly increased the shoot length and dry biomass as well as the root length and dry biomass in tomato seedlings. Chakma et al. (2021) reported that interactions between seed priming of SA and soil moisture regime significantly increased the height, leaf area and shoot dry weight in tomato plants. Mahesh et al. (2017) also found that 0.5 mM concentration of SA significantly increased growth parameters including plant height, number of leaves, and shoot fresh and dry weight in eggplant seedlings. Coşkun et al. (2021) reported that SA at 0.5 and 1mM concentrations significantly improved plant parameters (leaf numbers, shoot diameter, root fresh weight, shoot fresh weight, and shoot dry weight for pepper (*Capsicum annuum* L.).

Seed priming with SA before sowing may enhance diverse cellular, biochemical responses (Conrath et al. 2002), or regulate plant response to disease by inducing antimicrobial defence compounds (phytoalexins), or by activation of defence related enzymes such as β -1,3-glucanase and chitinase (Mahesh et al. 2017). Further, Sorahinobar et al. (2022) have reported that increased ROS activity

after SA treatment can be correlated with increased levels of H_2O_2 related to the induction of hypersensitive responses (HR), which is a kind of programmed cell death at the site of infection with the pathogens. Seeds treated with SA could show increases in the activities of peroxide, polyphenol oxidase and phenylalanine ammonia-lyase which are associated with plant resistance by oxidation and deposition of phenolic compounds in the plant cell wall (Ojha & Chatterjee 2012, Thakker et al. 2013, Narasimhamurthy et al. 2019). Further, application of SA regulates various physiological pathways such as increasing the chlorophyll content in plants, which in turn help plant growth and development (Houssien et al. 2010, Hayat et al. 2013).

As a result, higher concentrations of SA provided better control of disease, but also reduced plant vigour and growth. This may be due to oxidative stress caused by SA. So, the lowest concentration of SA 0.5 mM was chosen to test in combination with the antagonists.

SA was used as a foliar spray in most previous studies. In this study, seeds were soaked in an aqueous solution of SA for 3 hours before planting. The results showed that the combination of SA with *T. harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp. was more efficient in reducing disease severity of the *V. dahliae* DAR31890 strain and increasing plant growth parameters (root and shoot dry weight) than using them individually. The results of this study are in line with Coşkun et al. (2021) who found that the applications of SA and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi had positive contributions to control *V. dahliae* that causes Verticillium wilt on pepper, and enhanced plant growth parameters. Houssien et al. (2010) found that the combination of SA and *T. harzianum* enhanced tomato plant defences against Fusarium wilt. These results also are consistent with those obtained by Zehra et al. (2017b) who found that the combination of *T. harzianum* and SA reduced tomato infection by *F. oxysporum* and significant increase in dry weight of shoot and root. Naserinasab et al. (2011) found that SA and *T. harzianum* decreased tomato infection by nematode *M. javanica* when they were used together. The results of El-Khallal (2007) showed that the combination of SA with jasmonic acid and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi significantly reduced tomato infection by *F. oxysporum*.

Plants pre-treated with SA and the BCAs *T. harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp. together may become primed to respond faster and show stronger activation of defence responses against *V. dahliae* compared with control plants (Zehra et al. 2017a). *This could be due to a higher induction of defence proteins and enzymes in plants that were pre-treated with SA and BCAs* (Zehra et al. 2017b). Several studies have shown that plant root exudates act as chemo-attractants of BCAs (Huang et al. 2014, Lombardi et al. 2018, Zhou et al. 2019, Vives-Peris et al. 2020, Clocchiatti et al. 2021). Therefore, *the improvement in plant health by SA may involve increased root exudates, thus increasing the efficiency of BCAs*.

Finally, it may be concluded that seed priming with SA, following *treatments* by BCAs could provide promising integrated alternatives and more efficiency than using them alone in suppressing the *V*. *dahliae* DAR31890 strain by including a variety of defence and antagonism mechanisms.

Chapter 7. General discussion

The principal aim of this thesis was to study the effect of isolated fungi on growth and activity of the *V. dahliae* DAR31890 strain, and to test whether biological control of Verticillium wilt in tomato could be enhanced by combining with other treatments, especially root exudates and inducers of systemic resistance. This was completed by first obtaining biological control agent (BCA) isolates that could be used against Verticillium wilt disease caused by *V. dahliae*, screening for dual culture, antagonistic activity using a culture filtrate assay *in vitro*, and evaluating the efficiency of these isolates in promoting tomato growth and reducing Verticillium wilt disease incidence under glasshouse conditions. The effect of tomato root exudates and some of the multiple components such as amino acids, organic acids, and sugars was studied on the pathogen *V. dahliae* and the antagonistic fungi. The aim of this study was also to evaluate of efficiency of BCAs on plant growth promotion as well as detection of tomato defence-related enzymes induced by BCAs. The final chapter presented the *in vitro* activity of salicylic acid (SA) against the pathogen *V. dahliae* and antagonistic fungi to determine the efficiency of SA alone or in combination with BCAs against Verticillium wilt under glasshouse conditions.

7.1 Key findings

7.1.1 Isolation and identification of antagonistic fungi for biological control of tomato Verticillium wilt disease (Chapter 3)

A pathogenicity test was completed, involving four strains of *V. dahliae* including DAR 33757 from cotton, DAR 31890 from tomato, DAR 44537 from potato and DAR 81260 from olive, tested on the tomato Grosse Lisse cultivar. The results indicated that all strains of *V. dahliae* caused vascular wilt and increase in tomato disease severity. This could be because this pathogen was able to infect a wide range of plant hosts (Woolliams 1966, Pantelides et al. 2009, Acharya et al. 2020). Bhat and Subbarao (1999) showed that some strains of *V. dahliae* presented differential pathogenicity on various hosts. However, strain DAR31890 from tomato was more virulent on tomato than the other strains. Therefore, this strain was chosen for further investigations in all remaining experiments.

In this study, fifteen fungal isolates were recovered from cotton roots and rhizosphere soil (soil adhering to the roots) in fields at Boggabri, Australia. Although this isolation was not from a field used to cultivate tomato, the results demonstrated that some of the isolated fungi were able to reduce mycelial growth of tomato *V. dahliae* DAR31890 strain in dual culture experiments. Previous studies have indicated the potential efficiency of BCAs isolated from non-host crop or natural habitats against various plant pathogens (Tsahouridou & Thanassoulopoulos 2002, Islam et al. 2014, Syamsia et al.

2021, Xue et al. 2021). There is a high probability that fungi with a similar role in BCAs are also widely present in the natural ecosystems (Islam et al. 2014). Benouzza et al. (2021) found that 15 *Trichoderma* isolates from olive trees significantly reduced mycelial growth of tomato *V. dahliae* in a dual culture test. These effects were due to the ability of the antagonistic fungi to directly parasitize the pathogen, cause antibiosis, and compete for space and nutrients (Rajani et al. 2021, Zhao et al. 2022). Experiments with culture filtrates produced from these fungi indicated that there was a suppressive effect on growth and germination of microsclerotia (MS). This suppression was due to volatile and non-volatile compounds that were able to degrade the cell walls of the pathogen (Naraghi et al. 2010, Raut et al. 2014, Latz et al. 2018).

In glasshouse experiments, where the isolates from the *in vitro* culture work were used to inoculate tomato plants and the supporting soil, suppression of tomato wilt was observed. The highest suppression was recorded by isolates 2 and 7, which were later identified as T. harzianum and an Aspergillus sp., respectively. Interestingly, isolates 2 and 7 were isolated from same place (rhizosphere soil). These results aligned with several previous studies that indicated the importance of rhizosphere soil due to its richness in microbes (Hawkes et al. 2007, Lambers et al. 2009, Mendes et al. 2014, Zhao et al. 2018a, Xu et al. 2022). Higher microbial populations exist in rhizosphere soil than in bulk soil since various compounds such as amino acids, sugars, vitamins, and organic chemicals are exuded by plant roots (Nichols et al. 1997, Manoharachary & Mukerji 2006). In the case of root diseases, the pathogen must interact with the rhizosphere fungi before entering the root tissues. Therefore, antagonism may occur between these fungi and pathogen, affecting its advancement (Whipps 2001, Chapelle et al. 2016, Ali et al. 2017b). Dutta (1981) found that some fungi isolated from tomato rhizosphere including T. viride, Penicillium spp. and Gliocladium spp. were most effective in controlling Verticillium wilt on tomato plants. According to Mao et al. (2020) the strain T. hamatum MHT1134, which was isolated from rhizosphere soil of pepper fields had the largest antagonistic effect against Fusarium wilt.

In addition, four *Aspergillus* spp. isolates significantly decreased the disease severity index of *F. oxysporum* f. sp. *melonis* with an increase of shoot and root dry weights (Boughalleb-M'Hamdi et al. 2018). *A. niger* NBC001, which was isolated from a soybean rhizosphere, significantly suppressed cyst nematode in the field (Na et al. 2021).

Therefore, given both the plate and glasshouse inhibition that isolates 2 and 7 showed toward *V*. *dahliae* DAR31890 and given that there exist several sources of evidence for *T. harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp. to offer pathogen control, these two isolates were selected as BCAs for all subsequent experiments. As these two antagonists are not closely related, they were suitable for testing with

regards to whether any interactions with root exudates or in combination with resistance inducers were general or specific to particular biocontrol agents.

7.1.2 Effect of tomato root exudates on pathogen and antagonistic fungi (Chapter 4)

Root exudates participate in a variety of interactions within the root zone (rhizosphere) such as attracting beneficial or parasitic microorganisms (Lugtenberg & Kamilova 2009, Huang et al. 2014), and play an important role in the process of infection of tomato by *V. dahliae* (Subba-Rao & Bailey 1961). We studied the effect of tomato root exudates and some root exudate components including certain amino acids, organic acids, and sugars known to be found in the root exudates of tomato on the biology of *V. dahliae* DAR31890 strain and on the efficiency of antagonistic fungi *T. harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp.

The results indicated that all treatments (Hoagland nutrient solution, Hoagland nutrient solution plus sucrose, and root exudates in Hoagland nutrient solution), gave significantly higher MS germination than the water agar control. MS germination in Hoagland nutrient solution plus sucrose was significantly greater than in the other solutions. Adding sucrose to the Hoagland solution reduced inhibition of *V. dahliae* by *T. harzianum* in the dual culture experiments and increased the biomass of *Aspergillus* sp. and *V. dahliae* in the liquid culture experiment. This may be because sucrose is an important carbon source, thus increasing competition between the pathogen and antagonistic fungi (Kravchenko et al. 2003, Grahovac et al. 2021). On the other hand, using some of the root exudate compounds individually, such as some amino acids, organic acids and sugars, significantly stimulated MS germination of *V. dahliae* compared with the water agar treatments.

López-Moral et al. (2023) showed that dissolved organic carbon in an exudate solution significantly induced *V. dahliae* MS germination in comparison with a control where exudates were absent. Similar results were reported by Vidauri (1998) who found that the greatest MS germination of *V. dahliae* occurred when amino acids were added at 7.5 and 11.25 μ g/ml. Krigsvold et al. (1982) found that the percentage of MS germination of *Cylindrocladium crotalariae* was significantly higher in root exudates stimulated spore germination of *F. solani*. Root exudates can be loosely classified into two groups: low molecular weight compounds including amino acids, organic acids, sugars, phenolics, and secondary metabolites; and high molecular weight compounds including proteins and complex carbohydrates. These compounds stimulate growth and *act* as chemo attractants of microbes (Bais et al. 2006, Lombardi et al. 2018, Upadhyay et al. 2022).

In glasshouse experiments, attempting to make the pathogen more sensitive to antagonism by adding fructose to stimulate MS germination was not successful. Sugars are considered one of the major

sources of carbon (Campbell et al. 1997, Preston-Mafham et al. 2002, Wang et al. 2021a), so adding fructose to the soil markedly reduced efficiency of BCAs against *V. dahliae*. This confirms the findings of laboratory experiments which indicated that adding sucrose to the solution stimulated MS germination and reduced inhibition of *V. dahliae* by antagonistic fungi. This could be due to competition between the pathogen and other microorganisms for carbon sources in rhizosphere. However, that reduction did not affect the activity of the antagonistic fungi. This may be because these fungi depend on other mechanisms such as mycoparasitism or induced resistance.

Based on the results presented in Chapter 4, it can be concluded that root exudates and some individual compounds, especially sucrose, stimulated MS germination. Therefore, future research may explore the use of different compounds to simulate MS germination, providing further opportunities for biological control of the pathogen before crop planting, since MS become more susceptible to antagonism if they must germinate.

7.1.3 Trichoderma harzianum and Aspergillus sp. induced systemic resistance in tomato against V. dahliae DAR31890 (Chapter 5)

Pre-inoculation of tomato roots (using a method of dipping the plant roots) with *T. harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp. significantly reduced disease severity of the *V. dahliae* DAR31890 strain, and improved plant growth. Previous studies have indicated that *Trichoderma* and some genera of *Aspergillus* elicit plant growth promotion and induction of resistance against a wide range of pathogens. De Meyer et al. (1998) demonstrated that addition of *T. harzianum* T39 to the soil 7 days prior to *B. cinerea* inoculum significantly reduced the intensity of grey rot in lettuce, tomato and pepper. According to Behiry et al. (2023), *T. pubescens* significantly enhanced tomato development and induced systemic resistance (ISR) against *R. solani*. Djonovic et al. (2007) showed that inoculation of maize roots by *T. virens* gave systemic protection of leaves inoculated with *C. graminicola*. Potting mix amended with *T. hamatum* T382 and *Rhizoctonia* P9023 isolate 2 weeks prior to inoculation with *B. cinerea* provided protection for geranium against botrytis blight (Olson & Benson 2007).

The fungus *A. niger* also has the ability to stimulate the activity of four defence-related enzymes in tomato in order to manage pathogens (Goswami et al. 2019). Jin et al. (2019) reported that *A. niger* NBC00 is an effective biocontrol agent against cyst nematode *H. glycines* via stimulation of soybean plant defences. Mahapatra et al. (2015) showed that fungal elicitors from *A. flavus* and *A. parasiticus* triggered systemic acquired resistance in maize against *A. flavus* and *A. parasiticus*, and enhanced growth and development of plant. According to Syamsia et al. (2021) six endophytic fungi including *Daldinia eschscholtzii, Sarocladium oryzae, Rhizoctnia oryzae, Penecillium allahabadense, and*

Aspergillus foetidus promoted cucumber growth by stimulating secondary metabolites. El-Maraghy et al. (2020) showed that pre-treatment with plant growth promoting fungi (PGPF) strains including *A. flavus*, *A. niger*, *P. citrinum*, *P. chrysogenum*, and *T. koningiopsis* stimulated ISR against wilt disease associated with *R. solani*. According to Naziya et al. (2019) 70 fungi isolates including 16 isolates belonged to *Aspergillus* sp. showed significant protection against anthracnose disease caused by *C. capsici* in chilli, and significantly enhanced seed and plant growth parameters.

In the enzymatic activity assay, the results showed that, after dipping tomato seedling roots in the spore suspensions of biocontrol agents, peroxidase activity was not increased in tomato leaves although soluble protein concentration was significantly increased. Wang et al. (2020) revealed that four *T. asperellum* isolates significantly increased the soluble protein level in poplar leaf. According to Kaur and Kumar (2020) the average total soluble protein content was significantly enhanced in mung bean leaf when the soil was treated with *Trichoderma* and other antagonists. Oligosaccharide of a strain of *A. niger* significantly increased soluble protein, as well as phenolic content and peroxidase activity in *Taxus chinensis* leaves (Li et al. 2003).

According to Moradi et al. (2012) soluble proteins and β -1, 3-glucanas activity were higher in chickpea cultivars after inoculation with *B. subtilis*, *T. harzianum* compared to the uninoculated control. Ahmed (2017) found that *Brevibacillus formosus* strain DSM 9885 and *Brevibacillus brevis* strain NBRC 15304 increased soluble proteins levels in potato leaves and enhanced resistance to brown leaf spot that caused by *Alternaria alternata*. Also, the highest increase in soluble proteins and soluble sugar content were determined in tomato plants due to treatment with *Trichoderma* spp. (Yeon et al. 2022).

In the same vein, El-Maraghy et al. (2020) demonstrated that *Aspergillus* and other isolated fungi from wheat rhizosphere soil activated the pathogenesis-related gene, plant defensive chitinase, β -1, 3-glucanase, and increased plant-specific defensive proteins against *R. solani*. In addition, soluble protein contents of barley plants increased as a result of application of *A. ochraceus* individually or under salinity stress (Badawy et al. 2021).

Based on this study and other data, the ability of *T. harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp. to inhibit the growth of the *V. dahliae* DAR31890 strain, to enhance plant growth, and to induce the soluble protein content in tomato leaf supports the application of *T. harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp. as potential bioagents for managing Verticillium wilt disease in tomato and other crops.

7.1.4 Improvement of biocontrol of Verticillium wilt of tomato by the addition of salicylic acid (Chapter 6)

In this experiment, we planned to investigate the possibility of improvement of biological control against the *V. dahliae* DAR31890 strain by combining BCAs with the abiotic elicitor salicylic acid (SA). SA is one of the most important phenolic compounds which is extensively distributed in plants, and is a defence-related plant hormone that acts as a regulatory signal to mediate plant defences against various stresses (Huang et al. 2021).

In vitro, the results showed that the inhibitory effect of SA on mycelial growth of the pathogen and BCAs, and on tomato seed germination and seedling vigour increased with increasing SA concentrations. High concentrations of SA have been associated with inhibition of several fungi in other studies (Kumar & Bains 2018, Lyousfi et al. 2021). In addition to the observation of inhibition, the concentration of SA required in media or seed treatments have been reported as similar to the 2 mM concentrations observed to offer similar inhibition in this study (El-Mergawi & Abd El-Wahed 2020, Palve et al. 2022).

The negative effect of SA at high concentrations may be due to the accumulation of phenolic compounds (Wu et al. 2008, Dong et al. 2010, Panahirad et al. 2014), to an increase in hydrogen peroxide levels as a result of increased Cu, Zn activities, or to oxidative stress which is induced by SA (Yusuf et al. 2013). Increased seedling vigour at low concentrations of SA could be because SA caused increasing cell division at the apical meristem of the seedling roots (Ghoohestani et al. 2012). In glasshouse experiments, seed treatments with a low concentration 0.5 mM of SA significantly

reduced disease severity and increased tomato growth parameters. This may be related to SA stimulating plant defences and enhancing enzymes activity in the plants (Ojha & Chatterjee 2012, Narasimhamurthy et al. 2019).

Amendment of biological control with SA led to enhanced activity of BCAs against *V. dahliae* DAR31890 strain more than using each alone. This study showed that the combination of BCAs with SA significantly reduced disease severity of *V. dahliae* and enhanced shoot and root dry weight of tomato plants. This is consistent with results obtained by Houssien et al. (2010) who found that the combination of SA and *T. harzianum* enhanced plant defences of tomato against Fusarium wilt. According to Jafarbeigi et al. (2020) tomato plants treated with *Trichoderma*, SA, and β -aminobutyric acid (BABA), either individually or in combination, significantly enhanced plant defences against *B. tabaci*.

Tomato treated with *T. harzianum*, *Aspergillus* sp., and SA together showed a faster response and stronger activity for cellular defence after pathogen challenge compared to individual treatments. Considerable improvement in plants treated with BCAs and SA in the current study could be linked

as a defence response stimulated against *V. dahliae* invasion in tomato plants. Therefore, reduced disease incidence in the plant could be indicative of either increased fungal control of the pathogen via competition, antagonism or further up regulation of the plants ISR pathways.

7.2 Conclusion

The results of each chapter supported the goals of this study, which were to examine the research gaps related to the effects of BCAs against Verticillium wilt in tomato plants; to evaluate the relevant modes of action; and to understand potential strategies for control. Isolated T. harzianum and Aspergillus sp. strains from a cotton rhizosphere soil gave the greatest in vitro inhibition of V. dahliae DAR31890 growth and MS germination, and reduced Verticillium wilt disease incidence and promoted tomato growth under glasshouse conditions when compared with the other isolates. Therefore, the first aim of this study was achieved by selecting effective biocontrol agents with different characteristics, for use in subsequent experiments. Tomato root exudates and some of the identified components of tomato exudates, such as amino acids, organic acids, and sugars, significantly stimulated MS germination. This supports the possibility of controlling verticillium wilt after stimulating MS germination. Pre-treatment with BCAs was significantly beneficial in preventing V. dahliae, promoting plant growth and enhancing total soluble proteins. Combining the induction of systemic resistance via SA treatment with BCAs provided better control than either treatment in isolation, suggesting a promising method for improving management of the disease. To conclude, the use of T. harzianum and Aspergillus sp. isolates alone or in combination with SA can control the Verticillium wilt disease caused by V. dahliae, and at the same time promote tomato plant growth. This work presents a new approach for the management of Verticillium wilt disease of tomato plants depends on SA as inducer and suppression of the fungal pathogenicity by applying T. harzianum and Aspergillus sp. as BCAs.

7.3 Suggestions for future studies

The screening resulted in a selection of two interesting biocontrol candidates *T. harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp. *against* the *V. dahliae* DAR31890 strain. These two fungi were isolated from cotton rhizosphere soil. Therefore, it would be useful to conduct further research on beneficial fungi from different crops (non-host) and to investigate their efficiency against pathogens. However, while these two fungi proved very useful in laboratory and greenhouse experiments, further work is needed to test their effectiveness in the field.

There was no significant effect of root exudates on fungal growth and weight of pathogens and antagonists compared to the Hoagland nutrient solution. This may be because the concentration ratio

of root exudates in the Hoagland solution may be high or low. Therefore, it will be necessary to carry out more laboratory studies to identify the concentration ratio of root exudates and their effect on BCAs.

However, some root secretion compounds had stimulated MS germination when used individually. It is experimentally difficult to measure the concentration of compounds that fungi are exposed to in the root zone. However, stimulation of MS by some root secretion compounds in combination with BCAs is considered to have potential to control *V. dahliae*. Stimulation of MS germination to break the resistant dormant phase, and then killing them before infection of the plant by some biotic or abiotic factors could be completed through application of germination stimulants at different times before planting the crop. More work is needed to identify compounds which stimulate germination without giving the pathogen an advantage over the antagonist.

It is evident that plant defences were stimulated after three days of treatment with BCAs through an increase of soluble protein concentrations in the leaves of tomato seedlings. Therefore, it may be helpful to apply BCAs to plants before contact with the pathogen, to give more chance for these plants to stimulate their defences against the pathogens. Further work needs to be completed on how to apply the BCAs in the field to achieve this. For example, seedlings could be treated before transplanting, or BCAs could be applied at the time of sowing of direct seeded tomato.

The combination of SA with BCAs was more efficient than using them alone. This work therefore presents a new approach for the management of biological control of Verticillium wilt disease of tomato plants, whereby the defence of the plant against the pathogen is activated using SA as inducer, combined with suppression of the fungal pathogenicity by applying *T. harzianum* and *Aspergillus* sp. as BCAs. Therefore, the study suggests that there is considerable potential for exploiting SA and BCAs for the management of Verticillium wilt, particularly in cultivars of tomato, and this potential may be better understood by conducting wider experiments and testing other inducers of resistance such as benzothiadiazole. In other crops, benzothiadiazole is often applied to seed, so more work could be completed on application of resistance inducers to seeds or transplants of tomato.

References

- Abbas, H., Weaver, M., Horn, B., Carbone, I., Monacell, J. and Shier, W. 2011. Selection of *Aspergillus flavus* isolates for biological control of aflatoxins in corn. *Toxin Reviews*. 30(2-3): 59-70.
- AydiBen Abdallah, R., Hassine, M., Jabnoun-Khiareddine, M., Haouala, R. and Daami-Remadi, M. 2014. Antifungal activity of culture filtrates and organic extracts of *Aspergillus* spp. against *Pythium ultimum*. *Tunisian Journal of Plant Protection*. 9: 17-30.
- Abdel-Monaim, M.F. 2013. Improvement of biocontrol of damping-off and root rot/wilt of faba bean by salicylic acid and hydrogen peroxide. *Mycobiology*. 41(1): 47-55. 10.5941/MYCO.2013.41.1.47.
- Abdel-Motaal, F., Kamel, N., El-Zayat, S. and Abou-Ellail, M. 2020. Early blight suppression and plant growth promotion potential of the endophyte *Aspergillus flavus* in tomato plant. *Annals of Agricultural Sciences*. 65(2): 117-123.
- Abdelaziz, A., El-Wakil, D., Attia, M., Ali, O., AbdElgawad, H. and Hashem, A. 2022. Inhibition of Aspergillus flavus growth and aflatoxin production in Zea mays L. using endophytic Aspergillus fumigatus. Journal of Fungi. 8(5): 482.
- Abdelkhalek, A., Al-Askar, A., Arishi, A. and Behiry, S. 2022. *Trichoderma hamatum* strain Th23 promotes tomato growth and induces systemic resistance against tobacco mosaic virus. *Journal of Fungi*. 8(3): 228.
- Abdul Ameer, M. and Al-Rekaby, L. 2017. Allelopathic effects of aqueous leaf leachates and root exudations of *Conocarpus erectus* L. trees against the germination and growth of some ornamental plants. *Research Journal of Pharmaceutical Biological and Chemical Sciences*. 8(4): 741-749.
- Abo-Elyousr, K. and Marei Almasaudi, N. 2022. Application of *Trichoderma harzianum* strain KABOFT4 for management of tomato bacterial wilt under greenhouse conditions. *Gesunde Pflanzen*. 74(2): 413-421.
- Abo-Elyousr, K., Abdel-Hafez, S. and Abdel-Rahim, I. 2014. Isolation of *Trichoderma* and evaluation of their antagonistic potential against *Alternaria porri*. *Journal of Phytopathology*. 162(9): 567-574.
- Acharya, B., Ingram, T., Oh, Y., Adhikari, T., Dean, R. and Louws, F. 2020. Opportunities and challenges in studies of host-pathogen interactions and management of *Verticillium dahliae* in tomatoes. *Plants*. 9(1622): 1-31. 10.3390/plants9111622.
- Agrios. 2005 Plant Pathology. 5th eds. New York: Academic Press.

- Ahmed, A. 2017. Biological control of potato brown leaf spot disease caused by Alternaria alternata using Brevibacillus formosus strain DSM 9885 and Brevibacillus brevis strain NBRC 15304. Journal of Plant Pathology and Microbiology. 8(6): 1-8.
- Ait Rahou, Y., Ait-El-Mokhtar, M., Anli, M., Boutasknit, A., Ben-Laouane, R., Douira, A., Benkirane, R., El Modafar, C. and Meddich, A. 2021. Use of mycorrhizal fungi and compost for improving the growth and yield of tomato and its resistance to *Verticillium dahliae*. Archives of Phytopathology and Plant Protection. 54(13-14): 665-690.
- Alabouvette, C., Olivain, C. and Steinberg, C. 2006. Biological control of plant diseases: the European situation. *European journal of plant pathology*. 114: 329-341.
- Albers, C.R. 2013. Vertical distribution of Verticillium dahliae and the impact of nitrate nitrogen on cotton growth, yield, quality and disease development Texas Tech University.
- Albukhari, F.M. 2015. *Verticillium dahliae* causes the fungal wilting disease of cotton plants grown on the Mississippi State North Farm. Mississippi State University, ProQuest LLC.
- Ali, H., Backhouse, D. and Pereg, L. 2017a. Effect of environmental and host factors on biological control of Fusarium wilt by non-pathogenic *Fusarium oxysporum* in tomato. 123.
- Ali, H., Backhouse, D. and Pereg, L. 2018. Effect of Environmental and Host Factors on Biological Control of Fusarium wilt by Non-pathogenic *Fusarium oxysporum* in Tomato. New England.
- Ali, M., Naveed, M., Mustafa, A. and Abbas, A. 2017b. The good, the bad, and the ugly of rhizosphere microbiome. *Probiotics and Plant Health*. 253-290.
- Ali, M., Sina, A., Khandker, S., Neesa, L., Tanvir, E., Kabir, A., Khalil, M. and Gan, S. 2020. Nutritional composition and bioactive compounds in tomatoes and their impact on human health and disease: A review. *Foods.* 10(1): 45.
- Alizadeh, M., Vasebi, Y. and Safaie, N. 2020. Microbial antagonists against plant pathogens in Iran: A review. *Open Agriculture*. 5(1): 404-440.
- Aljawasim, B.D. 2014. Evaluation of PCR-based methods for rapid, accurate detection and monitoring of Verticillium dahliae in woody hosts by real-time polymerase chain reaction. University of Kentucky, Lexington, Kentucky.
- Alsamir, M. 2019. Genetic and physiological analysis of tomato (Solanum lycopersicum L.) adaption under heat and disease stress. PhD thesis. The University of Sydney.
- Alshimaysawe, U. 2018. Factors affecting biocontrol of Rhizoctonia diseases and growth promotion of potato by *Trichoderma* species. *University of New England*. 1-232.
- Alström, S. 2000. Root-colonizing fungi from Oilseed Rape and their Inhibition of *Verticillium dahliae*. *Journal of Phytopathology*. 148(7-8): 417-423.

- Altomare, C., Norvell, W., Björkman, T. and Harman, G. 1999. Solubilization of phosphates and micronutrients by the plant-growth-promoting and biocontrol fungus *Trichoderma harzianum* Rifai 1295-22. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. 65(7): 2926-2933.
- Alvarez, A., Yañez, M., Benimeli, C. and Amoroso, M. 2012. Maize plants (*Zea mays*) root exudates enhance lindane removal by native *Streptomyces* strains. *International Biodeterioration and Biodegradation*. 66(1): 14-18.
- Anaya, F., Fghire, R., Wahbi, S. and Loutfi, K. 2018. Influence of salicylic acid on seed germination of *Vicia faba* L. under salt stress. *Journal of the Saudi Society of Agricultural Sciences*. 17(1): 1-8.
- Angelopoulou, D., Naska, E., Paplomatas, E. and Tjamos, S. 2014. Biological control agents (BCAs) of Verticillium wilt: influence of application rates and delivery method on plant protection, triggering of host defence mechanisms and rhizosphere populations of BCAs. *Plant Pathology*. 63(5): 1062-1069. 10.1111/ppa.12198.
- Arriagada, C., García-Sánchez, M., Díaz, R., Sampedro, I., Aranda, E., García-Romera, I. and Ocampo, J. 2012. Suppressive effect of olive residue and saprophytic fungi on the growth of *Verticillium dahliae* and its effect on the dry weight of tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum* L.). *Journal* of Soil Science and Plant Nutrition. 12(2): 303-313.
- Arslan, M. and Dervis, S. 2010. Antifungal activity of essential oils against three vegetativecompatibility groups of *Verticillium dahliae*. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology. 26(10): 1813-1821.
- Asad, S.A. 2022. Mechanisms of action and biocontrol potential of *Trichoderma* against fungal plant diseases-A review. *Ecological Complexity*. 49: 100978.
- Ashraf, M., Akram, N., Arteca, R. and Foolad, M. 2010. The physiological, biochemical and molecular roles of brassinosteroids and salicylic acid in plant processes and salt tolerance. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*. 29(3): 162-190.
- Ashworth Jr, L., Huisman, O., Harper, D. and Stromberg, L. 1979. Verticillium wilt disease of tomato: Influence of inoculum density and root extension upon disease severity. *Phytopathology*. 69(49): 490-492.
- Atallah, Z., Maruthachalam, K., Du Toit, L., Koike, S., Davis, R., Klosterman, S., Hayes, R. and Subbarao, K. 2010. Population analyses of the vascular plant pathogen *Verticillium dahliae* detect recombination and transcontinental gene flow. *Fungal Genetics and Biology*. 47(5): 416-422. 10.1016/j.fgb.2010.02.003.
- Attia, M., El-Wakil, D., Hashem, A. and Abdelaziz, A. 2022a. Antagonistic effect of plant growthpromoting fungi against Fusarium wilt disease in tomato: in vitro and in vivo study. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*. 194(11): 5100-5118.

- Attia, M., Salem, M. and Abdelaziz, A. 2022b. Endophytic fungi *Aspergillus* spp. reduce Fusarial wilt disease severity, enhance growth, metabolism and stimulate the plant defense system in pepper plants. *Biomass Conversion and Biorefinery*. 1-11.
- Aulakh, M., Wassmann, R., Bueno, C., Kreuzwieser, J. and Rennenberg, H. 2001. Characterization of root exudates at different growth stages of ten rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) cultivars. *Plant Biology*. 3(2): 139-148.
- Azabou, M., Gharbi, Y., Medhioub, I., Ennouri, K., Barham, H., Tounsi, S. and Triki, M.A. 2020.
 The endophytic strain *Bacillus velezensis* OEE1: An efficient biocontrol agent against Verticillium wilt of olive and a potential plant growth promoting bacteria. *Biological Control.* 142: 104168.
- Azarmi, R., Hajieghrari, B. and Giglou, A. 2011. Effect of *Trichoderma* isolates on tomato seedling growth response and nutrient uptake. *African Journal of Biotechnology*. 10(31): 5850-5855. 10.5897/AJB10.1600.
- Badawy, A., Alotaibi, M., Abdelaziz, A., Osman, M., Khalil, A., Saleh, A., Mohammed, A. and Hashem, A. 2021. Enhancement of seawater stress tolerance in barley by the endophytic fungus *Aspergillus ochraceus*. *Metabolites*. 11(7): 428.
- Bader, A., Salerno, G., Covacevich, F. and Consolo, V. 2020. Native *Trichoderma harzianum* strains from Argentina produce indole-3 acetic acid and phosphorus solubilization, promote growth and control wilt disease on tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum* L.). *Journal of King Saud University-Science*. 32(1): 867-873.
- Badri, D. and Vivanco, J. 2009. Regulation and function of root exudates. *Plant, Cell and Environment.* 32(6): 666-681.
- Baergen, K., Hewitt, J. and Clair, D. 1993. Resistance of tomato genotypes to four isolates of Verticillium dahliae race 2. HortScience. 28(8): 833-836.
- Bahram, M. and Netherway, T. 2022. Fungi as mediators linking organisms and ecosystems. FEMS Microbiology Reviews. 46(2): fuab058.
- Bais, H., Loyola-Vargas, V., Flores, H. and Vivanco, J. 2001. Root-specific metabolism: the biology and biochemistry of underground organs. *In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology Plant*. 37(6): 730-741. 10.1079/IVP2001232.
- Bais, H., Weir, T., Perry, L., Gilroy, S. and Vivanco, J. 2006. The role of root exudates in rhizosphere interactions with plants and other organisms. *Annual Review of Plant Biology*. 57: 233-266. 10.1146/annurev.arplant.57.032905.105159.
- Bakade, R., Sundaresha, S. and Lal, M. 2022. Management strategies and alternatives for fungicidal resistance in potato. In: *Pesticides-Updates on Toxicity, Efficacy and Risk Assessment*. IntechOpen. DOI: 10.5772/intechopen.105539.

- Baker, R. 1989. Improved *Trichoderma* spp. for promoting crop productivity. *Trends in Biotechnology*. 7(2): 34-38.
- Barbero-López, A., Hossain, M. and Haapala, A. 2020. Antifungal activity of organic acids and their impact on wood decay resistance. *Wood and Fiber Science*. 52(4): 410-418. https://doi.org/10.22382/wfs-2020-039.
- Barea, J., Pozo, M., Azcon, R. and Azcon-Aguilar, C. 2005. Microbial co-operation in the rhizosphere. *Journal of Experimental Botany*. 56(417): 1761-1778.
- Bari, R. and Jones, J. 2009. Role of plant hormones in plant defence responses. *Plant Molecular Biology*. 69: 473-488.
- Baslam, M. 2023. Advances and New Perspectives in Plant–Microbe Interactions. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*. 24(6): 5143.
- Beckman, C., Mueller, W., Tessier, B. and Harrison, N. 1982. Recognition and callose deposition in response to vascular infection in Fusarium wilt-resistant or susceptible tomato plants. *Physiological Plant Pathology*. 20(1): 1-10.
- Behiry, S., Soliman, S., Massoud, M., Abdelbary, M., Kordy, A., Abdelkhalek, A. and Heflish, A. 2023. *Trichoderma pubescens* elicit induced systemic resistance in tomato challenged by *Rhizoctonia solani*. *Journal of Fungi*. 9(2): 167.
- Belair, G., Vincent, C. and Chouinard, G. 1998. Foliar sprays with *Steinernema carpocapsae* against early-season apple pests. *Journal of Nematology*. 30(4S): 599.
- Bender, C. and Shoemaker, P. 1984. Prevalence of Verticillium wilt of tomato and virulence of *Verticillium dahliae* race 1 and race 2 isolates in western North Carolina. *Plant disease*. 68(4): 305-309.
- Benítez, T., Rincón, A., Limón, M. and Codon, A. 2004. Biocontrol mechanisms of *Trichoderma* strains. *International microbiology*. 7(4): 249-260.
- Benouzza, S., Bellahcene, M. and Fortas, Z. 2021. Biocontrol of *Verticillium dahliae* by native *Trichoderma* strains isolated from Algeria. *Mycopath* 18(2): 59-70.
- Bent, A., Kunkel, B., Dahlbeck, D., Brown, K., Schmidt, R., Giraudat, J., Leung, J. and Staskawicz,
 B. 1994. RPS2 of *Arabidopsis thaliana:* a leucine-rich repeat class of plant disease resistance genes. *Science*. 265(5180): 1856-1860.
- Bergougnoux, V. 2014. The history of tomato: from domestication to biopharming. *Biotechnology Advances*. 32(1): 170-189.
- Berne, S., Kovačević, N., Kastelec, D., Javornik, B. and Radišek, S. 2020. Hop polyphenols in relation to Verticillium wilt resistance and their antifungal activity. *Plants*. 9(10): 1318.
- Bhai, R. and Thomas, J. 2010. Compatibility of *Trichoderma harzianum* (Rifai.) with fungicides, insecticides and fertilizers. *Indian Phytopathology*. 63(2): 145148.

- Bhat, R. and Subbarao, K. 1999. Host range specificity in *Verticillium dahliae*. *Phytopathology*. 89(12): 1218-1225.
- Bhatia, P., Ashwath, N., Senaratna, T. and Midmore, D. 2004. Tissue culture studies of tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum*). *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture*. 78(1): 1-21. 10.1023/B:TICU.0000020430.08558.6e.
- Bhowmik, D., Kumar, K., Paswan, S. and Srivastava, S. 2012. Tomato-a natural medicine and its health benefits. *Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry*. 1(1): 33-43.
- Bilginturan, M. and Karaca, G. 2021. Effects of *Trichoderma* and PGPR applications on growth and Verticillium wilt of eggplant. *Mediterranean Agricultural Sciences*. 34(3): 267-272.
- Bilodeau, G., Koike, S., Uribe, P. and Martin, F. 2012. Development of an assay for rapid detection and quantification of *Verticillium dahliae* in soil. *Phytopathology*. 102(3): 331-343.
- Bollig, K., Specht, A., Myint, S., Zahn, M. and Horst, W. 2013. Sulphur supply impairs spread of *Verticillium dahliae* in tomato. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*. 135: 81-96.
- Boughalleb-M'Hamdi, N., Salem, I. and M'Hamdi, M. 2018. Evaluation of the efficiency of *Trichoderma*, *Penicillium*, and *Aspergillus* species as biological control agents against four soilborne fungi of melon and watermelon. *Egyptian Journal of Biological Pest Control*. 28(1): 1-12.
- Briache, F., El Amri, M., Ennami, M., Amri, M., Triqui, Z. and Mentag, R. 2023. Induction of systemic resistance to *Orobanche crenata* in lentil by exogenous application of salicylic acid and indole acetic acid. *Journal of Plant Protection Research*. 63(1).
- Brotman, Y., Landau, U., Cuadros-Inostroza, A., Takayuki, T., Fernie, A., Chet, I., Viterbo, A. and Willmitzer, L. 2013. *Trichoderma*-plant root colonization: escaping early plant defense responses and activation of the antioxidant machinery for saline stress tolerance. *PLoS Pathogens*. 9(3): e1003221.
- Bruck, D.J. 2009. Impact of fungicides on *Metarhizium anisopliae* in the rhizosphere, bulk soil and in vitro. *Biocontrol.* 54(4): 597-606. 10.1007/s10526-009-9213-1.
- Brzezinska, M. and Jankiewicz, U. 2012. Production of antifungal chitinase by *Aspergillus niger* LOCK 62 and its potential role in the biological control. *Current Microbiology*. 65: 666-672.
- Bubici, G., Amenduni, M., Colella, C., D'amico, M. and Cirulli, M. 2006. Efficacy of acibenzolar-Smethyl and two strobilurins, azoxystrobin and trifloxystrobin, for the control of corky root of tomato and verticillium wilt of eggplant. *Crop Protection*. 25(8): 814-820.
- Bubici, G. and Cirulli, M. 2008. Integrated management of Verticillium wilt of tomato. In: Bubici, G. (ed.) *Integrated management of diseases caused by fungi, phytoplasma and bacteria*. Springer. pp. 225-242.
- Bugbee, W. and Sappenfield, W. 1970. Effect of Verticillium wilt on cotton yield, fiber properties, and seed quality. *Crop Science*. 10(6): 649-652.

- Buhtz, A., Hohe, A., Schwarz, D. and Grosch, R. 2017. Effects of *Verticillium dahliae* on tomato root morphology considering plant growth response and defence. *Plant Pathology*. 66(4): 667-676. 10.1111/ppa.12595.
- Bull, C., Shetty, K. and Subbarao, K. 2002. Interactions between myxobacteria, plant pathogenic fungi, and biocontrol agents. *Plant Disease*. 86(8): 889-896.
- Calpas, J.T. 1991. Distribution of Verticillium albo-atrum on the root systems of resistant and susceptible alfalfa. Simon Fraser University.
- Campbell, C., Grayston, S. and Hirst, D. 1997. Use of rhizosphere carbon sources in sole carbon source tests to discriminate soil microbial communities. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*. 30(1): 33-41.
- Canarini, A., Kaiser, C., Merchant, A., Richter, A. and Wanek, W. 2019. Root exudation of primary metabolites: mechanisms and their roles in plant responses to environmental stimuli. *Frontiers in Plant Science*. 10: 157.
- Cao, X., Jiang, Z., Yi, Y., Yang, Y., Ke, L., Pei, Z. and Zhu, S. 2017. Biotic and abiotic stresses activate different Ca2+ permeable channels in *Arabidopsis*. *Frontiers in plant science*. 8: 83.
- Carder, J., Hignett, R. and Swinburne, T. 1987. Relationship between the virulence of hop isolates of *Verticillium albo-atrum* and their in vitro secretion of cell-wall degrading enzymes. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology*. 31(3): 441-452.
- Carrera-Castaño, G., Calleja-Cabrera, J., Pernas, M., Gómez, L. and Oñate-Sánchez, L. 2020. updated overview on the regulation of seed germination

Plants. 9: 703. doi:10.3390/plants9060703

- Carrero-Carrón, I., Trapero-Casas, J., Olivares-García, C., Monte, E., Hermosa, R. and Jiménez-Díaz,
 R. 2016. *Trichoderma asperellum* is effective for biocontrol of Verticillium wilt in olive caused by the defoliating pathotype of *Verticillium dahliae*. *Crop Protection*. 88: 45-52.
- Carvalhais, L., Dennis, P., Fedoseyenko, D., Hajirezaei, M., Borriss, R. and von Wirén, N. 2011. Root exudation of sugars, amino acids, and organic acids by maize as affected by nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, and iron deficiency. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science*. 174(1): 3-11.
- Chakma, R., Biswas, A., Saekong, P., Ullah, H. and Datta, A. 2021. Foliar application and seed priming of salicylic acid affect growth, fruit yield, and quality of grape tomato under drought stress. *Scientia horticulturae*. 280: 109904.
- Chakraborty, N. 2021. Salicylic acid and nitric oxide cross-talks to improve innate immunity and plant vigor in tomato against *Fusarium oxysporum* stress. *Plant Cell Reports*. 40(8): 1415-1427.
- Chapelle, E., Mendes, R., Bakker, P. and Raaijmakers, J. 2016. Fungal invasion of the rhizosphere microbiome. *The ISME journal*. 10(1): 265-268.

- Chavarro-Carrero, E., Vermeulen, J., E Torres, D., Usami, T., Schouten, H., Bai, Y., Seidl, M. and Thomma, B. 2021. Comparative genomics reveals the in planta-secreted *Verticillium dahliae* Av2 effector protein recognized in tomato plants that carry the V2 resistance locus. *Environmental Microbiology*. 23(4): 1941-1958. 10.1111/1462-2920.15288.
- Chawla, S. 2011. Population dynamics of Verticillium dahliae and Fusarium oxysporum f. sp. vasinfectum over time and their implications for disease development in cotton. Texas Tech University.
- Choi, H. and Ahsan, S. 2022. Biocontrol activity of *Aspergillus terreus* ANU-301 against two distinct plant diseases, tomato Fusarium wilt and potato soft rot. *The Plant Pathology Journal*. 38(1): 33.
- Chowdappa, P., Kumar, S., Lakshmi, M. and Upreti, K. 2013. Growth stimulation and induction of systemic resistance in tomato against early and late blight by *Bacillus subtilis* OTPB1 or *Trichoderma harzianum* OTPB3. *Biological Control.* 65(1): 109-117.
- Clocchiatti, A., Hannula, S., Van den Berg, M., Hundscheid, M. and De Boer, W. 2021. Evaluation of phenolic root exudates as stimulants of saptrophic fungi in the rhizosphere. *Frontiers in Microbiology*. 12: 644046.
- Çolak, N., Eken, N., Ülger, M., Frary, A. and Doğanlar, S. 2020. Mapping of quantitative trait loci for antioxidant molecules in tomato fruit: Carotenoids, vitamins C and E, glutathione and phenolic acids. *Plant Science*. 292: 110393.
- Collins, E., Bowyer, C., Tsouza, A. and Chopra, M. 2022. Tomatoes: An extensive review of the associated health impacts of tomatoes and factors that can affect their cultivation. *Biology*. 11(2): 239.
- Compant, S., Duffy, B., Nowak, J., Clément, C. and Barka, E. 2005. Use of plant growth-promoting bacteria for biocontrol of plant diseases: principles, mechanisms of action, and future prospects. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. 71(9): 4951-4959. 10.1128/AEM.71.9.4951– 4959.2005.
- Congly, H. and Hall, R. 1976. Effects of osmotic potential on germination of microsclerotia and growth of colonies of *Verticillium dahliae*. *Canadian Journal of Botany*. 54(11): 1214-1220.
- Conrath, U., Pieterse, C. and Mauch-Mani, B. 2002. Priming in plant–pathogen interactions. *Trends in Plant Science*. 7(5): 210-216.
- Coşkun, F., Demir, S. and Alptekin, Y. 2021. The effectiveness of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and salicylic acid against *Verticillium dahliae* infecting pepper (*Capsicum annuum* L.). *Applied Ecology and Environmental Research*. 19(6): 5045-5057.
- Costa, E., Teixidó, N., Usall, J., Atarés, E. and Viñas, I. 2002. The effect of nitrogen and carbon sources on growth of the biocontrol agent *Pantoea agglomerans* strain CPA-2. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*. 35(2): 117-120.

- Cowsill, B. 2012. The physics of pregnancy tests: a biophysical study of interfacial protein adsorption. The University of Manchester (United Kingdom).
- da Silva, J., de Medeiros, E., da Silva, J., Tenório, D., Moreira, K., Nascimento, T. and Souza-Motta,
 C. 2016. *Trichoderma aureoviride* URM 5158 and *Trichoderma hamatum* URM 6656 are biocontrol agents that act against cassava root rot through different mechanisms. *Journal of Phytopathology*. 164(11-12): 1003-1011.
- Dambolena, J., López, A., Meriles, J., Rubinstein, H. and Zygadlo, J. 2012. Inhibitory effect of 10 natural phenolic compounds on *Fusarium verticillioides*. A structure–property–activity relationship study. *Food Control*. 28(1): 163-170.
- Dann, E. and Deverall, B. 2000. Activation of systemic disease resistance in pea by an avirulent bacterium or a benzothiadiazole, but not by a fungal leaf spot pathogen. *Plant Pathology*. 49(3): 324-332.
- De Cal, A., Pascual, S. and Melgarejo, P. 1997. Involvement of resistance induction by *Penicillum oxalicum* in the biocontrol of tomato wilt. *Plant Pathology*. 46(1): 72-79.
- De Meyer, G., Bigirimana, J., Elad, Y. and Höfte, M. 1998. Induced systemic resistance in *Trichoderma harzianum* T39 biocontrol of *Botrytis cinerea*. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*. 104: 279-286.
- Deenamo, N., Kuyyogsuy, A., Khompatara, K., Chanwun, T., Ekchaweng, K. and Churngchow, N. 2018. Salicylic acid induces resistance in rubber tree against *Phytophthora palmivora*. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*. 19(7): 1883.
- Deketelaere, S., Spiessens, K., Pollet, S., Tyvaert, L., Rooster, L., Callens, D., França, S. and Höfte, M. 2020. Towards practical application of *Verticillium isaacii* Vt305 to control Verticillium Wilt of cauliflower: exploring complementary biocontrol strategies. *Plants*. 9(11): 1469.
- Deketelaere, S., Tyvaert, L., França, C. and Höfte, M. 2017. Desirable traits of a good biocontrol agent against Verticillium wilt. *Frontiers in Microbiology*. 8: 1186.
- Deng-wei, J., Liu, Y., Ce, S., Min, C. and Qing, Y. 2014. Cloning and characterization of a Solanum torvum NPR1 gene involved in regulating plant resistance to Verticillium dahliae. Acta Physiologiae Plantarum. 36: 2999-3011.
- Devi, P., Tymon, L., Keinath, A. and Miles, C. 2021. Progress in grafting watermelon to manage Verticillium wilt. *Plant Pathology*. 70(4): 767-777.
- Dey, S., Ghose, K. and Basu, D. 2010. Fusarium elicitor-dependent calcium influx and associated ros generation in tomato is independent of cell death. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*. 126(2): 217-228.

- Di Francesco, A. and Baraldi, E. 2021. How siderophore production can influence the biocontrol activity of *Aureobasidium pullulans* against *Monilinia laxa* on peaches. *Biological Control*. 152: 104456.
- Di Francesco, A., Martini, C. and Mari, M. 2016. Biological control of postharvest diseases by microbial antagonists: how many mechanisms of action? *European Journal of Plant Pathology*. 145: 711-717.
- Djonovic, S., Vargas, W., Kolomiets, M., Horndeski, M., Wiest, A. and Kenerley, C. 2007. A proteinaceous elicitor Sm1 from the beneficial fungus *Trichoderma virens* is required for induced systemic resistance in maize. *Plant Physiology*. 145(3): 875-889.
- Dobinson, K., Lecomte, N. and Lazarovits, G. 1997. Production of an extracellular trypsin-like protease by the fungal plant pathogen *Verticillium dahliae*. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*. 43(3): 227-233. 10.1139/m97-031.
- Dolatabadian, A., Modarres Sanavy, S. and Sharifi, M. 2009. Effect of salicylic acid and salt on wheat seed germination. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica Section B–Soil and Plant Science*. 59(5): 456-464.
- Dong, J., Wan, G. and Liang, Z. 2010. Accumulation of salicylic acid-induced phenolic compounds and raised activities of secondary metabolic and antioxidative enzymes in *Salvia miltiorrhiza* cell culture. *Journal of Biotechnology*. 148(2-3): 99-104.
- Dorais, M., Papadopoulos, A. and Gosselin, A. 2001. Greenhouse tomato fruit quality. In: Janick, J. (ed.) *Horticultural Reviews*, Purdue university. pp. 239-319.
- Dulf, F., Vodnar, D., Dulf, E. and Tosa, M. 2015. Total phenolic contents, antioxidant activities, and lipid fractions from berry pomaces obtained by solid-state fermentation of two *Sambucus* species with *Aspergillus niger*. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*. 63(13): 3489-3500.
- Dutta, B.K. 1981. Studies on some fungi isolated from the rhizosphere of tomato plants and the consequent prospect for the control of Verticillium wilt. *Plant and Soil*. 63(2): 209-216.
- Edgar, C., McGrath, K., Dombrecht, B., Manners, J., Maclean, D., Schenk, P. and Kazan, K. 2006. Salicylic acid mediates resistance to the vascular wilt pathogen *Fusarium oxysporum* in the model host *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Australasian Plant Pathology*. 35: 581-591.
- Ehrlich, K. 1987. Effect on aflatoxin production of competition between wild-type and mutant strains of *Aspergillus parasiticus*. *Mycopathologia*. 97: 93-96.
- El-Halmouch, Y., Benharrat, H. and Thalouarn, P. 2006. Effect of root exudates from different tomato genotypes on broomrape (*O. aegyptiaca*) seed germination and tubercle development. *Crop Protection*. 25(5): 501-507. 10.1016/j.cropro.2005.08.005.
- El-Khallal, S. 2007. Induction and modulation of resistance in tomato plants against Fusarium wilt disease by bioagent fungi (*Arbuscular mycorrhiza*) and/or hormonal elicitors (jasmonic acid &
salicylic acid): 1-Changes in growth, some metabolic activities and endogenous hormones related to defence mechanism. *Australian Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences*. 1(4): 691-705.

- El-Maraghy, S., Tohamy, T. and Hussein, K. 2020. Role of plant-growth promoting fungi (PGPF) in defensive genes expression of *Triticum aestivum* against wilt disease. *Rhizosphere*. 15: 100223.
- El-Mergawi, R. and Abd El-Wahed, M. 2020. Effect of exogenous salicylic acid or indole acetic acid on their endogenous levels, germination, and growth in maize. *Bulletin of the National Research Centre*. 44: 1-8.
- El-Rafai, I.M., Asswah, S.M.W. and Awdalla, O.A. 2003. Biocontrol of some tomato disease using some antagonistic microorganisms. *Pakistan Journal of Biological Science*. 6(4): 399-406.
- El-Zik, K.M. 1985. Integrated control of Verticillium wilt of cotton. *Plant Disease*. 69(12): 1025-1032.
- Elad, Y. and Kapat, A. 1999. The role of *Trichoderma harzianum* protease in the biocontrol of *Botrytis cinerea*. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*. 105: 177-189.
- Elkelish, A., Alhaithloul, H., Qari, S., Soliman, M. and Hasanuzzaman, M. 2020. Pretreatment with *Trichoderma harzianum* alleviates waterlogging-induced growth alterations in tomato seedlings by modulating physiological, biochemical, and molecular mechanisms. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*. 171: 103946.
- Es-sbihi, F., Hazzoumi, Z., Benhima, R. and Amrani Joutei, K. 2020. Effects of salicylic acid on growth, mineral nutrition, glandular hairs distribution and essential oil composition in *Salvia officinalis* L. grown under copper stress. *Environmental Sustainability*. 3: 199-208.
- FAOSTAT. 2021. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Available online. https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QCL/visualize.
- Farley, J., Wilhelm, S. and Snyder, W. 1971. Repeated germination and sporulation of microsclerotia of *Verticillium albo-atrum* in soil. *Phytopathology*. 61: 260-264.
- Feng, Y., Wang, X., Du, T., Shu, Y., Tan, F. and Wang, J. 2022. Effects of salicylic acid concentration and post-treatment time on the direct and systemic chemical defense responses in maize (*Zea mays* L.) following exogenous foliar application. *Molecules*. 27(20): 6917.
- Fernández, E., Trillas, M. and Segarra, G. 2017. Increased rhizosphere populations of *Trichoderma* asperellum strain T34 caused by secretion pattern of root exudates in tomato plants inoculated with *Botrytis cinerea*. *Plant Pathology*. 66(7): 1110-1116. 10.1111/ppa.12668.
- Flores, H., Vivanco, J. and Loyola-Vargas, V. 1999. 'Radicle'biochemistry: the biology of root-specific metabolism. *Trends in Plant Science*. 4(6): 220-226.
- Fontana, D., de Paula, S., Torres, A., de Souza, V., Pascholati, S., Schmidt, D. and Dourado Neto, D. 2021. Endophytic fungi: Biological control and induced resistance to phytopathogens and abiotic stresses. *Pathogens*. 10(5): 570.

- Fotoohiyan, Z., Rezaee, S., Bonjar, G., Mohammadi, A. and Moradi, M. 2015. Induction of systemic resistance by *Trichoderma harzianum* isolates in pistachio plants infected with *Verticillium dahliae*. *Journal of Nuts*. 6(2): 95-111.
- Fotoohiyan, Z., Rezaee, S., Bonjar, G., Mohammadi, A. and Moradi, M. 2017. Biocontrol potential of *Trichoderma harzianum* in controlling wilt disease of pistachio caused by *Verticillium dahliae*. *Journal of Plant Protection Research*. 57(2): 185-193. 10.1515/jppr-2017-0025.
- Fradin, E. and Thomma, B. 2006. Physiology and molecular aspects of Verticillium wilt diseases caused by *V. dahliae* and *V. albo-atrum. Molecular Plant Pathology*. 7(2): 71-86.
- Fradin, E., Zhang, Z., Ayala, J., Castroverde, C., Nazar, R., Robb, J., Liu, C. and Thomma, B. 2009. Genetic dissection of Verticillium wilt resistance mediated by tomato Ve1. *Plant Physiology*. 150(1): 320-332.
- Fu, X., Li, C., Zhou, X., Liu, S. and Wu, F. 2016. Physiological response and sulfur metabolism of the V. dahliae-infected tomato plants in tomato/potato onion companion cropping. Scientific Reports. 6(1): 1-11.
- Gaigole, A., Wagh, G. and Khadse, A. 2011. Antifungal activity of *Trichoderma* species against soil borne pathogen. *Asiatic Journal of Biotechnology Resources*. 2(4): 461-465.
- Gajera, H., Domadiya, R., Patel, S., Kapopara, M. and Golakiya, B. 2013. Molecular mechanism of *Trichoderma* as bio-control agents against phytopathogen system–a review. *Current Research in Microbiology and Biotechnology*. 1(4): 133-142.
- Galviz-Fajardo, Y., Bortolin, G., Deuner, S., Amarante, L., Reolon, F. and Moraes, D. 2020. Seed priming with salicylic acid potentiates water restriction-induced effects in tomato seed germination and early seedling growth. *Journal of Seed Science*. 42. e202042031, 2020.
- Gamliel, A. and Katan, J. 1992. Influence of seed and root exudates on fluorescent pseudomonads and fungi in solarized soil. *Phytopathology* 82: 320-327.
- Gao, L. and Zhang, Y. 2013. Effect of salicylic acid on pear leaf induced resistance to Pear ring rot. World Applied Sciences Journal. 22(11): 1534-1539.
- Gao, Z., Jun, C., Pan, Y., Wu, X. and Zhang, Z. 2007. Inhibitory mechanisms of *Trichoderma harzianum* TH-1 against the pathogens of Verticillium Wilt and Fusarium wilt of cotton [J]. *Cotton Science*. 3(001).
- Gelli, A., Higgins, V. and Blumwald, E. 1997. Activation of plant plasma membrane Ca2+-permeable channels by race-specific fungal elicitors. *Plant Physiology*. 113(1): 269-279.
- Geng, L., Fu, Y., Peng, X., Yang, Z., Zhang, M., Song, Z., Guo, N., Chen, S., Chen, J. and Bai, B. 2022. Biocontrol potential of *Trichoderma harzianum* against *Botrytis cinerea* in tomato plants. *Biological Control.* 174: 105019.

- Ghazanfar, M., Raza, M., Raza, W. and Qamar, M. 2018. *Trichoderma* as potential biocontrol agent, its exploitation in agriculture: a review. *Plant Protection*. 2(3).
- Ghisalberti, E. and Sivasithamparam, K. 1991. Antifungal antibiotics produced by *Trichoderma* spp. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*. 23(11): 1011-1020.
- Ghoneim, K. 2014. Predatory insects and arachnids as potential biological control agents against the invasive tomato leafminer, *Tuta absoluta* Meyrick (Lepidoptera: Gelechiidae), in perspective and prospective. *Journal of Entomology and Zoology Studies*. 2(2): 52-71.
- Ghoohestani, A., Gheisary, H., Zahedi, S. and Dolatkhahi, A. 2012. Effect of seed priming of tomato with salicylic acid, ascorbic acid and hydrogen peroxideon germination and plantlet growth in saline conditions. *International Journal of Agronomy Plant Production*. 3: 700-704.
- Ghorbanpour, M., Omidvari, M., Abbaszadeh-Dahaji, P., Omidvar, R. and Kariman, K. 2018. Mechanisms underlying the protective effects of beneficial fungi against plant diseases. *Biological Control.* 117: 147-157.
- Giotis, C., Markellou, E., Theodoropoulou, A., Kostoulas, G., Wilcockson, S. and Leifert, C. 2012. The effects of different biological control agents (BCAs) and plant defence elicitors on cucumber powdery mildew (*Podosphaera xanthii*). *Organic Agriculture*. 2: 89-101.
- Giotis, C., Markelou, E., Theodoropoulou, A., Toufexi, E., Hodson, R., Shotton, P., Shiel, R., Cooper, J. and Leifert, C. 2009. Effect of soil amendments and biological control agents (BCAs) on soilborne root diseases caused by *Pyrenochaeta lycopersici* and *Verticillium albo-atrum* in organic greenhouse tomato production systems. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*. 123(4): 387-400. 10.1007/s10658-008-9376-0.
- Glinwood, R., Pettersson, J., Ahmed, E., Ninkovic, V., Birkett, M. and Pickett, J. 2003. Change in acceptability of barley plants to aphids after exposure to allelochemicals from couch-grass (*Elytrigia repens*). *Journal of Chemical Ecology*. 29(2): 261-274.
- Goicoechea, N. 2009. To what extent are soil amendments useful to control Verticillium wilt? *Pest Management Science*. 65(8): 831-839. 10.1002/ps.1774.
- Goswami, S., Paul, P. and Sharma, P. 2019. Aspergillus niger, a dominant phylloplane coloniser, influences the activity of defense enzymes in Solanum lycopersicum. Journal of Plant Protection Research. 512-518-512-518.
- Grahovac, J., Pajčin, I., Vlajkov, V., Rončević, Z., Dodić, J., Cvetković, D. and Jokić, A. 2021. *Xanthomonas campestris* biocontrol agent: selection, medium formulation and bioprocess kinetic analysis: Original scientific paper. *Chemical Industry and Chemical Engineering Quarterly*. 27(2): 131-142.
- Grunden, E., Chen, W. and Crane, J. 2001. Fungi colonizing microsclerotia of *Verticillium dahliae* in urban environments. *Fungal Diversity*. 8: 129-141.

- Gunes, A., Inal, A., Alpaslan, M., Eraslan, F., Bagci, E. and Cicek, N. 2007. Salicylic acid induced changes on some physiological parameters symptomatic for oxidative stress and mineral nutrition in maize (*Zea mays* L.) grown under salinity. *Journal of Plant Physiology*. 164(6): 728-736.
- Hafiz, F., Moradtalab, N., Goertz, S., Rietz, S., Dietel, K., Rozhon, W., Humbeck, K., Geistlinger, J., Neumann, G. and Schellenberg, I. 2022. Synergistic effects of a root-endophytic *Trichoderma* fungus and *Bacillus* on early root colonization and defense activation against *Verticillium longisporum* in rapeseed. *Molecular Plant-microbe Interactions*. 35(5): 380-392.
- Hage-Ahmed, K. 2007. The effect of root exudates of Solanum lycopersicum L. inoculated with biological control agents and/or arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi on soil-borne pathogenic fungi. Bodenkultur University, BOKU.
- Hajieghrari, B., Torabi-Giglou, M., Mohammadi, M.R. and Davari, M. 2010. Biological potential of some Iranian *Trichoderma* isolates in the control of soil borne plant pathogenic fungi. *African Journal of Biotechnology*. 7(8).
- Halo, B., Al-Yahyai, R. and Al-Sadi, A. 2018. Aspergillus terreus inhibits growth and induces morphological abnormalities in Pythium aphanidermatum and suppresses Pythium-induced damping-off of cucumber. Frontiers in Microbiology. 9(95): 1-12. 10.3389/fmicb.2018.00095.
- Hamayun, M., Hussain, A., Iqbal, A., Khan, S. and Lee, I. 2018. Endophytic fungus Aspergillus japonicus mediates host plant growth under normal and heat stress conditions. BioMed Research International. 2018: 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/7696831
- Hammerschmidt, R., Nuckles, E. and Kuć, J. 1982. Association of enhanced peroxidase activity with induced systemic resistance of cucumber to *Colletotrichum lagenarium*. *Physiological Plant Pathology*. 20(1): 73-82.
- Hanson, L.E. 2000. Reduction of Verticillium wilt symptoms in cotton following seed treatment with *Trichoderma virens*. *Journal of Cotton Science*. 4(4): 224-231.
- Harman, G., Howell, C., Viterbo, A., Chet, I. and Lorito, M. 2004. *Trichoderma* species—opportunistic, avirulent plant symbionts. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*. 2(1): 43-56.
- Harman, G.E. 2006. Overview of mechanisms and uses of *Trichoderma* spp. *Phytopathology*. 96(2): 190-194. 10.1094/PHYTO-96-0190.
- Hassan, R., El-Kadi, S. and Sand, M. 2015. Effect of some organic acids on some fungal growth and their toxins production. *International Journal of Advances in Biology*. 2(1): 1-11.
- Hassine, M., Aydi-Ben-Abdallah, R., Jabnoun-Khireddine, H. and Daami-Remadi, M. 2022. Soilborne and compost-borne *Penicillium* sp. and *Gliocladium* spp. as potential microbial biocontrol agents for the suppression of *anthracnose*-induced decay on tomato fruits. *Egyptian Journal of Biological Pest Control.* 32(1): 20.

Hawkes, C., DeAngelis, K. and Firestone, M. 2007. Root interactions with soil microbial communities and processes. In: *The rhizosphere*. Elsevier. pp. 1-29.

Hayat, S., Ahmad, A. and Alyemeni, M.N. 2013. Salicylic acid. Springer.

- Heflish, A., Abdelkhalek, A., Al-Askar, A. and Behiry, S. 2021. Protective and curative effects of *Trichoderma asperelloides* Ta41 on tomato root rot caused by *Rhizoctonia solani* Rs33. *Agronomy*. 11(6): 1162.
- Heuvelink, E. 2018. Tomatoes. CABI, Wageningen University.
- Heydari, A. and Pessarakli, M. 2010. A review on biological control of fungal plant pathogens using microbial antagonists. *Journal of Biological Sciences*. 10(4): 273-290.
- Hiemstra, J. and Harris, D. 1998. A compendium of Verticillium wilts in tree species. CPRO.
- Him, J., Pelosi, L., Chanzy, H., Putaux, J. and Bulone, V. 2001. Biosynthesis of (1→ 3)-β-d-glucan (callose) by detergent extracts of a microsomal fraction from *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *European Journal of Biochemistry*. 268(17): 4628-4638.
- Hindumathy, C., Shailasree, S., Kini, K. and Shetty, H. 2006. Spore cell wall components of *Aspergillus niger* elicit downy mildew disease resistance in pearl millet. *Phytoparasitica*. 34(1): 72-86.
- Hirooka, T. and Ishii, H. 2013. Chemical control of plant diseases. *Journal of General Plant Pathology*. 79(6): 390-401. 10.1007/s10327-013-0470-6.
- Horticulture Diagnostic Laboratory. 2018. Fusarium and Verticillium Wilt of Tomato. Cornell University.
 - https://s3.amazonaws.com/assets.cce.cornell.edu/attachments/28095/Fusarium_and_Verticillium _Wilts_of_Tomato_1.22.18.pdf?1516652322.
- Hosen, M. and Shamsi, S. 2019. In vitro antagonism of *Trichoderma verede* and *Aspergillus* spp. against a pathogenic seed borne fungus of sesame. *Journal of Bangladesh Academy of Sciences*. 43(1): 17-23.
- Hossain, M., Sultana, F. and Islam, S. 2017. Plant growth-promoting fungi (PGPF): phytostimulation and induced systemic resistance. *Plant-Microbe Interactions in Agro-Ecological Perspectives: Volume 2: Microbial Interactions and Agro-Ecological Impacts.* 135-191.
- Houssien, A., Ahmed, S. and Ismail, A. 2010. Activation of tomato plant defense response against Fusarium wilt disease using *Trichoderma harzianum* and salicylic acid under greenhouse conditions. *Research Journal of Agriculture and Biological Sciences*. 6(3): 328-338.
- Howell, C.R. 2003. Mechanisms employed by *Trichoderma* species in the biological control of plant diseases: the history and evolution of current concepts. *Plant Disease*. 87(1): 4-10.
- Huang, X., Chaparro, J., Reardon, K., Zhang, R., Shen, Q. and Vivanco, J. 2014. Rhizosphere interactions: root exudates, microbes, and microbial communities. *Botany*. 92(4): 267-275.

- Huang, Y., Cai, S., Ruan, X., Chen, S., Mei, G., Ruan, G. and Cao, D. 2021. Salicylic acid enhances sunflower seed germination under Zn2+ stress via involvement in Zn2+ metabolic balance and phytohormone interactions. *Scientia horticulturae*. 275: 109702.
- Huffaker, A., Kaplan, F., Vaughan, M., Dafoe, N., Ni, X., Rocca, J., Alborn, H., Teal, P. and Schmelz,
 E. 2011. Novel acidic sesquiterpenoids constitute a dominant class of pathogen-induced phytoalexins in maize. *Plant Physiology*. 156(4): 2082-2097.
- Hussain, A., Shah, M., Hamayun, M., Qadir, M. and Iqbal, A. 2022. Heavy metal tolerant endophytic fungi Aspergillus welwitschiae improves growth, ceasing metal uptake and strengthening antioxidant system in *Glycine max* L. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*. 29: 15501– 15515. doi.org/10.1007/s11356-021-16640-1.
- Hussein, N., Abdel-Sater, M., Al-Amery, E. and Mahmoud, G. 2021. Effect ot *Trichoderma harzianum* on enhancing the defense ability of tomato plants against *Alternaria cerealis* MT808477. *Journal of Botany and Microbiology* 50(2): 67-92.
- Hussin, N., Muse, R., Ahmad, S., Ramli, J., Mahmood, M., Sulaiman, M., Shukor, M., Rahman, M. and Aziz, K. 2009. Antifungal activity of extracts and phenolic compounds from *Barringtonia racemosa* L.(Lecythidaceae). *African Journal of Biotechnology*. 8(12).
- Inderbitzin, P., Bostock, R., Davis, R., Usami, T., Platt, H. and Subbarao, K. 2011. Phylogenetics and taxonomy of the fungal vascular wilt pathogen *Verticillium*, with the descriptions of five new species. *PloS one*. 6(12): e28341. 10.1371/journal.pone.0028341.
- Inderbitzin, P. and Subbarao, K. 2014. Verticillium systematics and evolution: how confusion impedes Verticillium wilt management and how to resolve it. *Phytopathology*. 104(6): 564-574.
- Islam, S., Akanda, A., Sultana, F. and Hossain, M. 2014. Chilli rhizosphere fungus Aspergillus spp. PPA1 promotes vegetative growth of cucumber (*Cucumis sativus*) plants upon root colonisation. *Archives of Phytopathology and Plant Protection*. 47(10): 1231-1238.
- Ismail, Hamayun, M., Hussain, A., Iqbal, A., Khan, S. and Lee, I. 2020. *Aspergillus niger* boosted heat stress tolerance in sunflower and soybean via regulating their metabolic and antioxidant system. *Journal of Plant Interactions*. 15(1): 223-232.
- Jabnoun-Khiareddine, H., Daami-Remadi, M., Ayed, F. and El-Mahjoub, M. 2009b. Biological control of tomato Verticillium wilt by using indigenous *Trichoderma* spp. *The African Journal of Plant Science and Biotechnology*. 3(1): 26-36.
- Jabnoun-Khiareddine, H., Daami-Remadi, M., Ayed, F., Jebari, H. and El Mahjoub, M. 2007. Incidence of Verticillium wilt of melon in Tunisia. *The African Journal of Plant Science and Biotechnology*. 1: 10-15.

- Jabnoun-Khiareddine, H., Daami-Remadi, M., Hibar, K., Ayed, F. and El Mahjoub, M. 2006a. Pathogenicity of Tunisian isolates of three *Verticillium* species on tomato and eggplant. *Plant Pathology Journal*. 5(2): 199-207.
- Jabnoun-Khiareddine, H., El-Mohamedy, R., Abdel-Kareem, F., Abdallah, R., Gueddes-Chahed, M. and Daami-Remadi, M. 2015. Variation in chitosan and salicylic acid efficacy towards soilborne and air-borne fungi and their suppressive effect of tomato wilt severity. *Journal of Plant Pathology* and Microbiology. 6(11): 1-10. 10.4172/2157-7471.1000325.
- Jafarbeigi, F., Samih, M., Alaei, H. and Shirani, H. 2020. Induced tomato resistance against *Bemisia tabaci* triggered by salicylic acid, β-Aminobutyric Acid, and *Trichoderma*. *Neotropical Entomology*. 49: 456-467.
- Jain, R., Saxena, J. and Sharma, V. 2012. Solubilization of inorganic phosphates by Aspergillus awamori S19 isolated from rhizosphere soil of a semi-arid region. Annals of Microbiology. 62: 725-735.
- Jamil, A. and Kumar, M. 2022. Suppression of Fusarium wilt of eggplant using *Trichoderma harzianum* and carbendazim. *International Journal of Vegetable Science*. 28(2): 144-155.
- Janisiewicz, W., Tworkoski, T. and Sharer, C. 2000. Characterizing the mechanism of biological control of postharvest diseases on fruits with a simple method to study competition for nutrients. *Phytopathology*. 90(11): 1196-1200.
- Javed, A., Shah, A., Hussain, A., Shinwari, Z., Khan, S., Khan, W. and Jan, S. 2020. Potential of endophytic fungus *Aspergillus terreus* as potent plant growth promoter. *Pakistan Journal of Botany*. 52(3): 1083-1086.
- Jegathambigai, V., Wijeratnam, R. and Wijesundera, R. 2009. *Trichoderma* as a seed treatment to control helminthosporium leaf spot disease of *Chrysatidocarpus lutescens*. *World Journal of Agricultural Sciences*. 5(6): 720-728.
- Jiang, C., Fan, Z., Xie, P. and Guo, J. 2016. *Bacillus cereus* AR156 extracellular polysaccharides served as a novel micro-associated molecular pattern to induced systemic immunity to Pst DC3000 in *Arabidopsis*. *Frontiers in Microbiology*. 7: 664.
- Jin, N., Liu, S., Peng, H., Huang, W., Kong, L., Wu, Y., Chen, Y., Ge, F., Jian, H. and Peng, D. 2019. Isolation and characterization of *Aspergillus niger* NBC001 underlying suppression against *Heterodera glycines*. *Scientific Reports*. 9(1): 591.
- Johnson, J., Ludwig, A., Furch, A., Mithöfer, A., Scholz, S., Reichelt, M. and Oelmüller, R. 2019. The beneficial root-colonizing fungus *Mortierella hyalina* promotes the aerial growth of *Arabidopsis* and activates calcium-dependent responses that restrict *Alternaria brassicae*–induced disease development in roots. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*. 32(3): 351-363.

- Jones, D., Thomas, C., Hammond-Kosack, K., Balint-Kurti, P. and Jones, J. 1994. Isolation of the tomato Cf-9 gene for resistance to *Cladosporium fulvum* by transposon tagging. *Science*. 266(5186): 789-793.
- Kale, G., Rewale, K., Sahane, S. and Magar, S. 2018. Isolation of *Trichoderma* spp. from the rhizospheric soils of tomato crop grown in Marathwada region. *Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry*. 7(3): 3360-3362.
- Kalra, A., Rishi, N., Grover, R. and Khurana, S. 1995. Peroxidase activity as related to potato virus X-induced partial resistance of potato leaves to *Alternaria solani Journal of Plant Diseases and Protection*. 102(2): 140-143.
- Kamble, M., Joshi, S., Hadimani, S. and Jogaiah, S. 2021. Biopriming with rhizosphere *Trichoderma harzianum* elicit protection against grapevine downy mildew disease by triggering histopathological and biochemical defense responses. *Rhizosphere*. 19: 100398.
- Kamilova, F., Kravchenko, L., Shaposhnikov, A., Makarova, N. and Lugtenberg, B. 2006. Effects of the tomato pathogen *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. *radicis-lycopersici* and of the biocontrol bacterium *Pseudomonas fluorescens* WCS365 on the composition of organic acids and sugars in tomato root exudate. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*. 19(10): 1121-1126. 10.1094/MPMI -19-1121.
- Karagiannidis, N., Bletsos, F. and Stavropoulos, N. 2002. Effect of Verticillium wilt (*Verticillium dahliae* Kleb.) and mycorrhiza (*Glomus mosseae*) on root colonization, growth and nutrient uptake in tomato and eggplant seedlings. *Scientia Horticulturae*. 94(1): 145-156.
- Karunasinghe, T., Maharachchikumbura, S., Velazhahan, R. and Al-Sadi, A. 2020. Antagonistic activity of endophytic and rhizosphere fungi isolated from sea Purslane (*Sesuvium portulacastrum*) against Pythium damping off of cucumber. *Plant disease*. 104(8): 2158-2167.
- Kaur, K. and Vyas, A. 2021. Suppression of Verticillium wilt of cotton through liquid material and antagonistic fungal strains under natural field conditions. *Materials Today: Proceedings*. 1-13.
- Kaur, K. and Vyas, A. 2022. Suppression of Verticillium wilt of cotton through liquid material and antagonistic fungal strains under natural field conditions. *Materials Today: Proceedings*. 60: 1186-1198.
- Kaur, S. and Kumar, P. 2020. Ameliorative effect of *Trichoderma*, *Rhizobium* and *Mycorrhiza* on internodal length, leaf area and total soluble protein in mung bean (*Vigna radiata* [L.] R. Wilazek) under drought stress. *Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry*. 9(4): 971-977.
- Kaur, S., Samota, M., Choudhary, M., Choudhary, M., Pandey, A., Sharma, A. and Thakur, J. 2022. How do plants defend themselves against pathogens-Biochemical mechanisms and genetic interventions. *Physiology and Molecular Biology of Plants*. 28(2): 485-504.

- Keane, P. and Brown, J. 1997. Disease management: Resistant cultivars. Plant Pathogens and Plant Diseases. JF Brown and HJ Ogle, eds. University of New England, Armidale, Australia. 405-426.
- Kepenekci, I., Hazir, S. and Özdem, A. 2015. Evaluation of native entomopathogenic nematodes for the control of the European cherry fruit fly *Rhagoletis cerasi* L.(Diptera: Tephritidae) larvae in soil. *Turkish Journal of Agriculture and Forestry*. 39(1): 74-79.
- Khan, R., Najeeb, S., Hussain, S., Xie, B. and Li, Y. 2020. Bioactive secondary metabolites from *Trichoderma* spp. against phytopathogenic fungi. *Microorganisms*. 8(6): 817.
- Khedher, S., Kilani-Feki, O., Dammak, M., Jabnoun-Khiareddine, H., Daami-Remadi, M. and Tounsi, S. 2015. Efficacy of *Bacillus subtilis* V26 as a biological control agent against *Rhizoctonia solani* on potato. *Comptes Rendus Biologies*. 338(12): 784-792.
- Khoshmanzar, E., Aliasgharzad, N., Neyshabouri, M., Khoshru, B., Arzanlou, M. and Lajayer, B. 2020. Effects of *Trichoderma* isolates on tomato growth and inducing its tolerance to water-deficit stress. *International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*. 17(2): 869-878.
- Kim, Fravel, D. and Papavizas, G. 1988. Identification of a metabolite produced by *Talaromyces flavus* as glucose oxidase and its role in the biocontrol of *Verticillium dahliae*. *Phytopathology* 78(4): 488-492.
- Kim, T. and Lim, G. 2023. Salicylic acid and mobile regulators of systemic immunity in plants: transport and metabolism. *Plants*. 12(5): 1013.
- Kloepper, J., Ryu, C. and Zhang, S. 2004. Induced systemic resistance and promotion of plant growth by *Bacillus* spp. *Phytopathology*. 94(11): 1259-1266.
- Klosterman, S., Atallah, Z., Vallad, G. and Subbarao, K. 2009. Diversity, pathogenicity, and management of *Verticillium* species. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*. 47: 39-62.
- Köhl, J., Kolnaar, R. and Ravensberg, W. 2019. Mode of action of microbial biological control agents against plant diseases: relevance beyond efficacy. *Frontiers in Plant Science*. 845.
- Kong, W., Ni, H., Wang, W. and Wu, X. 2022. Antifungal effects of volatile organic compounds produced by *Trichoderma koningiopsis* T2 against *Verticillium dahliae*. *Frontiers in Microbiology*. 13: 1013468.
- Korenblum, E., Dong, Y., Szymanski, J., Panda, S., Jozwiak, A., Massalha, H., Meir, S., Rogachev,
 I. and Aharoni, A. 2020. Rhizosphere microbiome mediates systemic root metabolite exudation by
 root-to-root signaling. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 117(7): 3874-3883.
- Kowalska, B. 2021. Management of the soil-borne fungal pathogen–Verticillium dahliae Kleb. causing vascular wilt diseases. Journal of Plant Pathology. 103(4): 1185-1194.
- Kravchenko, L., Azarova, T., Leonova-Erko, E., Shaposhnikov, A., Makarova, N. and Tikhonovich,
 I. 2003. Root exudates of tomato plants and their effect on the growth and antifungal activity of *Pseudomonas* strains. *Microbiology*. 72(1): 37-41.

- Kredics, L., Manczinger, L., Antal, Z., Pénzes, Z., Szekeres, A., Kevei, F. and Nagy, E. 2004. In vitro water activity and pH dependence of mycelial growth and extracellular enzyme activities of *Trichoderma* strains with biocontrol potential. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*. 96(3): 491-498.
- Krigsvold, D., Griffin, G. and Hale, M. 1982. Microsclerotial germination of *Cylindrocladium crotalariae* in the rhizospheres of susceptible and resistant peanut plants. *Phytopathology*. 72(7): 859-864.
- Kruijt, M., De Kock, M. and De Wit, P. 2005. Receptor-like proteins involved in plant disease resistance. *Molecular Plant Pathology*. 6(1): 85-97.
- Kumar and Bains, G. 2018. Effect of salicylic acid on mycelial growth and conidial germination of two isolates of *Fusarium mangiferae*. *International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences*. 7(10): 3704-3710.
- Kumar, K., Thakur, P., Rathore, U., Kumar, S., Mishra, R., Amaresan, N., Pandey, S. and Mishra, M. 2021. Plant beneficial effects of *Trichoderma* spp. suppressing Fusarium wilt and enhancing growth in Tomato. *Vegetos* 35:188–195.
- Kumar, M., Patel, J.S., Kumar, G., Sarkar, A., Singh, H. and Sarma, B. 2017. Studies on *Pseudomonas* and *Trichoderma*-mediated root exudation pattern in chickpea against *Fusarium* oxysporum f. sp. ciceris. Journal of Agricultural Science and Technology. 19(4): 969-978.
- Kumar, S., Srinivasulu, A. and Babu, K. 2018. Symptomology of major fungal diseases on tomato and its management. *Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry*. 7(6): 1817-1821.
- Kurt, S., Dervis, S. and Sahinler, S. 2003. Sensitivity of *Verticillium dahliae* to prochloraz and prochloraz–manganese complex and control of Verticillium wilt of cotton in the field. *Crop Protection*. 22(1): 51-55.
- Lahlali, R., Ezrari, S., Radouane, N., Kenfaoui, J., Esmaeel, Q., El Hamss, H., Belabess, Z. and Barka,E. 2022. Biological control of plant pathogens: A global perspective. *Microorganisms*. 10(3): 596.
- Lambers, H., Mougel, C., Jaillard, B. and Hinsinger, P. 2009. Plant-microbe-soil interactions in the rhizosphere: an evolutionary perspective. *Plant Soil*. 321: 83-115. 10.1007/s11104-009-0042-x.
- Larekeng, S., Restu, M., Tunggal, A. and Susilowati, A. 2019 Isolation and identification of rhizospheric fungus under Mahoni (Swietenia mahagoni) stands and its ability to produce IAA (Indole Acetid Acid) hormones. IOP Publishing.
- Larena, I., Sabuquillo, P., Melgarejo, P. and De Cal, A. 2003. Biocontrol of Fusarium and Verticillium wilt of tomato by *Penicillium oxalicum* under greenhouse and field conditions. *Journal of Phytopathology*. 151(9): 507-512.
- Latz, M., Jensen, B., Collinge, D. and Jørgensen, H. 2018. Endophytic fungi as biocontrol agents: elucidating mechanisms in disease suppression. *Plant Ecology & Diversity*. 11(5-6): 555-567.

- Lawrence, G., Dodds, P. and Ellis, J. 2007. Rust of flax and linseed caused by *Melampsora lini*. *Molecular Plant Pathology*. 8(4): 349-364.
- Leon-Ttacca, B., Arévalo-Gardini, E. and Bouchon, A. 2019. Sudden death of *Theobroma cacao* L. caused by *Verticillium dahliae* Kleb. in Peru and its in vitro biocontrol. *Ciencia y Tecnología Agropecuaria*. 20(1): 133-148. https://doi.org/10.21930/rcta.vol20_num1_art:1251.
- Lewis, J. and Papavizas, G. 1987. Permeability changes in hyphae of *Rhizoctonia solani* induced by germling preparations of *Trichoderma* and *Gliocladium*. *Phytopathology*. 77(5): 699-703.
- Li, F., Matloob, M., Nzabanita, C. and Li, Y. 2021. Growth, sporulation and germination of *Verticillium alfalfae* on media. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*. 161(2): 383-395.
- Li, M., Lan, W., Chen, C. and Yu, L. 2003. The effects of oligosaccharide and spores from Aspergillus niger on the defence responses of Taxus chinensis leaves in vitro. Journal of Phytopathology. 151(10): 540-545.
- Li, T., Zhang, J., Tang, J., Liu, Z., Li, Y., Chen, J. and Zou, L. 2020a. Combined use of *Trichoderma atroviride* CCTCCSBW0199 and brassinolide to control *Botrytis cinerea* infection in tomato. *Plant Disease*. 104(5): 1298-1304.
- Li, Y., Hwang, S., Huang, Y. and Huang, C. 2018. Effects of *Trichoderma asperellum* on nutrient uptake and Fusarium wilt of tomato. *Crop Protection*. 110: 275-282.
- Li, Z., Chang, P., Gao, L. and Wang, X. 2020b. The endophytic fungus *Albifimbria verrucaria* from wild grape as an antagonist of *Botrytis cinerea* and other grape pathogens. *Phytopathology*. 110(4): 843-850.
- Li, Z., Wang, L., Feng, Z., Zhao, L., Shi, Y. and Zhu, H. 2014. Diversity of endophytic fungi from different Verticillium-wilt-resistant *Gossypium hirsutum* and evaluation of antifungal activity against *Verticillium dahliae* in vitro. *Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology*. 24(9): 1149-1161.
- Liu, B., Ji, S., Zhang, H., Wang, Y. and Liu, Z. 2020. Isolation of *Trichoderma* in the rhizosphere soil of *Syringa oblata* from Harbin and their biocontrol and growth promotion function. *Microbiological Research*. 235: 126445.
- Liu, C., Liu, S., Liao, C., Lo, C., Lin, K. and Peng, K. 2021. Cabbage defense response provoked by *Trichoderma* Th-LAAO. *Archives of Microbiology*. 203: 1641-1647.
- Liu, J. and Wang, X. 2020. Tomato diseases and pests detection based on improved Yolo V3 convolutional neural network. *Frontiers in Plant Science*. 11: 898.
- Liu, N., Zhou, B., Zhao, X., Lu, B., Li, Y. and Hao, J. 2009. Grafting eggplant onto tomato rootstock to suppress *Verticillium dahliae* infection: the effect of root exudates. *HortScience*. 44(7): 2058-2062.

- Liu, Z., Zeng, H., He, L., Ye, P., Wei, S., Zhang, Q. and Li, Q. 2014. Effect of *Trichoderma harzianum* T23 on defence enzymes in leaves of eggplants. *Southwest China Journal of Agricultural Sciences*. 27(5): 1945-1948.
- Lo, C. 1998. General mechanisms of action of microbial biocontrol agents. *Plant Pathology Bulletin*. 7(4): 155-166.
- Lombardi, N., Vitale, S., Turra, D., Reverberi, M., Fanelli, C., Vinale, F., Marra, R., Ruocco, M., Pascale, A. and d'Errico, G. 2018. Root exudates of stressed plants stimulate and attract Trichoderma soil fungi. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*. 31(10): 982-994.
- López-Moral, A., Sánchez-Rodríguez, A., Trapero, A. and Agustí-Brisach, C. 2022. Establishment of a method to collect root exudates from olive plants and its validation by determining the effect of root exudates against *Verticillium dahliae*. *Plant and Soil*. 1-18.
- López-Moral, A., Sánchez-Rodríguez, A., Trapero, A. and Agustí-Brisach, C. 2023. Establishment of a method to collect root exudates from olive plants and its validation by determining the effect of root exudates against *Verticillium dahliae*. *Plant and Soil*. 483(1-2): 625-642.
- Lugtenberg, B. and Kamilova, F. 2009. Plant-growth-promoting rhizobacteria. *Annual Review of Microbiology*. 63: 541-556.
- Lugtenberg, B., Kravchenko, L. and Simons, M. 1999. Tomato seed and root exudate sugars: composition, utilization by *Pseudomonas* biocontrol strains and role in rhizosphere colonization. *Environmental Microbiology*. 1(5): 439-446.
- Luna, M., Pereyra, P., Coviella, C., Nieves, E., Savino, V., Gervassio, N., Luft, E., Virla, E. and Sánchez, N. 2015. Potential of biological control agents against *Tuta absoluta* (Lepidoptera: Gelechiidae): current knowledge in Argentina. *Florida Entomologist*. 98(2): 489-494.
- Lyousfi, N., Lahlali, R., Letrib, C., Belabess, Z., Ouaabou, R., Ennahli, S., Blenzar, A. and Barka, E. 2021. Improving the biocontrol potential of bacterial antagonists with salicylic acid against brown rot disease and impact on nectarine fruits quality. *Agronomy*. 11(2): 209.
- Madany, M., Zinta, G., Abuelsoud, W., Hozzein, W., Selim, S., Asard, H. and Abd Elgawad, H. 2020. Hormonal seed-priming improves tomato resistance against broomrape infection. *Journal of Plant Physiology*. 250: 153184.
- Madhavi, G., Devi, G., Kumar, K. and Ramesh, T. 2018. Evaluation of *Pseudomonas fluorescens* and *Trichoderma harzianum* isolates in inducing systemic resistance (ISR) in maize against *Rhizoctonia solani* f. sp. sasakii. International Journal of Chemical Studies. 6(2): 628-632.
- Mahapatra, R., Jampala, S. and Patel, D. 2015. Induction of systemic acquired resistance in Zea mays
 L. by *Aspergillus flavus* and *A. parasiticus* derived elicitors. *Archives of Phytopathology and Plant Protection.* 48(2): 120-134.

- Mahesh, H., Murali, M., Pal, M.A., Melvin, P. and Sharada, M. 2017. Salicylic acid seed priming instigates defense mechanism by inducing PR-Proteins in *Solanum melongena* L. upon infection with *Verticillium dahliae* Kleb. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*. 117: 12-23.
- Małolepsza, U. and Różalska, S. 2005. Nitric oxide and hydrogen peroxide in tomato resistance: nitric oxide modulates hydrogen peroxide level in o-hydroxyethylorutin-induced resistance to *Botrytis cinerea* in tomato. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*. 43(6): 623-635.
- Mandal, S., Mallick, N. and Mitra, A. 2009. Salicylic acid-induced resistance to *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. *lycopersici* in tomato. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*. 47(7): 642-649.
- Manikandan, R., Saravanakumar, D., Rajendran, L., Raguchander, T. and Samiyappan, R. 2010. Standardization of liquid formulation of *Pseudomonas fluorescens* Pf1 for its efficacy against Fusarium wilt of tomato. *Biological Control.* 54(2): 83-89.
- Manoharachary, C. and Mukerji, K. 2006. Rhizosphere biology–an overview. *Microbial activity in the rhizoshere*. 7:1-7. Chapter.
- Manzar, N., Kashyap, A., Goutam, R., Rajawat, M., Sharma, P., Sharma, S. and Singh, H. 2022. *Trichoderma*: Advent of versatile biocontrol agent, its secrets and insights into mechanism of biocontrol potential. *Sustainability*. 14(19): 12786.
- Mao, T., Chen, X., Ding, H., Chen, X. and Jiang, X. 2020. Pepper growth promotion and Fusarium wilt biocontrol by *Trichoderma hamatum* MHT1134. *Biocontrol Science and Technology*. 30(11): 1228-1243.
- Mapope, N. 2005. Molecular characterisation of Verticillium dahliae kleb isolates and comparison of their virulence on selected cotton varieties in Zimbabwe. University of Zimbabwe.
- Marois, J., Fravel, D. and Papavizas, G. 1984. Ability of *Talaromyces flavus* to occupy the rhizosphere and its interaction with *Verticillium dahliae*. Soil Biology and Biochemistry. 16(4): 387-390.
- Marois, J., Johnston, S., Dunn, M. and Papavizas, G. 1982. Biological control of Verticillium wilt of eggplant in the field. *Plant Disease*. 66(12): 1166-1168.
- Masi, M., Petraretti, M., De Natale, A., Pollio, A. and Evidente, A. 2021. Fungal metabolites with antagonistic activity against fungi of lithic substrata. *Biomolecules*. 11(2): 295.
- Mavrodi, O., McWilliams, J., Peter, J., Berim, A., Hassan, K., Elbourne, L., LeTourneau, M., Gang, D., Paulsen, I. and Weller, D. 2021. The effect of root exudates on the transcriptome of rhizosphere *Pseudomonas* spp. *bioRxiv*. 2021.01. 08.425997.
- Mavrodi, O., Walter, N., Elateek, S., Taylor, C. and Okubara, P. 2012. Suppression of *Rhizoctonia* and *Pythium* root rot of wheat by new strains of *Pseudomonas*. *Biological Control*. 62(2): 93-102.

- Mazzotta, E., Muzzalupo, R., Chiappetta, A. and Muzzalupo, I. 2022. Control of the Verticillium wilt on tomato plants by means of olive leaf extracts loaded on chitosan nanoparticles. *Microorganisms*. 10(1): 136.
- McAvoy, G. 2018. Vigilance Required to Tame Verticillium Wilt of Tomato. https://www.growingproduce.com/vegetables/tomatoes/vigilance-required-to-tame-verticilliumwilt-of-tomato/.
- McCue, P., Zheng, Z., Pinkham, J. and Shetty, K. 2000. A model for enhanced pea seedling vigour following low pH and salicylic acid treatments. *Process Biochemistry*. 35(6): 603-613.
- Medina, E., De Castro, A., Romero, C. and Brenes, M. 2006. Comparison of the concentrations of phenolic compounds in olive oils and other plant oils: correlation with antimicrobial activity. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*. 54(14): 4954-4961.
- Meena, V., Meena, S., Verma, J., Kumar, A., Aeron, A., Mishra, P., Bisht, J., Pattanayak, A., Naveed, M. and Dotaniya, M. 2017. Plant beneficial rhizospheric microorganism (PBRM) strategies to improve nutrients use efficiency: a review. *Ecological Engineering*. 107: 8-32.
- Melouk, H. and Horner, C.M. 1974. *Verticillium nigrescens* from peppermint. *Phytopathology*. 64: 1267-1268.
- Mendes, L., Kuramae, E., Navarrete, A., Van Veen, J. and Tsai, S. 2014. Taxonomical and functional microbial community selection in soybean rhizosphere. *The ISME journal*. 8(8): 1577-1587.
- Mendes, R., Garbeva, P. and Raaijmakers, J. 2013. The rhizosphere microbiome: significance of plant beneficial, plant pathogenic, and human pathogenic microorganisms. *Federation of European Microbiological Societies*. 37(5): 634-663.
- Mercado-Blanco, J. 2012. Biological control of Verticillium wilt of olive within an integrated disease management framework. *IOBC/WPRS Bulletin* 79: 149-154.
- Metz, N. and Hausladen, H. 2022. *Trichoderma* spp. as potential biological control agent against *Alternaria solani* in potato. *Biological Control*. 166: 104820.
- Mittler, R., Zandalinas, S., Fichman, Y. and Van Breusegem, F. 2022. Reactive oxygen species signalling in plant stress responses. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*. 23(10): 663-679.
- Miyake, Y., Sakai, J., Shibata, M., Yonekura, N., Miura, I., Kumakura, K. and Nagayama, K. 2005. Fungicidial activity of benthiavalicarb-isopropyl against *Phytophthora infestans* and its controlling activity against late blight diseases. *Journal of Pesticide Science*. 30(4): 390-396.
- Mol, L. and Riessen, H. 1995. Effect of plant roots on the germination of microsclerotia of *Verticillium dahliae*. I. Use of root observation boxes to assess differences among crops. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*. 101: 673-678.
- Moosavi, M. and Zare, R. 2012. Fungi as biological control agents of plant-parasitic nematodes. *Biological Control.* Chapter 1-42. DOI 10.1007/978-94-007-1933-0_4,

- Moradi, H., Bahramnejad, B., Amini, J., Siosemardeh, A. and Haji-Allahverdipoor, K. 2012. Suppression of chickpea ('*Cicer arietinum*'L.)'Fusariums' wilt by'*Bacillus subtillis*' and'Trichoderma harzianum'. *Plant Omics.* 5(2): 68-74.
- Morán-Diez, M., Carrero-Carrón, I., Rubio, M., Jiménez-Díaz, R., Monte, E. and Hermosa, R. 2019. Transcriptomic analysis of *Trichoderma atroviride* overgrowing plant-wilting *Verticillium dahliae* reveals the role of a new M14 metallocarboxypeptidase CPA1 in biocontrol. *Frontiers in Microbiology*. 10: 1120.
- More, S., Shinde, S. and Kasture, M. 2020. Root exudates a key factor for soil and plant: An overview. *The pharma Innovation Journal*. 8(6): 449-459.
- Mufti, R., Bano, A., Munis, M., Andleeb, T., Quraishi, U. and Khan, N. 2023. Integrated application of salicylic acid and PGPRs to control Fusarium wilt of chickpea. *Frontiers in Bioscience-Landmark*. 28(1): 20.
- Mukherjee, P., Mendoza-Mendoza, A., Zeilinger, S. and Horwitz, B. 2022. Mycoparasitism as a mechanism of *Trichoderma*-mediated suppression of plant diseases. *Fungal Biology Reviews*. 39: 15-33.
- Mulero-Aparicio, A., Cernava, T., Turrà, D., Schaefer, A., Di Pietro, A., López-Escudero, F., Trapero, A. and Berg, G. 2019. The role of volatile organic compounds and rhizosphere competence in mode of action of the non-pathogenic *Fusarium oxysporum* FO12 toward Verticillium wilt. *Frontiers in Microbiology*. 10: 1-12.
- Murray, F., Llewellyn, D., Peacock, W. and Dennis, E. 1997. Isolation of the glucose oxidase gene from *Talaromyces flavus* and characterisation of its role in the biocontrol of *Verticillium dahliae*. *Current Genetics*. 32(5): 367-375.
- Murthy, K., Uzma, F. and Srinivas, C. 2014. Induction of systemic resistance in tomato against Ralstonia solanacearum by Pseudomonas fluorescens. American Journal of Plant Sciences. 5: 1799-1811. 10.4236/ajps.2014.512193.
- Na, J., LIU, S., Huan, P., Huang, W., Kong, L. and Peng, D. 2021. Effect of Aspergillus niger NBC001 on the soybean rhizosphere microbial community in a soybean cyst nematode-infested field. Journal of Integrative Agriculture. 20(12): 3230-3239.
- Nagamani, P., Bhagat, S., Biswas, M. and Viswanath, K. 2017. Effect of volatile and non volatile compounds of *Trichoderma* spp. against soil borne diseases of chickpea. *International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences*. 6(7): 1486-1491.
- Naqvi, S. and Chauhan, S. 1980. Effect of root exudates on the spore germiantion of rhizosphere and rhizoplane mycoflora of chilli (*Capsicum annuum* L.) cultivars. *Plant and Soil*. 55(3): 397-402.

- Naraghi, L., Heydari, A. and Azaddisfani, F. 2008. Study on antagonistic effects of non-volatile extracts of *Talaromyces flavus* on cotton Verticillium wilt disease. *Asian Journal of Plant Sciences*. 7(4): 389-393.
- Naraghi, L., Heydari, A., Rezaee, S., Razavi, M., Jahanifar, H. and Khaledi, E. 2010. Biological control of tomato Verticillium wilt disease by *Talaromyces flavus*. *Journal of Plant Protection Research*. 50(3): 360-365. 10.2478/v10045-010-0061-x.
- Narasimhamurthy, K., Soumya, K., Udayashankar, A., Srinivas, C. and Niranjana, S. 2019. Elicitation of innate immunity in tomato by salicylic acid and *Amomum nilgiricum* against *Ralstonia solanacearum. Biocatalysis and Agricultural Biotechnology.* 22: 101414. 10.1016/j.bcab.2019.101414.
- Naserinasab, F., Sahebani, N. and Etebarian, H. 2011. Biological control of *Meloidogyne javanica* by *Trichoderma harzianum* BI and salicylic acid on tomato. *African Journal of Food Science*. 5(4): 276-280.
- Nawrocka, J. and Małolepsza, U. 2013. Diversity in plant systemic resistance induced by *Trichoderma*. *Biological Control*. 67(2): 149-156.
- Naziya, B., Murali, M. and Amruthesh, K. 2019. Plant growth-promoting fungi (PGPF) instigate plant growth and induce disease resistance in *Capsicum annuum* L. upon infection with *Colletotrichum capsici* (Syd.) Butler & Bisby. *Biomolecules*. 10(1): 41.
- Nazli, F., Khan, M., Jamil, M., Nadeem, S. and Ahmad, M. 2020. Soil microbes and plant health. Plant disease management strategies for sustainable agriculture through traditional and modern approaches. 111-135.
- Negahi, A. 2013. Genetic control and biodiversity of tolerance to Verticillium albo-atrum and Verticillium dahliae in Medicago truncatula. Universite de Toulouse.
- Neto, A., Maraschin, M. and Di Piero, R. 2015. Antifungal activity of salicylic acid against *Penicillium expansum* and its possible mechanisms of action. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*. 215: 64-70. 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2015.08.018
- Newman, S., Brown, W. and Ozbay, N. 2002 The effect of the *Trichoderma harzianum* strains on the growth of tomato seedlings. *ISHS Acta Horticulturae*. DOI: 10.17660/ActaHortic.2004.635.16
- Ng, L., Ngadin, I., Azhari, M. and Zahari, N. 2015. Potential of *Trichoderma* spp. as biological control agents against bakanae pathogen (*Fusarium fujikuroi*) in Rice. *Asian Journal of Plant Pathology*. 9(2): 46-58. 10.3923/ajppaj.2015.46.58.
- Nichols, T., Wolf, D., Rogers, H., Beyrouty, C. and Reynolds, C. 1997. Rhizosphere microbial populations in contaminated soils. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*. 95: 165-178.

- Nihorimbere, V., Ongena, M., Smargiassi, M. and Thonart, P. 2011. Beneficial effect of the rhizosphere microbial community for plant growth and health. *Biotechnologie, Agronomie, Société et Environnement*. 15(2): 327-337.
- Nikraftar, F., Taheri, P., Rastegar, M. and Tarighi, S. 2013. Tomato partial resistance to *Rhizoctonia* solani involves antioxidative defense mechanisms. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology*. 81: 74-83.
- Ninkuu, V., Yan, J., Fu, Z., Yang, T., Ziemah, J., Ullrich, M., Kuhnert, N. and Zeng, H. 2022. Lignin and its pathway-associated phytoalexins modulate plant defense against fungi. *Journal of Fungi*. 9(1): 52.
- Nithya, K., Shanmugaiah, V., Balasubramanian, N. and Gomathinayagam, S. 2019. Plant defence related enzymes in rice (*Oryzae sativa* L.), induced by *Pseudomonas* sp VsMKU2. *Journal of Pure and Applied Microbiology*. 13(3): 1307-1315.
- Nofal, A., El-Rahman, M., Abdelghany, T. and Abd El-Mongy, M. 2021. Mycoparasitic nature of Egyptian *Trichoderma* isolates and their impact on suppression Fusarium wilt of tomato. *Egyptian Journal of Biological Pest Control.* 31: 1-8.
- Nzanza, B. 2012. Seedling quality, plant growth and fruit yield and quality of tomato (Solanum lycopersicum L.) in response to Trichoderma harzianum and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. University of Pretoria.
- Ojha, S. and Chatterjee, N. 2012. Induction of resistance in tomato plants against *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. *lycopersici* mediated through salicylic acid and *Trichoderma harzianum*. *Journal of Plant Protection Research*. 52(2): 220-225
- Olson, H. and Benson, D. 2007. Induced systemic resistance and the role of binucleate *Rhizoctonia* and *Trichoderma hamatum* 382 in biocontrol of Botrytis blight in geranium. *Biological Control*. 42(2): 233-241.
- Olsson, S. and Nordbring-Hertz, B. 1985. Microsclerotial germination of *Verticillium dahliae* as affected by rape rhizosphere. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*. 1(5): 293-299.
- Osei, R., Yang, C., Cui, L., Wei, L., Jin, M. and Wei, X. 2021. Antagonistic bioagent mechanisms of controlling potato soft rot. *Plant Protection Science*. 58(1): 18-30.
- Ozgonen, H., Bicici , M. and Erkilic, A. 2001. The effect of salicyclic acid and endomycorrhizal fungus *Glomus etunicatum* on plant development of tomatoes and Fusarium wilt caused by *Fusarium oxysporum* f.sp *lycopersici*. *Turkish Journal of Agriculture and Forestry*. 25: 25-29.
- Pachenari, A. and Dix, N. 1980. Production of toxins and wall degrading enzymes by *Gliocladium roseum*. *Transactions of the British Mycological Society*. 74(3): 561-566.
- Pagán, I. and García-Arenal, F. 2018. Tolerance to plant pathogens: theory and experimental evidence. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*. 19(3): 810.

- Pal, K. and Gardener, B. 2006. Biological control of plant pathogens. *The Plant Health Instructor*. 2: 1-25. 10.1094/PHI-A-2006-1117-02.
- Palve, S., Ahire, D. and Gahile, Y. 2022. Salicylic acid pre-treatment effects on *Beta vulgaris* L. multigerm germination and germination indices. *International Journal of Biosciences*. 20(1): 59-71.
- Panahirad, S., Zaare-Nahandi, F., Mohammadi, N., Alizadeh-Salteh, S. and Safaie, N. 2014. Effects of salicylic acid on *Aspergillus flavus* infection and aflatoxin B1 accumulation in pistachio (*Pistacia vera* L.) fruit. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*. 94(9): 1758-1763.
- Panichikkal, J. and Krishnankutty, R. 2021. Root exudate components induced production of plant beneficial metabolites in rhizospheric *Pseudomonas* spp. *Rhizosphere*. 19: 100366.
- Pantelides, I., Tjamos, S., Striglis, I., Chatzipavlidis, I. and Paplomatas, E. 2009. Mode of action of a non-pathogenic *Fusarium oxysporum* strain against *Verticillium dahliae* using Real Time QPCR analysis and biomarker transformation. *Biological Control.* 50(1): 30-36.
- Parker, J., Szabo, V., Staskawicz, B., Lister, C., Dean, C., Daniels, M. and Jones, J. 1993. Phenotypic characterization and molecular mapping of the *Arabidopsis thaliana* locus RPP5, determining disease resistance to *Peronospora parasitica*. *The Plant Journal*. 4(5): 821-831.
- Patel, S. and Saraf, M. 2017. Biocontrol efficacy of *Trichoderma asperellum* MSST against tomato wilting by *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. lycopersici. Archives of Phytopathology and Plant Protection. 50(5-6): 228-238.
- Patil, V., Patole, K., Paprikar, M. and Rajput, J. 2017. Biological control of brinjal wilt caused by *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. *melongenae* using soluble powder formulation of *Aspergillus niger*. *International Journal of Advanced Research in Biological Sciences*. 4(11): 66-71. 10.22192/ijarbs.
- Pedrotti, E., Jay-Allemand, C., Doumas, P. and Cornu, D. 1994. Effect of autoclaving amino acids on in vitro rooting response of wild cherry shoot. *Scientia horticulturae*. 57(1-2): 89-98.

Pegg, G. and Brady, B. 2002 Verticillium wilts. CABI.

- Pei, D., Zhang, Q., Zhu, X. and Zhang, L. 2023. Biological control of Verticillium wilt and growth promotion in tomato by rhizospheric soil-derived *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* Oj-2.16. *Pathogens*. 12(1): 37.
- Peng, Y., Bartley, L.E., Chen, X., Dardick, C., Chern, M., Ruan, R., Canlas, P.E. and Ronald, P.C. 2008. OsWRKY62 is a negative regulator of basal and Xa21-mediated defense against Xanthomonas *oryzae* pv. oryzae in rice. *Molecular Plant*. 1(3): 446-458.
- Perry, L., Thelen, G., Ridenour, W., Weir, T., Callaway, R., Paschke, M. and Vivanco, J. 2005. Dual role for an allelochemical:(±)-catechin from *Centaurea maculosa* root exudates regulates conspecific seedling establishment. *Journal of Ecology*. 93(6): 1126-1135. 10.1111/j.1365-2745.2005.01044.x.

- Pieterse, C., Zamioudis, C., Berendsen, R., Weller, D., Van Wees, S. and Bakker, P. 2014. Induced systemic resistance by beneficial microbes. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*. 52: 347-375.
- Prajapati, S., Kumar, N., Kumar, S., lakharan, L. and Maurya, S. 2020. Biological control a sustainable approach for plant diseases management: A review. *Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry*. 9(2): 1514-1523.
- Prasad, A., Sharma, N., Hari-Gowthem, G., Muthamilarasan, M. and Prasad, M. 2020. Tomato yellow leaf curl virus: impact, challenges, and management. *Trends in Plant Science*. 25(9): 897-911.
- Preston-Mafham, J., Boddy, L. and Randerson, P. 2002. Analysis of microbial community functional diversity using sole-carbon-source utilisation profiles—a critique. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*. 42(1): 1-14.
- Pusztahelyi, T., Holb, I. and Pócsi, I. 2015. Secondary metabolites in fungus-plant interactions. *Frontiers in Plant Science*. 6: 573.
- Qin, G., Tian, S., Xu, Y. and Wan, Y. 2003. Enhancement of biocontrol efficacy of antagonistic yeasts by salicylic acid in sweet cherry fruit. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology*. 62(3): 147-154.
- Rahman, M., Wang, X., Gao, D., Zhou, X. and Wu, F. 2021. Root exudates increase phosphorus availability in the tomato/potato onion intercropping system. *Plant and Soil*. 1-18.
- Rai, S., Solanki, M., Solanki, A. and Surapathrudu, K. 2019. Biocontrol potential of *Trichoderma* spp.: current understandings and future outlooks on molecular techniques. *Plant Health Under Biotic Stress: Volume 2: Microbial Interactions*. 129-160.
- Rais, A., Jabeen, Z., Shair, F., Hafeez, F. and Hassan, M. 2017. *Bacillus* spp., a bio-control agent enhances the activity of antioxidant defense enzymes in rice against *Pyricularia oryzae*. *PloS one*. 12(11): e0187412.
- Rajani, P., Rajasekaran, C., Vasanthakumari, M., Olsson, S.B., Ravikanth, G. and Shaanker, R. 2021. Inhibition of plant pathogenic fungi by endophytic *Trichoderma* spp. through mycoparasitism and volatile organic compounds. *Microbiological Research*. 242: 126595.
- Rajjou, L., Belghazi, M., Huguet, R., Robin, C., Moreau, A., Job, C. and Job, D. 2006. Proteomic investigation of the effect of salicylic acid on *Arabidopsis* seed germination and establishment of early defense mechanisms. *Plant Physiology*. 141(3): 910-923.
- Rajkumar, M., Lee, K. and Freitas, H. 2008. Effects of chitin and salicylic acid on biological control activity of *Pseudomonas* spp. against damping off of pepper. *South African Journal of Botany*. 74(2): 268-273.
- Ramírez-Gil, J. and Morales-Osorio, J. 2021. Proposal for integrated management of Verticillium wilt disease in avocado cultivar Hass crops. *Agronomy*. 11(10): 1932.

- Rao, M., Paliyath, G., Ormrod, D., Murr, D. and Watkins, C. 1997. Influence of salicylic acid on H₂O₂ production, oxidative stress, and H₂O₂-metabolizing enzymes (salicylic acid-mediated oxidative damage requires H₂O₂). *Plant Physiology*. 115(1): 137-149.
- Raskin, I. 1992. Role of salicylic acid in plants. Annual review of plant biology. 43(1): 439-463.
- Raut, I., Calin, M., Vasilescu, G., Doni, M., Sesan, T. and Jecu, L. 2014. Effect of non volatile compounds of *Trichoderma* spp. against *Fusarium graminearum*, *Rhizoctonia solani* and *Pythium ultimum*. *Scientific Bulletin*. *Series F. Biotechnologies*. 18: 178-181.
- Raza, S., Akhter, A., Wahid, F., Hashem, A. and Abd_Allah, E. 2022. Rhizophagus intraradices and tomato-basil companionship affect root morphology and root exudate dynamics in tomato under Fusarium wilt disease stress. *Applied Ecology and Environmental Research*. 20(1): 235-249.
- Raza, W., Faheem, M., Yousaf, S., Rajer, F. and Yamin, M. 2013. Volatile and non-volatile antifungal compounds produced by *Trichoderma harzianum* SQR-T037 suppressed the growth of *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. *niveum*. *Science Letters*. 1(1): 21-24.
- Rebolledo-Prudencio, O., Dautt-Castro, M., Estrada-Rivera, M., del Carmen González-López, M., Jijón-Moreno, S. and Casas-Flores, S. 2020. *Trichoderma* in the rhizosphere: an approach toward a long and successful symbiosis with plants. In: *New and Future Developments in Microbial Biotechnology and Bioengineering*. Elsevier. pp. 3-38.
- Reghmit, A., Benzina-tihar, F., López Escudero, F., Halouane-Sahir, F., Oukali, Z., Bensmail, S. and Ghozali, N. 2021. *Trichoderma* spp. isolates from the rhizosphere of healthy olive trees in northern Algeria and their biocontrol potentials against the olive wilt pathogen, *Verticillium dahliae*. *Organic Agriculture*. 1-19. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13165-021-00371-1
- Regragui, A. and Lahlou, H. 2005. Effect of salinity on in vitro *Trichoderma harzianum* antagonism against *Verticillium dahliae*. *Pakistan Journal of Biological Sciences*. 8(6): 872-876.
- Roca-Couso, R., Flores-Félix, J. and Rivas, R. 2021. Mechanisms of action of microbial biocontrol agents against *Botrytis cinerea*. *Journal of Fungi*. 7(12): 1045.
- Rodrigues, M. and Furlong, E. 2022. Fungal diseases and natural defense mechanisms of tomatoes (*Solanum lycopersicum*): A review. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology*. 101906.
- Romera, F., García, M., Lucena, C., Martínez-Medina, A., Aparicio, M., Ramos, J., Alcántara, E., Angulo, M. and Pérez-Vicente, R. 2019. Induced systemic resistance (ISR) and Fe deficiency responses in dicot plants. *Frontiers in Plant Science*. 10: 287.
- Rowe, R. and Powelson, M. 2002. Potato early dying: management challenges in a changing production environment. *Plant Disease*. 86(11): 1184-1193.
- Rowe, R.C. 1980. Comparative pathogenicity and host ranges of *Fusarium oxysporum* isolates causing crown and root rot of greenhouse and field-grown tomatoes in North America and Japan. *Phytopathology*. 70(12): 1143-1148.

- Ru, Z. and Di, W. 2012. *Trichoderma* spp. from rhizosphere soil and their antagonism against *Fusarium sambucinum*. *African Journal of Biotechnology*. 11(18): 4180-4186.
- Ruan, Y., Kotraiah, V. and Straney, D. 1995. Flavonoids stimulate spore germination in *Fusarium* solani pathogenic on legumes in a manner sensitive to inhibitors of cAMP-dependent protein kinase. *Molecular Plant Microbe Interactions*. 8(6): 929-938.
- Rudrappa, T., Czymmek, K., Paré, P. and Bais, H. 2008. Root-secreted malic acid recruits beneficial soil bacteria. *Plant Physiology*. 148(3): 1547-1556. 10.1104/pp.108.127613.
- Rushton, P., Somssich, I., Ringler, P. and Shen, Q. 2010. WRKY transcription factors. *Trends in Plant Science*. 15(5): 247-258.
- Ryals, J., Neuenschwander, U., Willits, M., Molina, A., Steiner, H. and Hunt, M. 1996. Systemic acquired resistance. *The Plant Cell*. 8(10): 1809.
- Sabuquillo, P., De Cal, A. and Melgarejo, P. 2006. Biocontrol of tomato wilt by *Penicillium oxalicum* formulations in different crop conditions. *Biological Control.* 37(3): 256-265. 10.1016/j.biocontrol.2006.02.009.
- Saengchan, C., Sangpueak, R., Le Thanh, T., Phansak, P. and Buensanteai, N. 2022. Induced resistance against *Fusarium solani* root rot disease in cassava plant (*Manihot esculenta* Crantz) promoted by salicylic acid and *Bacillus subtilis*. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section B—Soil* & *Plant Science*. 72(1): 516-526.
- Sáenz-Mata, J., Salazar-Badillo, F. and Jiménez-Bremont, J. 2014. Transcriptional regulation of Arabidopsis thaliana WRKY genes under interaction with beneficial fungus Trichoderma atroviride. Acta Physiologiae Plantarum. 36(5): 1085-1093.
- Salas-Marina, M., Silva-Flores, M., Cervantes-Badillo, M., Rosales-Saavedra, M., Islas-Osuna, M. and Casas-Flores, S. 2011. The plant growth-promoting fungus *Aspergillus ustus* promotes growth and induces resistance against different lifestyle pathogens in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology*. 21(7): 686-696.
- Salwan, R., Sharma, M., Sharma, A. and Sharma, V. 2023. Insights into plant beneficial microorganism-triggered induced systemic resistance. *Plant Stress*. 100140.
- Sánchez-Montesinos, B., Santos, M., Moreno-Gavíra, A., Marín-Rodulfo, T., Gea, F. and Diánez, F. 2021. Biological control of fungal diseases by *Trichoderma aggressivum* f. *europaeum* and its compatibility with fungicides. *Journal of Fungi*. 7(8): 598.
- Sarenqimuge, S., Rahman, S., Wang, Y. and Tiedemann, A. 2022. Dormancy and germination of microsclerotia of *Verticillium longisporum* are regulated by soil bacteria and soil moisture levels but not by nutrients. *Frontiers in Microbiology*. 13.

^{10.3389/}fmicb.2022.979218.

- Sarwar, N., Ch, M., Haq, I. and Jamil, F. 2005. Induction of systemic resistance in chickpea against Fusarium wilt by seed treatment with salicylic acid and Bion. *Pakistan Journal of Botany*. 37(4): 989.
- Schroth, M. and Hildebrand, D. 1964. Influence of plant exudates on root-infecting fungi. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*. 2(1): 101-132.
- Segarra, G., Casanova, E., Avilés, M. and Trillas, I. 2010. *Trichoderma asperellum* strain T34 controls Fusarium wilt disease in tomato plants in soilless culture through competition for iron. *Microbial Ecology*. 59(1): 141-149.
- Shahid, M., Singh, A., Srivastava, M. and Srivastava, D. 2014. Molecular characterization of *Trichoderma viride* isolated from rhizospheric soils of Uttar Pradesh based on rDNA markers and analysis of their PCR-ISSR profiles. *Journal of Molecular Biomarkers and Diagnosis*. 5(2): 1000169. 10.4172/2155-9929.1000170.
- Sharfuddin, C. and Mohanka, R. 2012. In vitro antagonism of indigenous *Trichoderma* isolates against phytopathogen causing wilt of lentil. *International Journal of Life Science and Pharma Research*. 2(3): 195-202.
- Sharma, R., Singh, D. and Singh, R. 2009. Biological control of postharvest diseases of fruits and vegetables by microbial antagonists: A review. *Biological Control.* 50(3): 205-221.
- Sheu, Z., Chiu, M., Chang, J. and Oliva, R. 2023. First report of Verticillium wilt caused by *Verticillium dahliae* in grafted tomato in Taiwan. *Plant Disease*.107(7).
- Shi, J., Gong, X., u Rahman, M., Tian, Q., Zhou, X. and Wu, F. 2021. Effects of wheat root exudates on bacterial communities in the rhizosphere of watermelon. *Plant, Soil and Environment*. 67(12): 721-728.
- Shikanai, Y., Takahashi, S., Enomoto, Y., Yamagami, M., Yamaguchi, K., Shigenobu, S., Kamiya, T. and Fujiwara, T. 2022. *Arabidopsis* glucan synthase-like1 (GSL1) is required for tolerance to low-calcium conditions and exhibits a function comparable to GSL10. *Plant and Cell Physiology*. 63(10): 1474-1484.
- Shikanai, Y., Yoshida, R., Hirano, T., Enomoto, Y., Li, B., Asada, M., Yamagami, M., Yamaguchi, K., Shigenobu, S. and Tabata, R. 2020. Callose synthesis suppresses cell death induced by low-calcium conditions in leaves. *Plant Physiology*. 182(4): 2199-2212.
- Siddiqui, I., Shaukat, S. and Khan, A. 2004. Differential impact of some Aspergillus species on Meloidogyne javanica biocontrol by Pseudomonas fluorescens strain CHA0. Letters in Applied Microbiology. 39(1): 74-83.
- Singh and Singh, S. 2017. Evaluation of non-conventional chemicals against *Verticillium fungicola* causing dry bubble disease in *Agaricus bisporus* button mushroom. *Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytovhemistry*. 6(5): 2323-2327.

- Singh, G. and Mukerji, K. 2006. Root exudates as determinant of rhizospheric microbial biodiversity. *Microbial activity in the rhizoshere*. 39-53. Chapter
- Singh, P. and Gautam, S. 2013. Role of salicylic acid on physiological and biochemical mechanism of salinity stress tolerance in plants. *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum*. 35: 2345-2353.
- Smith, L.D. 1979. Verticillium wilt of landscape trees. Journal of Arboriculture. 5(9): 193-197.
- Soesanto, L. and Termorshuizen, A. 2001. Effect of temperature on the formation of microsclerotia of *Verticillium dahliae*. *Journal of Phytopathology*. 149(): 685-691.
- Song, R., Li, J., Xie, C., Jian, W. and Yang, X. 2020. An overview of the molecular genetics of plant resistance to the Verticillium wilt pathogen *Verticillium dahliae*. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*. 21(3): 1120.
- Sonmez, S., Kaplan, M., Sonmez, N., Kaya, H. and Uz, I. 2006. High level of copper application to soil and leaves reduce the growth and yield of tomato plants. *Scientia Agricola*. 63(3): 213-218.
- Sorahinobar, M., Safaie, N. and Moradi, B. 2022. Salicylic acid seed priming enhanced resistance in wheat against *Fusarium graminearum* seedling blight. *Journal of Plant Biology*: 65:423-434.
- Spadaro, D. and Gullino, M. 2005. Improving the efficacy of biocontrol agents against soilborne pathogens. *Crop Protection*. 24(7): 601-613.
- Spletzer, M. and Enyedi, A. 1999. Salicylic acid induces resistance to *Alternaria solani* in hydroponically grown tomato. *Phytopathology*. 89(9): 722-727.
- Sreedevi, B., Devi, M. and Saigopal, D. 2011. Induction of defense enzymes in *Trichoderma* harzianum treated groundnut plants against *Macrophomina phaseolina*. Journal of Biological Control. 25(1): 33-39.
- Steinkellner, S., Mammerler, R. and Vierheilig, H. 2005. Microconidia germination of the tomato pathogen *Fusarium oxysporum* in the presence of root exudates. *Journal of Plant Interactions*. 1(1): 23-30. 10.1080/17429140500134334.
- Steinkellner, S., Mammerler, R. and Vierheilig, H. 2008. Germination of *Fusarium oxysporum* in root exudates from tomato plants challenged with different *Fusarium oxysporum* strains. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*. 122(3): 395-401. 10.1007/s10658-008-9306-1.
- Steinkellner, S., Mammerler, R. and Vierheilig, H. 2009. Root exudates as important factor in the *Fusarium*-host plant interaction. *Multitrophic Interactions in Soil IOBC/wprs Bulletin*. 42: 165-68.
- Stempien, E., Jean, R., Pierron, G., Adendorff, I., Van Jaarsveld, W., Halleen, F. and Mostert, L. 2020. Host defence activation and root colonization of grapevine rootstocks by the biological control fungus *Trichoderma atroviride*. *Phytopathologia Mediterranea*. 59(3): 615-626.
- Stewart, A. and Hill, R. 2014. Applications of *Trichoderma* in plant growth promotion. In: *Biotechnology and Biology of Trichoderma*. Elsevier. pp. 415-428.

- Steyaert, J., Ridgway, H., Elad, Y. and Stewart, A. 2003. Genetic basis of mycoparasitism: a mechanism of biological control by species of *Trichoderma*. *New Zealand Journal of Crop and Horticultural Science*. 31(4): 281-291.
- Stosz, S., Fravel, D. and Roberts, D. 1996. In vitro analysis of the role of glucose oxidase from *Talaromyces flavus* in biocontrol of the plant pathogen *Verticillium dahliae*. Applied and *Environmental Microbiology*. 62(9): 3183-3186.
- Suarez-Fernandez, M., Marhuenda-Egea, F., Lopez-Moya, F., Arnao, M., Cabrera-Escribano, F., Nueda, M., Gunsé, B. and Lopez-Llorca, L. 2020. Chitosan induces plant hormones and defences in tomato root exudates. *Frontiers in Plant Science*. 11: 1677. 10.3389/fpls.2020.572087.
- Subba-Rao, N. and Bailey, D. 1961. Rhizosphere studies in relation to varietal resistance or susceptibility of tomato to Verticillium wilt. *Canadian Journal of Botany*. 39(7): 1747-1758.
- Sultana, S., Adhikary, S., Islam, M. and Rahman, S. 2018. Evaluation of pathogenic variability based on leaf blotch disease development components of *Bipolaris sorokiniana* in *Triticum aestivum* and agroclimatic origin. *The Plant Pathology Journal*. 34(2): 93.
- Suresh, P., Shanmugaiah, V., Rajagopal, R., Muthusamy, K. and Ramamoorthy, V. 2022. *Pseudomonas fluorescens* VSMKU3054 mediated induced systemic resistance in tomato against *Ralstonia solanacearum. Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology*. 119: 101836.
- Sutton, J. and Peng, G. 1993. Biocontrol of *Botrytis cinerea* in strawberry leaves. *Phytopathology*. 83(6): 615-621.
- Syamsia, S., Idhan, A., Firmansyah, A., Noerfitryani, N., Rahim, I., Kesaulya, H. and Armus, R. 2021. Combination on endophytic fungal as the plant growth-promoting fungi (PGPF) on cucumber (*Cucumis sativus*). *Biodiversitas Journal of Biological Diversity*. 22(3): 1194-1202.
- Tahat, M.M., Sijam, K. and Othman, R. 2010. The role of tomato and corn root exudates on *Glomus mosseae* spores germination and *Ralstonia solanacearum* growth in vitro. *International Journal of Plant Pathology*. 1(1): 1-12.
- Taheri, A., Sanei, S. and Razavi, S. 2021. Salicylic acid is associated with improved growth and resistance of olives (*Olea europaea* L.) to Verticillium wilt. *Journal of Plant Physiology and Breeding*. 11(1): 75-85.
- Tan, S., Yang, C., Mei, X., Shen, S., Raza, W., Shen, Q. and Xu, Y. 2013. The effect of organic acids from tomato root exudates on rhizosphere colonization of *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* T-5. *Applied Soil Ecology*. 64: 15-22. 10.1016/j.apsoil.2012.10.011.
- Tang, J., Lin, J., Yang, Y., Chen, T., Ling, X., Zhang, B. and Chang, Y. 2016. Ectopic expression of a Ve homolog VvVe gene from Vitis vinifera enhances defense response to *Verticillium dahliae* infection in tobacco. *Gene*. 576(1): 492-498.

- Tariq, M., Khan, A., Asif, M., Khan, F., Ansari, T., Shariq, M. and Siddiqui, M. 2020. Biological control: a sustainable and practical approach for plant disease management. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section B—Soil & Plant Science*. 70(6): 507-524.
- Taylor, R.W. 1994. Methyl bromide—Is there any future for this noteworthy fumigant? *Journal of Stored Products Research*. 30(4): 253-260.
- Thakker, J., Patel, S. and Dhandhukia, P. 2013. Induction of defense-related enzymes in banana plants: Effect of live and dead pathogenic strain of *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. *cubense*. *ISRN Biotechnology*: 1-6. http://dx.doi.org/10.5402/2013/601303
- Thakur, M., Bhattacharya, S., Khosla, P. and Puri, S. 2019. Improving production of plant secondary metabolites through biotic and abiotic elicitation. *Journal of Applied Research on Medicinal and Aromatic Plants*. 12: 1-12.
- Thakur, R. 2021. Use of *Trichoderma* spp. as biocontrol for disease management. *Indian Farmer*. 8(01): 108-115.
- Thilmony, R., Chen, Z., Bressan, R. and Martin, G. 1995. Expression of the tomato Pto gene in tobacco enhances resistance to *Pseudomonas syringae* pv *tabaci* expressing avrPto. *The Plant Cell*. 7(10): 1529-1536.
- Tian, S., Qin, G., Li, B., Wang, Q. and Meng, X. 2007. Effects of salicylic acid on disease resistance and postharvest decay control of fruits. *Stewart Postharvest Review*. 6(2): 1-7.
- Torres, M., Jones, J. and Dangl, J. 2006. Reactive oxygen species signaling in response to pathogens. *Plant Physiology*. 141(2): 373-378.
- Trapero, C., Serrano, N., Arquero, O., Del Río, C., Trapero, A. and López-Escudero, F. 2013. Field resistance to Verticillium wilt in selected olive cultivars grown in two naturally infested soils. *Plant Disease*. 97(5): 668-674.
- Tsahouridou, P. and Thanassoulopoulos, C. 2002. Proliferation of *Trichoderma koningii* in the tomato rhizosphere and the suppression of damping-off by *Sclerotium rolfsii*. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*. 34(6): 767-776.
- Udriște, A., Iordachescu, M., Ciceoi, R. and Bădulescu, L. 2022. Next-generation sequencing of local romanian tomato varieties and bioinformatics analysis of the Ve locus. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*. 23(17): 9750.
- Upadhyay, S., Srivastava, A., Rajput, V., Chauhan, P., Bhojiya, A., Jain, D., Chaubey, G., Dwivedi,P., Sharma, B. and Minkina, T. 2022. Root exudates: Mechanistic insight of plant growthpromoting rhizobacteria for sustainable crop production. *Frontiers in Microbiology*. 13.
- Uren, N. 2000. Types, amounts, and possible functions of compounds released into the rhizosphere by soil-grown plants. In: *The rhizosphere*. CRC press. pp. 35-56.

- Usami, T., Momma, N., Kikuchi, S., Watanabe, H., Hayashi, A., Mizukawa, M., Yoshino, K. and Ohmori, Y. 2017. Race 2 of *Verticillium dahliae* infecting tomato in Japan can be split into two races with differential pathogenicity on resistant rootstocks. *Plant Pathology*. 66(2): 230-238. 10.1111/ppa.12576.
- Vacheron, J., Desbrosses, G., Bouffaud, M., Touraine, B., Moënne-Loccoz, Y., Muller, D., Legendre, L., Wisniewski-Dyé, F. and Prigent-Combaret, C. 2013. Plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria and root system functioning. *Frontiers in plant science*. 4: 356.
- Valverde, P., Barranco, D., López-Escudero, F., Díez, C. and Trapero, C. 2023. Efficiency of breeding olives for resistance to Verticillium wilt. *Frontiers in Plant Science*. 14: 1149570.
- van Laar, A., Grootaert, C., Van Nieuwerburgh, F., Deforce, D., Desmet, T., Beerens, K. and Van Camp, J. 2022. Metabolism and Health Effects of Rare Sugars in a CACO-2/HepG2 Coculture Model. *Nutrients*. 14(3): 611.
- Van Lenteren, J., Alomar, O., Ravensberg, W. and Urbaneja, A. 2020. Biological control agents for control of pests in greenhouses. *Integrated pest and disease management in greenhouse crops*. 409-439. Chapter
- Vančura, V., Přikryl, Z., Kalachova, L. and Wurst, M. 1977. Some quantitative aspects of root exudation. *Ecological Bulletins*. 25: 381-386.
- Vélez-Terreros, P., Romero-Estevez, D., Yanez-Jacome, G., Simbaña-Farinango, K. and Navarrete,
 H. 2021. Comparison of major nutrients and minerals between organic and conventional tomatoes.
 A review. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*. 100: 103922.
- Verma, M., Brar, S., Tyagi, R., Surampalli, R. and Valero, J. 2007. Antagonistic fungi, *Trichoderma* spp.: panoply of biological control. *Biochemical Engineering Journal*. 37(1): 1-20.
- Verma, P., Shelake, R., Das, S., Sharma, P. and Kim, J. 2019. Plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) and fungi (PGPF): potential biological control agents of diseases and pests. In: *Microbial Interventions in Agriculture and Environment*. Springer. pp. 281-311.
- Vermeulen, J. 2020. Identification and inheritance of quantitative resistance against Verticillium dahliae in tomato. Wageningen University.
- Vidauri, M. 1998. Effect of amino acids concentration on the germination of Verticillium dahliae in naturally inoculated soils planted to cauliflower. California Polytechnic State University.
- Vinale, F., Sivasithamparam, K., Ghisalberti, E., Marra, R., Woo, S. and Lorito, M. 2008. Trichoderma–plant–pathogen interactions. *Soil biology and Biochemistry*. 40(1): 1-10. 10.1016/j.soilbio.2007.07.002.
- Vinale, F., Sivasithamparam, K., Ghisalberti, E., Woo, S., Nigro, M., Marra, R., Lombardi, N., Pascale, A., Ruocco, M. and Lanzuise, S. 2014. *Trichoderma* secondary metabolites active on plants and fungal pathogens. *The Open Mycology Journal*. 8(1): 127-139.

- Vishwakarma, R., Mishra, S. and Thakre, B. 2017a. Influence of root exudates of main and intercrops on the growth of *Rhizoctonia solani* and *Trichoderma* spp in vitro. *Plant Archives*. 17(1): 475-478.
- Vishwakarma, R., Mishra, S.P. and Thakre, B. 2017b. Influence of root exudates of main and intercrops on the growth of *Rhizoctonia solani* and *Trichoderma* spp in vitro. *Plant Archives*. 17(1): 475-478.
- Vives-Peris, V., De Ollas, C., Gómez-Cadenas, A. and Pérez-Clemente, R. 2020. Root exudates: from plant to rhizosphere and beyond. *Plant Cell Reports*. 39: 3-17.
- Vlot, A., Sales, J., Lenk, M., Bauer, K., Brambilla, A., Sommer, A., Chen, Y., Wenig, M. and Nayem,S. 2021. Systemic propagation of immunity in plants. *New Phytologist.* 229(3): 1234-1250.
- Walker, T., Bais, H., Grotewold, E. and Vivanco, J. 2003. Root exudation and rhizosphere biology. *Plant Physiology*. 132(1): 44-51. 10.1104/pp.102.019661.
- Wang, BALOCH4O, A., DENG, J., Baloch, A., HOU, X., Miao, R. and Zhang, R. 2020. Influence of *Trichoderma* inoculation on four crucial defense-related enzymes and leaf soluble protein level of poplar. *Pakistan Journal of Botany*. 52(3): 879-884. 10.30848/PJB2020-3(11).
- Wang, Q., Chen, B., Wang, J., Wang, F., Han, H., Li, S.K., Wang, K., Xiao, C. and Dai, J. 2015. Four supervised classification methods for monitoring cotton field of Verticillium wilt using TM image. *The Journal of Animal and Plant Sciences*. 25(3): 5-12.
- Wang, X., Fang, J., Liu, P., Liu, J., Fang, W., Fang, Z. and Xiao, Y. 2021a. Mucoromycotina fungi possess the ability to utilize plant sucrose as a carbon source: evidence from *Gongronella* sp. w5. *Frontiers in Microbiology*. 11: 591697.
- Wang, Y., Li, X., Fan, B., Zhu, C. and Chen, Z. 2021b. Regulation and function of defense-related callose deposition in plants. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*. 22(5): 2393.
- Wani, A. and Mir, R. 2009. Biological control of *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. *lycopercici* on tomato with fungal antagonists. *Journal of Biological Control*. 23(2): 169-173.
- Wei, F., Zhang, Y., Shi, Y., Feng, H., Zhao, L., Feng, Z. and Zhu, H. 2019. Evaluation of the biocontrol potential of endophytic fungus *Fusarium solani* CEF559 against *Verticillium dahliae* in cotton plant. *BioMed Research International*. Volume 2019, Article ID 3187943, 12 pages.
- Weir, T., Park, S. and Vivanco, J. 2004. Biochemical and physiological mechanisms mediated by allelochemicals. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*. 7(4): 472-479. 10.1016/j.pbi.2004.05.007.
- Wen, T., Zhao, M., Yuan, J., Kowalchuk, G. and Shen, Q. 2021. Root exudates mediate plant defense against foliar pathogens by recruiting beneficial microbes. *Soil Ecology Letters*. 3: 42-51.
- Wheeler, K., Hurdman, B. and Pitt, J. 1991. Influence of pH on the growth of some toxigenic species of Aspergillus, Penicillium and Fusarium. International Journal of Food Microbiology. 12(2-3): 141-149.

- Wheeler, T., Bordovsky, J. and Keeling, J. 2019. The effectiveness of crop rotation on management of Verticillium wilt over time. *Crop Protection*. 121: 157-162.
- Whipps, J.M. 2001. Microbial interactions and biocontrol in the rhizosphere. *Journal of experimental botany*. 52(Roots Special Issue): 487-511.
- White, T., Bruns, T., Lee, S. and Taylor, J. 1990. Amplification and direct sequencing of fungal ribosomal RNA genes for phylogenetics. *PCR Protocols: a Guide to Methods and Applications*. 18(1): 315-322.
- Whitham, S., McCormick, S. and Baker, B. 1996. The N gene of tobacco confers resistance to tobacco mosaic virus in transgenic tomato. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 93(16): 8776-8781.
- Widmer, T. 2019. Compatibility of *Trichoderma asperellum* isolates to selected soil fungicides. *Crop Protection.* 120: 91-96.
- Woolliams, G. 1966. Host range and symptomatology of *Verticillium dahliae* in economic, weed, and native plants in interior British Columbia. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science*. 46(6): 661-669.
- Wu, H., Raza, W., Fan, J., Sun, Y., Bao, W., Liu, D., Huang, Q., Mao, Z., Shen, Q. and Miao, W. 2008. Antibiotic effect of exogenously applied salicylic acid on in vitro soilborne pathogen, *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. *niveum. Chemosphere*. 74(1): 45-50.
- Wu, H., Wu, L., Zhu, Q., Wang, J., Qin, X., Xu, J., Kong, L., Chen, J., Lin, S. and Khan, M. 2017. The role of organic acids on microbial deterioration in the *Radix pseudostellariae* rhizosphere under continuous monoculture regimes. *Scientific Reports*. 7(1): 1-14. 10.1038/s41598-017-03793-8.
- Xia, X., Wang, Y., Zhou, Y., Tao, Y., Mao, W., Shi, K., Asami, T., Chen, Z. and Yu, J. 2009. Reactive oxygen species are involved in brassinosteroid-induced stress tolerance in cucumber. *Plant Physiology.* 150(2): 801-814.
- Xiao, C. and Subbarao, K. 2000. Effects of irrigation and *Verticillium dahliae* on cauliflower root and shoot growth dynamics. *Phytopathology*. 90(9): 995-1004.
- Xiaojun, C., Wongkaew, S., Jie, Y., Xuehui, Y., Haiyong, H., Shiping, W., Qigqun, T., Lishuang, W., Athinuwat, D. and Buensanteai, N. 2014. In vitro inhibition of pathogenic *Verticillium dahliae*, causal agent of potato wilt disease in China by *Trichoderma* isolates. *African Journal of Biotechnology*. 13(33): 3402-3412. 10.5897/AJB2013.12195.
- Xie, W., Liu, X., Ko, K. and Lee, K. 2008. Low molecular weight organic acids in *Brassica pekinensis* Rupr. and growing soil influenced by simulated nitrate deposition. *Korean Journal of Environmental Agriculture*. 27(3): 279-284.

- Xie, Z., Zhang, Z., Hanzlik, S., Cook, E. and Shen, Q. 2007. Salicylic acid inhibits gibberellininduced alpha-amylase expression and seed germination via a pathway involving an abscisic-acidinducible WRKY gene. *Plant Molecular Biology*. 64: 293-303.
- Xing, K., Liu, Y., Shen, X., Zhu, X., Li, X., Miao, X., Feng, Z., Peng, X. and Qin, S. 2017. Effect of O-chitosan nanoparticles on the development and membrane permeability of *Verticillium dahliae*. *Carbohydrate Polymers*. 165: 334-343.
- Xiu-hua, G., Cai-ping, C., Dong-dong, Y., Ren-shan, Z., Jing-long, X. and Wang-zhen, G. 2015. Development and identification of Verticillium wilt-resistant upland cotton accessions by pyramiding QTL related to resistance. *Journal of Integrative Agriculture*. 1-15. 10.1016/S2095-3119(15)61083-8.
- Xu, D., Deng, Y., Han, T., Jiang, L., Xi, P., Wang, Q., Jiang, Z. and Gao, L. 2018. In vitro and in vivo effectiveness of phenolic compounds for the control of postharvest gray mold of table grapes. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*. 139: 106-114.
- Xu, H., Yan, L., Zhang, M., Chang, X., Zhu, D., Wei, D., Naeem, M., Song, C., Wu, X. and Liu, T.
 2022. Changes in the density and composition of rhizosphere pathogenic *Fusarium* and beneficial *Trichoderma* contributing to reduced root rot of intercropped soybean. *Pathogens*. 11(4): 478.
- Xue, M., Wang, R., Zhang, C., Wang, W., Zhang, F., Chen, D., Ren, S., Manman, Z., Hou, J. and Liu, T. 2021. Screening and identification of *Trichoderma* strains isolated from natural habitats in China with potential agricultural applications. *BioMed Research International*. Volume 2021, Article ID 7913950, 13 pages
- Yadav, M., Dubey, M.K. and Upadhyay, R.S. 2021. Systemic resistance in chilli pepper against anthracnose (caused by *Colletotrichum truncatum*) induced by *Trichoderma harzianum*, *Trichoderma asperellum* and *Paenibacillus dendritiformis*. Journal of Fungi. 7(4): 307.
- Yadeta, K. and Thomma, B. 2013. The xylem as battleground for plant hosts and vascular wilt pathogens. *Plant Science*. 4(Article 97): 1-12. 10.3389/fpls.2013.00097.
- Yalin, Z., Jinglong, Z., Lihong, Z., Zili, F., Feng, W., Hongyan, B., Hongjie, F. and Heqin, Z. 2022. A review of the pathogenicity mechanism of *Verticillium dahliae* in cotton. *Journal of Cotton Research*. 5(1): 1-13. 10.1186/s42397-021-00111-6.
- Yan, Y., Mao, Q., Wang, Y., Zhao, J., Fu, Y., Yang, Z., Peng, X., Zhang, M., Bai, B. and Liu, A. 2021. *Trichoderma harzianum* induces resistance to root-knot nematodes by increasing secondary metabolite synthesis and defense-related enzyme activity in *Solanum lycopersicum* L. *Biological Control.* 158: 104609.
- Yang, C., Hu, L., Ali, B., Islam, F., Bai, Q., Yun, X., Yoneyama, K. and Zhou, W. 2016. Seed treatment with salicylic acid invokes defence mechanism of *Helianthus annuus* against *Orobanche cumana*. *Annals of Applied Biology*. 169(3): 408-422.

- Yang, C., Liang, S., Wang, H., Han, L., Wang, F., Cheng, H., Wu, X., Qu, Z., Wu, J. and Xia, G. 2015. Cotton major latex protein 28 functions as a positive regulator of the ethylene responsive factor 6 in defense against *Verticillium dahliae*. *Molecular Plant*. 8(3): 399-411.
- Ye, W., Munemasa, S., Shinya, T., Wu, W., Ma, T., Lu, J., Kinoshita, T., Kaku, H., Shibuya, N. and Murata, Y. 2020. Stomatal immunity against fungal invasion comprises not only chitin-induced stomatal closure but also chitosan-induced guard cell death. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences. 117(34): 20932-20942.
- Yedidia, I., Benhamou, N. and Chet, I. 1999. Induction of defense responses in cucumber plants (*Cucumis sativus* L.) by the biocontrol agent *Trichoderma harzianum*. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. 65(3): 1061-1070.
- Yeon, J., Park, A., Kang, M., Nguyen, V., Lee, Y., Kim, H., Park, H., Ha, P., Koo, Y. and Kim, J. 2022. Control of root-knot nematodes on tomato by eliciting resistance through *Aspergillus niger*derived oxalic acid. *Journal of Pest Science*. 1-13.
- Yeon, J., Park, A., Lee, Y., Kim, H., Park, H., Koo, Y. and Kim, J. 2021. Control of a tomato plant root-knot nematode by induced resistance of oxalic acid derived from *Aspergillus niger*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10340-022-01573-6
- Yildiz, A., Doğan, M., Boz, Ö. and Benlioğlu, S. 2009. Weed hosts of *Verticillium dahliae* in cotton fields in Turkey and characterization of *V. dahliae* isolates from weeds. *Phytoparasitica*. 37: 171-178.
- Yin, C., Casa Vargas, J., Schlatter, D., Hagerty, C., Hulbert, S. and Paulitz, T. 2021. Rhizosphere community selection reveals bacteria associated with reduced root disease. *Microbiome*. 9: 1-18.
- Yoo, S., Shin, D., Won, H., Song, J. and Sang, M. 2018. Aspergillus terreus JF27 promotes the growth of tomato plants and induces resistance against *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. tomato. *Mycobiology*. 46(2): 147-153.
- Yu, J., Cafarov, I. and Babadoost, M. 2016. Morphology, molecular identity, and pathogenicity of *Verticillium dahliae* and *V. longisporum* associated with internally discolored horseradish roots. *Plant Disease*. 100(4): 749-757.
- Yu, R., Liu, J., Wang, Y., Wang, H. and Zhang, H. 2021a. *Aspergillus niger* as a secondary metabolite factory. *Frontiers in Chemistry*. 9: 701022.
- Yu, T., Chen, J., Chen, R., Huang, B., Liu, D. and Zheng, X. 2007. Biocontrol of blue and gray mold diseases of pear fruit by integration of antagonistic yeast with salicylic acid. *International Journal* of Food Microbiology. 116(3): 339-345.
- Yu, Y., Gui, Y., Li, Z., Jiang, C., Guo, J. and Niu, D. 2022. Induced systemic resistance for improving plant immunity by beneficial microbes. *Plants*. 11(3): 386.

- Yu, Z., Wang, Z., Zhang, Y., Wang, Y. and Liu, Z. 2021b. Biocontrol and growth-promoting effect of *Trichoderma asperellum* TaspHu1 isolate from *Juglans mandshurica* rhizosphere soil. *Microbiological Research*. 242: 126596.
- Yuan, Y., Feng, H., Wang, L., Li, Z., Shi, Y., Zhao, L., Feng, Z. and Zhu, H. 2017. Potential of endophytic fungi isolated from cotton roots for biological control against Verticillium wilt disease. *PloS one*. 12(1): e0170557.
- Yuqing, W., Zhang, Y., Zhipeng, G. and Wencai, Y. 2018. Breeding for resistance to tomato bacterial diseases in China: challenges and prospects. *Horticultural Plant Journal*. 4(5): 193-207.
- Yusnawan, E., Inayati, A. and BALIADI, Y. 2019. Isolation of antagonistic fungi from rhizospheres and its biocontrol activity against different isolates of soil borne fungal pathogens infected legumes. *Biodiversitas Journal of Biological Diversity*. 20(7): 2048-2054.
- Yusuf, M., Hayat, S., Alyemeni, M., Fariduddin, Q. and Ahmad, A. 2013. Salicylic acid: physiological roles in plants. In: *Salicylic acid*. Springer. pp. 15-30.
- Yuxiang, W., Shuijin, Z., Kuiying, J., Daofan, J. and Weiping, F. 2008. The effects of cotton root exudates on the growth and development of *Verticillium dahliae Frontiers of Agriculture in China*. 2(4): 435-440. 10.1007/s11703-008-0079-2.
- Zanganeh, R., Jamei, R. and Rahmani, F. 2020. Pre-sowing seed treatment with salicylic acid and sodium hydrosulfide confers Pb toxicity tolerance in maize (*Zea mays L.*). *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*. 206: 111392.
- Zare, R., Gams, W. and Schroers, H. 2004. The type species of *Verticillium* is not congeneric with the plant-pathogenic species placed in *Verticillium* and it is not the anamorph of *Nectria inventa*. *Mycological Research*. 108(5): 576-582. 10.1017/S0953756204009839.
- Zargar, D., Amini, J. and Abdollahzadeh, J. 2019. Biocontrol potential of endophytic *Penicillium* spp. against strawberry anthracnose. *Biological Control of Pests & Plant Diseases*. 8(1): 47-58. 10.22059/jbioc.2018.253091.224.
- Zehra, A., Aamir, M., Dubey, M., Ansari, W., Meena, M., Swapnil, P., Upadhyay, R., Ali, M., Al-Ghamdi, A. and Lee, J. 2023. Enhanced protection of tomato against Fusarium wilt through biopriming with *Trichoderma harzianum*. *Journal of King Saud University-Science*. 35(2): 102466.
- Zehra, A., Meena, M., Dubey, M., Aamir, M. and Upadhyay, R. 2017a. Activation of defense response in tomato against Fusarium wilt disease triggered by *Trichoderma harzianum* supplemented with exogenous chemical inducers (SA and MeJA). *Brazilian Journal of Botany*. 40(3): 651-664.
- Zehra, A., Meena, M., Dubey, M., Aamir, M. and Upadhyay, R. 2017b. Synergistic effects of plant defense elicitors and *Trichoderma harzianum* on enhanced induction of antioxidant defense

system in tomato against Fusarium wilt disease. *Botanical Studies*. 58(44): 1-14. 10.1186/s40529-017-0198-2.

- Zehra, A., Raytekar, N., Meena, M. and Swapnil, P. 2021. Efficiency of microbial bio-agents as elicitors in plant defense mechanism under biotic stress: A review. *Current Research in Microbial Sciences*. 2: 100054.
- Zeilinger, S., Gruber, S., Bansal, R. and Mukherjee, P. 2016. Secondary metabolism in *Trichoderma* chemistry meets genomics. *Fungal Biology Reviews*. 30(2): 74-90.
- Zhang, Yuan, Y., Wei, Z., Guo, X., Guo, Y., Zhang, S., Zhao, J., Zhang, G., Song, X. and Sun, X. 2014. Molecular mapping and validation of a major QTL conferring resistance to a defoliating isolate of Verticillium wilt in cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum* L.). *PloS one.* 9(4): 1-8. 10.1371/journal.pone.0096226.
- Zhang, C., Wang, W., Xue, M., Liu, Z., Zhang, Q., Hou, J., Xing, M., Wang, R. and Liu, T. 2021. The combination of a biocontrol agent *Trichoderma asperellum* SC012 and hymexazol reduces the effective fungicide dose to control Fusarium wilt in cowpea. *Journal of Fungi*. 7(9): 685.
- Zhang, D., Yu, S., Yang, Y., Zhang, J., Zhao, D., Pan, Y., Fan, S., Yang, Z. and Zhu, J. 2020. Antifungal effects of volatiles produced by *Bacillus subtilis* against *Alternaria solani* in potato. *Frontiers in Microbiology*. 11: 1196.
- Zhang, L., Wang, Y., Lei, S., Zhang, H., Liu, Z., Yang, J. and Niu, Q. 2023. Effect of volatile compounds produced by the cotton endophytic bacterial strain *Bacillus* sp. T6 against Verticillium wilt. *BMC Microbiology*. 23(1): 8.
- Zhang, S., Moyne, A., Reddy, M. and Kloepper, J. 2002. The role of salicylic acid in induced systemic resistance elicited by plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria against blue mold of tobacco. *Biological Control.* 25(3): 288-296.
- Zhang, Y., Wang, X., Ding, Z., Ma, Q., Zhang, G., Zhang, S., Li, Z., Wu, L., Zhang, G. and Ma, Z. 2013. Transcriptome profiling of *Gossypium barbadense* inoculated with *Verticillium dahliae* provides a resource for cotton improvement. *BMC Genomics*. 14(1): 1-18.
- Zhao, J., Liu, J., Liang, H., Huang, J., Chen, Z., Nie, Y., Wang, C. and Wang, Y. 2018a. Manipulation of the rhizosphere microbial community through application of a new bio-organic fertilizer improves watermelon quality and health. *PloS one*. 13(2): e0192967.
- Zhao, J., Liu, W., Liu, D., Lu, C., Zhang, D., Wu, H., Dong, D. and Meng, L. 2018b. Identification and evaluation of *Aspergillus tubingensis* as a potential biocontrol agent against grey mould on tomato. *Journal of General Plant Pathology*. 84(2): 148-159. 10.1007/s10327-018-0764-9.
- Zhao, W., Li, S., Dong, L., Wang, P., Lu, X., Zhang, X., Su, Z., Guo, Q. and Ma, P. 2023. Effects of different crop rotations on the incidence of cotton Verticillium wilt and structure and function of the rhizospheric microbial community. *Plant and Soil*. 485(1-2): 457-474.

- Zhao, X., Hou, D., Xu, J., Wang, K. and Hu, Z. 2022. Antagonistic activity of fungal strains against Fusarium crown rot. *Plants.* 11(3): 255.
- Zhao, X., Joo, J., Kim, D., Lee, J. and Kim, J. 2016. Estimation of the seedling vigor index of sunflowers treated with various heavy metals. *Journal of Bioremediation Biodegradation* 7(3): 1-6.
- Zheng, Y., Xue, Q., Xu, L., Xu, Q., Lu, S., Gu, C. and Guo, J. 2011. A screening strategy of fungal biocontrol agents towards Verticillium wilt of cotton. *Biological Control.* 56(3): 209-216.
- Zhou, B., Chen, Z., Du, L., Xie, Y., Zhang, Q. and Ye, X. 2013. Allelopathy of root exudates from different resistant eggplants to *Verticillium dahliae* and the identification of allelochemicals. *African Journal of Biotechnology*. 10(42): 8284-8290.
- Zhou, X., Wang, J., Jin, X., Li, D., Shi, Y. and Wu, F. 2019. Effects of selected cucumber root exudates components on soil *Trichoderma* spp. communities. *Allelopathy Journal*. 47: 257-265.
- Ziazia, P., Poulaki, E., Gkizi, D., Lozano, L., Serrano, M. and Tjamos, S. 2021. Feeding the Microbes: A Strategy to Control Verticillium Wilt. *Agronomy*. 11(10): 1946.